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Management'’s Statement

BIEERS

OVERALL RESULTS BEEEE
Key performance indicator (Financial Ratio) FEEEER MBELEXR)
Year ended 31 March
HE-HA=1+—HLEFE

Notes 2025 2024

Bk “EZRE =T
Revenue (HK$ 000) WA (FE5T) 186,195 173,689
Gross (loss)/profit (HK$000) E @B 7 (FE7T) (31,231) 36,516
Gross (loss)/profit margin (%) E (1B) =% (i) (16.8%) 21.0%
Loss for the year (HK$ 000) FWEE (FE71) (387,351) (61,327)
Loss per share (HK cent) SRREE GBIl (1.13) (0.25)
Net asset value per share (HK cents) SREEFE Bl (ii) 0.83 2.84
Notes: iz
0) Gross (loss)/profit margin is calculated as gross (loss)/profit divided by revenue and (i) E (8) /FIFREE (1B) FIBRUKRABRFEE

multiplying the resulting value by 100%. FeLL100%st 5 o

(i) Netasset value per share is calculated based on the number of 20,319,072,320 ordinary (i) SREEFEIREBEN_S —ﬁﬂi B=4+—

shares issued as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 20,319,072,320 ordinary shares).

The revenue of the Group for the current year is approximately HK$186,195,000
(2024: HK$173,689,000) which comprise HK$106,862,000 (2024: HK$131,430,000)
from the leasing and trading of computer equipment, HK$78,233,000 (2024:
HK$42,259,000) from the sales of properties and HK$1,100,000 (2024: nil) from
newly setup property management segment.

An overall gross loss of approximately HK$31,231,000 was recorded for the current
year, while a gross profit of approximately HK$36,516,000 was recorded in the
previous financial year. The significant change was primarily due to the poor
performance of the leasing and trading of computer equipment segment. During
the year, the leasing income recognized was not able to cover the cost of services,
which includes the depreciation, data centre rental and others, and a gross loss was
resulted.

4 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

H B #£1720,319,072,32008 L@ A% (Z S U4 ©

20,319,072,320f8 Z 4B IR) 51 & ©

KEBARFEEMNUW AL %186,195,0008 7T (ZF

Y4 1 173,689,0005%87T)  HFBEREHEE K
BBt E IR ER9106,862,00058 T (Z B U4

131,430,000/ 70) ~ 2k B #5 & ¥12£8978,233,00078 7T
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

The Group incurred substantial losses of approximately HK$387,351,000 for the
current year (2024: HK$61,327,000). The significant increase in loss is mainly
attributable to (i) impairment loss on trade receivable amounted to HK$146,063,000
for the rental income from the leasing of computer equipment; (i) impairment
loss on the computer equipment held for leasing amounted to HK$31,268,000;
and (i) impairment losses on the construction in progress included in property,
plant and equipment and properties held for sale amounted to HK$39,332,000 and
HK$51,851,000 respectively as a result of the poor property market conditions in the
PRC.

The basic and diluted loss per share was approximately HK$1.13 cents for the current
year (2024: HK$0.25 cents).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND PROSPECT

Liuzhou Zhenghe (property development and hotel business segment)
Zhenghe City is a mix-used complex project located at No. 102, Xinliu Avenue,
Liudong New District, Liuzhou, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC,
which offers a wide range of properties, including villas, townhouses, commercial
buildings, office buildings, hotels and high-rise apartments developed by 11N 1E
MEEEEEEBIRAT (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group Company
Limited*) (“Liuzhou Zhenghe”).

Zhenghe City comprises two phases with Phase | providing a stack of residential and
commercial properties with gross floor area of approximately 485,000 square meters.
Phase Il will provide another stack of residential and commercial properties with
a total gross floor area of approximately 513,000 square meters. Both Phase | and
Phase Il have substantially completed construction and development. The Group
owns 100% interest in properties held for development and properties held for sale
in both Phase | and Phase I.

KEBRARNFEEE KIBEEZ387,351,0008 7T

ZE U4 61,327,000 7T) © B5E KB A0
FEHFRR()EESERRE A WA Z B
B 5 IR IE R {E K518146,063,00058 7T ; (I EFRE 2
ST E SR R E 5 1831,268,00058 7T 5 K (iiEFA
BEMEMRELR SFAME - BERRBZER
TRMURFEYZED AR ER1E39,332,0008 7T &
51,851,00078 7T °

REENERER KB EBELAA1.138WL (CE
PO 0.2551) ©

REXFOE MR

WO IERD (MR BERRIBIE R D)
EMEAEGZUEFSER U PHEERAT
TR B8 @ A0 T AP SRR & R A A A 1025% s IR %
BAFEREYE SR ENEEEXER
BRAT (THINIEM ) FrEasEpyRIEE  BErE 78
EXB WMAKRBVEERSEAS -

EMFpEMAEN —HRESEREEEN
485,000 5 R Z EERBEYF - —HR S IME
MBEEEREEY R BREEBEL 513,000
FHRK —HRTHER FHERT RTHH
L-rEEEBEERE —HRTHFFERYER
HEYE-
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

@)  Detailed area of the properties under development and completed properties () ZZEETYERCETYENERBFBNOT
are as follows:

Saleable area Properties

Approximate remaining  held for self-

gross floor unsold operating/

Site area area (Note 2) own use
fef 5 HH & 49

e THEE®E HERE/
wEmER BEER (izE2) BRKYE

(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m)
(FHR (FHR (FHRK (F73R)

Phase I: —Hy:
Zone A A& 76,000 97,000 12,000 =
Zone B Bl& 94,000 130,000 10,000 -
Zone C (& 61,000 258,000 98,000 -
231,000 485,000 120,000 -
Phase II: My
Zone D D& 71,000 191,000 44,000 -
Zone E El& 30,000 140,000 80,000 31,000
Zone F Fl& 41,000 182,000 35,000 =
142,000 513,000 159,000 31,000
Total: ABst 373,000 998,000 279,000 31,000
Note 1: The number of square meters (“sq.m”) are rounded to nearest thousand for Wizt FAK TFEAKD) BFEHNOBEEREFILN
illustrative purpose only. FE EIERBERR
Note 2: Representing saleable gross floor area under development and saleable gross M2 B S RFE=A=+—HEZEREFHNA
floor area of completed properties that were unsold as at 31 March 2025. HERFEEBEREARAHEBE TN
HEREmEmRA-
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

The progress of each phase in Zhenghe City are shown as follows:

Phase I:

Property type
YMEER

(b) EMBEHEEERN TR -

Development Status

AR

Zone A
Al&

Zone B
B&

Zone C
&

Villas and high-rise apartment buildings
with retail outlets, farmers market
and car parking spaces

AEREEBAE FETEEH B
BhH IR ED)

Villas and high-rise apartment buildings
with retail outlets and car parking
spaces

AEREELAE BETEEHK
B

Residential and commercial complexes
and studio/office buildings with
retail outlets and car parking spaces

FEREEREERIEEMHA
K& (EEZEEHRFE)

The construction works were completed and most of the residential
units were sold in the past financial years. Farmers market attached
with a total saleable area of approximately 12,000 square meters are
held for sale.
BRIBEBRIBATDFTEMEN BTV HREELE
PP o] H E 4R EAE4912,000F R R BB R EHE

The construction works were completed and most of the residential
units were sold in the past financial years. Remaining unsold saleable
area are retail outlets and car parking spaces with approximately
10,000 square meters which are held for sale.
BRIBEBRTIBATDFETEMERNBETHREELE
BR N B AR B BT H & mARA910,000°F A KB Z & B H R EE
TR E o

There are 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes and 3
blocks of studio/office buildings in this zone. The construction works of
these buildings were completed.
AEEMEFEREEGRSEUSRIBIEE MAKIE - 2E
AIERERETEEE T o

Most of units in first 9 completed blocks were sold in past financial
years. The remaining 1 block of studio/office building was completed
and acceptance certificate of completion was granted in 2023 and the
units have been gradually delivered to customers and recognized as
revenue over the past two years. Approximately 15,000 square meters
of unsold saleable area associated with this studio/office building
remain available for sale as at 31 March 2025.
BIMBEETRBFHNABLBEMESNBEMBEELHE R T
BTEE/MAKBERT  BETRBTRINZZENR_E
TEERY ZEEMUNBEMFEERIMNTRERLERS
WA-RZZB_RF=A=+—H BZITEE WAKIERE
BAR9%915,000°E K R HE R HEBBRM I HEEHE

Besides, retail outlets and car parking spaces attached to these
buildings with saleable area of approximately 83,000 square meters in
this zone are also held for sale.

tEoh > A& 2 FE AIERT I AT & EiE407383,000°F KN EE
[EE R EBEA T INFEHE o
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

8

Property type Development Status
MEER AR

Phase II:

—HA:

Zone D1 Villas The construction works of the villas in this zone were completed and
D1& B EF sold to the customers and revenue was recognised in the past financial
years.

AEeHENEETRERT TEHEFELARAERE
T BEERES -

Zone D1 High-rise apartment There are 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings in this zone.

D1& buildings with retail ra@BsESEAS -

outlets and car parking spaces
BEBAE (BETEEFKREENM) The construction works of these 5 blocks of high-rise apartment

buildings were completed and most of the units were sold in the past
financial years.
ZESEEEABNERTIREER T AR EMERBEN
BEEHE-
Car parking spaces and few remaining retail shops with a total saleable
area of approximately 44,000 square meters in this zone are held for
sale.
A& F] HEERL 744,000 FREEA R D FHF TN EE
ISR RELE -

Zone D2 Villas The construction works of 36 villas are completed and were sold in the

D2[& B EF past financial years.

MRAIBNERTRERTEENBEMBEELE-
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

Phase IlI:
ZHR:

Property type
MEER

Development Status

AR

Zone E
EG&

Zone F
F&

Hotel and high-rise apartment buildings

with retail outlets and car parking

spaces
BEREEBAS
S E (i)

Residential and commercial complexes

(BAETEERHR

with retail outlets and car parking

spaces
FERFELRS
A= EBAiD)

18 (EBEEN

The construction works of high-rise apartment buildings were
completed and most of the units were sold in the past financial years.
Retail outlets and car parking spaces attached to this apartment
building with a saleable area of approximately 26,000 and 54,000
square meters respectively are held for sale.
BEABNERIZEERIBEATDBEMENBFHHREE
B E o A PR AT & EAE D 5)4926,000°F 75 9K 554,000 75
KNEEEHREEAUNFELE-

The substantial construction works of the hotel building were
completed and the pre-sale permit was granted. The acceptance
certificate of completion is expected to be obtained in 2025. The Group
intends to operate the hotel directly instead of holding it for sale.
Therefore, constructing area of approximately 31,000 square meters of
the hotel building are recorded in property, plant, and equipment.
BEEFHABOERTIREEB I REESFISZERE T
BETRWNEEESRR I ZE _AFRE - AEEHEEE
KEBEMIFFIELE - FIL » JBIE 12 F 1T 2 EEAI31,000F
FREFTAYIE BB Rk o

There are 6 blocks of residential and commercial complexes in this

zone.

FeBMETERBEFRGIE

The construction works of 6 blocks of residential and commercial
complexes were completed and most of the units together with the
attached retail outlets were sold in the past financial years.
EEERBELESENERTREEE T AEARDENERS
EMNZEEHEN AT REELRE-

Remaining unsold saleable area mainly included retail outlets and
car parking spaces attached to this complex with a saleable area of
approximately 8,000 and 27,000 square meters respectively.

BN REENTHERBF EOEZGSIEBMNTHNERES
AR B HE ETE D BAY 438,000 5 0K 227,000 75
Ho
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Management'’s Statement

BIEERS
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For property development segment in Liuzhou Zhenghe, an area of
approximately 11,000 (2024: 6,000) square meters was sold during
the year. A segment revenue of approximately HK$78,233,000 (2024:
HK$42,259,000) was recorded for the current year and a gross profit of
HK$17,893,000 (2024: HK$9,261,000) was generated.

A segment loss of approximately HK$130,114,000 was recorded for
the current year (2024: HK$62,110,000). Segment loss recorded was
mainly due to (i) impairment loss on construction in progress included
in property, plant and equipment of HK$39,332,000, and properties
held for sale of HK$51,851,000 as a result of the poor property
market conditions in the PRC; and (ii) the fact that finance costs of
HK$55,047,000 cannot be capitalized which were charged as expense
during the year as most of the building construction works in Liuzhou
Zhenghe were completed.

An external expert was engaged to assess the fair value of the properties
development project as at 31 March 2025. For those properties which
had completed the construction work and were held for sale, a
market comparison method by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market was used. For those
properties still under construction, the value was derived by using a
market comparison method with the assumption that the construction
works of the properties would have been completed at the date of
valuation and taking into account the expected construction costs
and other development costs that will be expended to complete the
development. An impairment loss amounted to HK$51,851,000 for
properties held for sale is recognized for the year ended 31 March 2025
as the net realisable value is lower than carrying amount.

Liuzhou Zhenghe will continue to develop the Phase Il of Zhenghe

City and the Group is actively looking for other property development
opportunities in Guangxi or other provinces in the PRC.

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

FER N EMYERMESESE D
#911,000 (ZZ T4 © 6,000) F 5
KONEB RAFERTDERAD
78,233,000/ 7T (22 Z M 4F 1 42,259,000
B7T) o W ESEF7,893,00088 T (=
=T PO4E 1 9,261,00057T) ©

R AEE RS 75 5EE1549130,114,000
Bt (TZ U4 © 62,110,000 7T) ©
SN EBETEEHN()PEE®R
HYEDHBRIERANE BE
R s B BI7E 2 T A2 B B 5 4839,332,000
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

(i) The hotel business is located in Zone E1 of Zhenghe City with gross
floor area of approximately 31,000 square meters. The substantial
construction works of the hotel building were completed but
acceptance certificate of completion has not yet been obtained. In
2018, the Group entered into a franchising agreement with a well-
known international hotel franchisee to operate the hotel under the
franchising requested standards. However, the franchise agreement
was lapsed as the acceptance certificate of completion was not
granted within the contract period. No revenue will be generated until
commencement of operation of the hotel. An external expert was
engaged to assess the fair value of the hotel building as at 31 March
2025. An impairment loss of HK$39,332,000 was recognized for the year
ended 31 March 2025, as the net realizable value fell below the carrying
amount due to unfavorable conditions in the real estate market in the
PRC.

Property management business

The Group is principally engaged in, among others, property development. After
spending years in the property development sector in the PRC, the Group has been
exploring opportunities to expand its business scope by tapping into other property
related activities.

During the year, a joint venture was established in Hong Kong with limited liability
and owned as to 51% by the Group and 49% by Mr. Chan Pak Shu (‘Mr. Chan”),
who has over 10 years of experience in property management in the PRC and has
extensive network of contacts in the property management sector in the PRC. On
24 February 2025, a sale and purchase agreement was entered into to acquire
100% equity interests of Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management
Co, Ld* (BEFERQE BMN) MEBIRBIRAE]) (the “Target Company”),
at consideration of RMB5,000,000 through the aforesaid joint venture. The Target
Company is a company incorporated in the PRC and is principally engaged in
property management and contracting operation rights on property management
projects. For details of the transaction, please see announcement of the Company
dated 24 February 2025.

(i) BEXBMUNVEMPOE BEERE
#731,000F 5K o BISIEF A2
BERIZEBITHEERREIRET
BNEE - N IE—N\F > AEHHH
BRI AR REI T LR RE
W& BRERTCERTEEELER
[EofRAT AR AKEARENERST
BETRKES BHKEREBR
WoBEABIEFMIAEEZR A EE
FUWA B EREESEUTEE
EFR _Z_AE=A=1+—HH
RIE o R R B i E T IS R A F
REEROEINFEREEREENL
TEHE_ZE_RAF=RA=+—HIt
FE TS (B R51839,332,000/8 7T ©

MESIEER
AEBTENE HPEE) YERE - HPEY
ERBTEFRNZER 2EBTHRRAREE
By Rt R BRI R B R IER A B E

FR —KHAAEERRALTLE (FEE) 9
BB % AN E TN EREE R ER T AR
VoRMAFAERTEESE A EERE+F
e NP EYESETEREEZN AR
ATECAFE"_A+NH EEWwEEE L
EEEERLGTI MKEREEELE (BIM)
MEBEBRAE (TBRRE) 100%# » &
7 AR 15,000,000t B AR A — KN EF
Mz AR TEREMESERYESIEIE
B ABRER RXZHER2REARABHRS
TECRAE A +HHNARC

L
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Management'’s Statement

BIEERS

The Board believes that the aforesaid acquisition provides the Group with a good
opportunity to leverage on its property development expertise to expand its business
scope into property management in the PRC, to diversify the revenue stream of the
Group and bring stable and sustainable growth in revenue to the Group in the long
run.

The revenue generated from the new property management segment in the current
year is minimal with a total amount of approximately HK$1,100,000 and the
segment loss was HK$194,000. The segment loss was mainly due to an impairment
losses of HK$399,000 recognized for other receivables under expected credit loss
model.

As at 31 March 2025, the total gross floor area managed by the Group encompass
492,000 sq.m of residential space and 19,000 sq.m of commercial space in Fuzhou.
Moving forward, the Group plans to allocate more resources to expand this segment
to obtain more property management services contracts in order to provide a steady
revenue stream to the Group.

Leasing and trading of computer equipment

The Group believes that the emerging Fintech industry is one of the innovative
factors that would improve the delivery of global financial services in the future. The
Group continues to explore different potential opportunities in the Fintech sector,
including but not limited to Fintech-related upstream and downstream services,
infrastructure projects in connection with Fintech.

In 2022, the Group started a business in leasing of data storage equipment to
customers who provide virtual data storage space for end-users in return for Filecoin
and trading of data storage equipment. As at 31 March 2025, the Group holds 1,410
set of servers in total for leasing to customers. The leasing fees of data storage
equipment payable to the Group consist of a fixed rent plus a variable rent with
reference to the average market price of Filecoin quoted on different cryptocurrency
exchanges with specific formula.

Before entering the leasing contract with the customers, the Group has conducted
due diligence on the potential customers including but not limited to performing
company search with the relevant companies registry, and our non-executive
director, Mr. Liu Yu, who has extensive years of experience in the cryptocurrency
sector, had also met with the beneficial owner of the potential customers to
understand their background, experience and knowledge in the cryptocurrency
markets so as to assess whether the potential customers are familiar with the
operation involved.

12

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

EFEHEE LHBBFERETERENBYER
BRERESPHEYEEENRE pIEAEEN
WARBRZ L REBERER BEEBERE
TERPIF BRI AL & o

REEMYESEDEELENWAIBLD 815
#91,100,0007 7T > > $EE51873194,00078 70 ° % 0 48
BELDEFEHRRAREEHEBEXE TEHME
U AR TE 58 BB B548399,000 8 JTFTEY ©

A TECRE-ZA=+—H FxEEEENRE
HEERBIEM RN AY492,000F 75 KAV E At
F219,000°F 75 KBU S 3 FA it - REESR 2R » A& E 5t
ENEEZERBREILEDE LBSESYEE
BRBEM UREERRHUBENRARR

HEREEEHRE

AEERE TREBMURITERRRAS 2K
TRRBIAFERZ — - AEREETEMA
RESRRSBEERE  BEER RN EER
PR L TR - B RAH AR ER
RIEEE °

RIBZ 26 AEBEFRE—ERAR P HHEEE
FREZENER 2EE R RKIHA R RMHER
%ZTF?ﬂE%“F’EﬁL(?@HXFlIecom UK EBHIREH
RFE-N_E-_AF=ZA=+—H xEFEH
hﬁ1,410§ﬂﬁ|§%§%ﬁ?ﬂ7}'%)§' o T A EEB
YHTEHRIBHEEFHETHERE2ERE
MEERR R ARE AT PTERFilecoinfy F 5™
BRFEIFR SR o

FRRFBEITHESN A AEBEHEETE
FETERAS SFEERRIREMARAR MM
RETARENR MEAMBIFRITESLIRALE
T‘Hﬂﬁifﬁi‘iﬁbﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁgﬁ 5% TR EL BT
ERNBEmBEAAETTEE  UTHEREFEEM
BREEHEHENER %ﬁ—%%)ﬁ’z%ﬂ%ﬁ%’uéﬂ?fﬁ%&%ig
AR REEIY RBIER -



Management’s Statement

EERHE

Unfortunately, the market price of Filecoin has been dropping in recent years. The
customers requested the Group to extend the payment period of their outstanding
rent and eventually the customer decided not to renew the leasing contract after
the tenor as the value of the Filecoin has dropped to a level that cannot cover their
operating costs.

The Group started the leasing business in 2022 and the payment record before
2024 was relatively healthy. In 2024, the customers started to request the Group
to extend the payment period of their outstanding rent in view of the low market
price of Filecoin and the customers have agreed to settle the outstanding rent once
the Filecoin was sold at a better price in the future. In view of the healthy payment
record in the past and to maintain a good relationship, the extension request was
accepted by the Group and no provision on impairment was made in 2023/2024
annual report.

The price of Filecoin was volatile in 2024 and was in a downward trend. According
to the customers, the price of Filecoin is expected to rise back to its historical highest
price of approximately USD200 eventually in view of the recent favorable market
sentiment for the cryptocurrency and requested us to further extend the outstanding
rental repayment period. Considering that the customers are still the Group’s clients
and with a view to maintain a good relationship, no enforcement or legal actions
have been taken.

In December 2024, one of the customers decided not to renew its leasing contract
but agreed to settle the outstanding rent once the Filecoin in her possession is sold.
The Group immediately issued letter to request for immediate settlement of the
outstanding rent. In addition, the Group has engaged legal adviser to issue demand
letters to the customer. So far, the Group has received only minimal settlement
amount from this customer on or before 31 March 2025. The Group will continue to
take actions to recover the outstanding rental amount from this customer.

Impairment of rental receivables

The Group adopted the model of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under HKFRS 9
Financial Instrument (‘HKFRS 9”) in determining the amount of the impairment on
the rental receivables. HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment based
on changes in credit quality since initial recognition summarized below:
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Stage 1:

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

As soon as a financial instrument is originated or purchased,
12-month expected credit losses are recognized in profit or loss and
a loss allowance is established. This serves as a proxy for the initial
expectations of credit losses. For financial assets, interest revenue is
calculated on the gross carrying amount (i.e. without adjustment for
expected credit losses).

If the credit risk increases significantly and the resulting credit quality is
not considered to be low credit risk, full lifetime expected credit losses
are recognized. Lifetime expected credit losses are only recognized if
the credit risk increases significantly from when the entity originates or
purchases the financial instrument. The calculation of interest revenue
on financial assets remains the same as for stage 1.

If the credit risk of a financial asset increases to the point that it is
considered credit-impaired, interest revenue is calculated based on
the amortized cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss
allowance). Financial assets in this stage will generally be individually
assessed. Lifetime expected credit losses are still recognized on these
financial assets.

As the customers failed to pay any of the receivables due a year ago and without any

future repayment schedule, the ECL was measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

The Board is of the view that the impairments are fair and reasonable.

The Company has engaged Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited to issue valuation

report on the impairment. The model of ECL under HKFRS 9 was used by the valuer

as the valuation methodology. The formula of calculating the ECL is as follows:

ECL = EAD x PD x LGD x Discount Factor
“EAD” being exposure at default;

“PD” being probability of default;

“LGD” being loss given default; and

“Discount Factor” being factor to discount the expected credit loss to present value.

Key assumption applied for the valuation includes categorising the rental receivables

as Stage 3. For impairment of rental receivables, as the customers failed to pay

any of the receivables as at the valuation date and without any future repayment
schedule, PD is set to be 100%.
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For impairment of rental receivables, as the latest financial information of the
customers is not available, assessment on LGD based on borrowers financial status
is impossible. The Company’s internal impairment policy states that receivables
overdue for over a year and without any repayment are assumed to be fully
impaired. Valuer has made reference to the Company’s internal impairment policy
and other qualitative analyses, concluding that the LGD ranges from 97.2% to
100%, depending on the counterparties, as minimal recovery is expected from the
rental receivables for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. Given that the rental
receivables are overdue, a discount factor of 1 has been applied.

The rental receivables was fully impaired and carrying amount was nil for the year.

Impairment of computer equipment

The directors of the Company considered that there were impairment indicators on
the data storage equipment for leasing as certain data storage equipment has been
idle for more than 6 months since their last tenor ended as a result of the downward
trend of the price of Filecoin. Accordingly, the Directors conducted a review on
impairment assessment on the relevant data storage equipment with the help of
professional valuer. The fair value less costs of disposal was compared to the value
in use which is calculated by using the cash flow projections covering the remaining
useful life of the data storage equipment at pre-tax discount rate of 27.4% at a zero
growth. The fair value less costs of disposal is higher than the value in use and as a
result, an impairment loss of HK$31,268,000 was recognized.

For the current year, the revenue generated from leasing of data storage equipment
was approximately HK$106,862,000 (2023: HK$131,430,000) and the segment loss
for the year was HK$227,471,000 (2024: profit of HK$26,633,000). The significant
increment of the loss was mainly due to (i) decrease in revenue recognized in the
current year which cannot cover the operating costs; (i) provision of impairment
loss on the rental receivables amounted to HK$146,063,000; and (iii) provision of
impairment loss on the data storage equipment amounted to HK$31,268,000.
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MBEER BIEERERAM BT FELGDAR A
ToARRBNAEREBRRRT a8 —F
BEAMERCRNEVRRBREASERE K
BRI 2 E R A B A SRR E BER 2 JEME %5
BB EAR DRI ZHEFHMNIRI72%E
0% B BBE ST _HAF=-A=+—HIH
BEE > BWESHTEE o] W ESZERE - R
FEWEEEER SEMAMIBRE
FEWF SR 2BRE AFENKREEAS
SHEERERE
ANBEZRA ARHENSEEHIRBEEE
BEDNSR RRAGTHREHZES L—HH
EEREREFilecoinBEIFEEREHEBBE/NE
Boptltt EETHEHEMNHE T HAERFME
BEHESBETRETHES #ANEREE
ERNSEATHBEETLER FHEBER®Z
BRI E27 49U I R AR BBBIET
HEREFNGEAFHENBEERBAFSESH 2
AERLEERANSESNERER FILER
T {EE51831,268,00078 7T ©

AEE HHBEGFHZBOBRANOS
106,862,000/ 71 (— & — =4 : 131,430,000 7T) °
FERDIER51875227,471,00008 70 (Z B ZIU4E %
#]26,633,000787T) °© B5IEAKMRIE N1 F B AR ()& F
EEmBHNWATEREUBELEMA (i)t
JE UL AH & 5T IR IR (B E538146,063,00078 7T 5 Bz(iii)Fk
IR F s 5T 1R R B 853831,268,00078 7T ©

15

Annual Report 2024/2025 R



Management'’s Statement

BIEERS

In order to maintain the data storage equipment in good condition, the data storage
equipment needs to be stored in data center in where provide a clean and dust-
free environment with proper control of temperature and humidity even the data
storage equipment is not leased out. Otherwise the useful life of the data storage
equipment will be significantly affected. In order to minimize the maintaining costs,
the management will negotiate with potential new customers through adjustment
on the fixed monthly rental and the variable rental rate. The management will also
explore other opportunity by selling the idle data storage equipment to reduce the
cost.

Other Operations

Contact lens business

The contact lens business in Fuzhou was disposed of in 2023 and became a 34%
associated company. With the help of the new investor, operations are gradually
improving. The loss incurred by contact lens business segment for the current
year was significantly reduced from HK$79,665,000 in 2024 to HK$11,686,000. The
loss shared by the Group for the current year amounted to HK$3,974,000 (2024:
HK$6,513,000).

Financing business

The Group adopted a prudent and careful strategy to operate its financing business
and no new loan has been lent during the current year. Although all long overdue
loans have been fully impaired in the previous years, we kept arranging staff to visit
the pledged plantation site in Shanghai regularly and performed stock take of the
collaterals to make sure the collaterals are in good condition. We will continue to
monitor the situation and explore any possible actions to recover the loans.

Update on the Progress of the Proposed New Projects

Termination of digital currencies business

In March 2024, the Group announced to establish a joint venture company in Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (“Laos”) with an independent third party to engage
mainly in mining and trading of digital currencies. Pursuant to the joint venture
agreement, the joint venture will be owned as to 51% by the Group and 49% by
the independent third party and the paid-in capital of the joint venture is set at
UsD2,000,000.

In March 2025, a termination agreement was agreed and executed by both parties as
certain major cooperation terms cannot be reached and concluded. According to the
termination agreement, neither party holds any responsibilities or liabilities toward
the other. No payment of the capital had been made by the Group.
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Digital logistics services business

In March 2024, the Group announced its plan to establish a joint venture in
Fuzhou which shall be principally engaged in provision of full range of digital
logistics services to logistics companies, cargo owners and drivers with the use of
digital intelligence application platform. According to the agreement, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with
two independent parties, pursuant to which a joint venture company (“Fuzhou JV”)
shall be established in Fuzhou City, the PRC, with the proposed registered capital of
RMB1 million to be contributed in cash according to their shareholding. The Fuzhou
JV shall be owned as to 50% by a wholly owned PRC subsidiary of the Group, with
remaining 40% and 10% held by two other PRC citizens.

Due to the restrictions on foreign investments in this business operation under
the PRC laws, the Group intends to adopt a VIE (Variable Interest Entity) structure
arrangement to confer the Group to get 60% of the economic benefits in total and
control of Fuzhou JV so that it becomes a subsidiary of the Group and its financial
results shall be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

During the current year, the Fuzhou JV has been established and is currently in the
process of applying for the necessary licenses and negotiating the major operation
terms with the joint venture partners. Up till now, no payment of the capital
of the Fuzhou JV has been made by the Group. The Company will make further
announcements regarding the VIE structure as appropriate and in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, there was no
material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies during
the current year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Finance position, liquidity and gearing

As at 31 March 2025, the total assets and liabilities of the Group were approximately
HK$1,545,770,000 (31 March 2024: HK$1,966,165,000) and approximately
HK$1,376,375,000 (31 March 2024: HK$1,389,609,000) respectively. The Group
recorded a total equity of approximately HK$169,395,000 as at 31 March 2025 (31
March 2024: HK$576,556,000).

The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$208,178,000 as at
31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: net current assets of approximately HK$36,379,000).
This reversal was attributed to an impairment loss of HK$146,063,000 on trade
receivables in leasing computer equipment segment and impairment losses on
properties held for sale of HK$51,851,000 due to unfavorable property market
conditions in the PRC. The bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$315,413,000 (31 March 2024: HK$334,518,000), of which most
were denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

The Group’s current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities) was
0.85 (31 March 2024: 1.03).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total borrowing amounting to approximately
HK$583,904,000 (31 March 2024: HK$591,267,000), all denominated in Renminbi
and due within one year (2024: 96% is due within one year, while 4% is due in more
than one year but not exceeding two years). The breakdown is as follows:

(i) Secured borrowings amounting to approximately HK$124,521,000 (31 March
2024: HK$125,253,000) with fixed interest rate of 6.5%;

(i) Unsecured borrowings amounting to approximately HK$406,517,000 (31
March 2024: HK$408,905,000) with fixed interest rate ranges from 3% to 18%;
and

(i) Interest free loan due to non-controlling interests, ultimate holding company
and associate amounting to approximately HK$51,254,000 (31 March 2024:
HK$51,905,000), HK$1,612,000 (31 March 2024: HK$1,624,000) and nil (31
March 2024: HK$3,580,000) respectively.

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings to total equity, as at 31 March 2025
was 3.45 (31 March 2024: 1.03).
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Financial resources

During the year, the Group’s operations continued to be mainly financed by internal
resources, borrowings as well as proceeds raised from equity financing exercise in
December 2016. The management believes that the Group will generate its liquidity
from business operations and will consider making use of further equity financing
when necessary.

Use of proceeds from fund raising activities

In December 2016, the Company placed up to 1,280,000,000 new ordinary shares at
a price of HK$1.25 per ordinary share (the “Placing”). The net proceeds raised were
approximately HK$1,587,200,000 and as at 31 March 2025, the total unutilised net
proceeds were approximately HK$201,200,000. The un-utilised amount is expected
to be utilised within 4 years.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of use of proceeds up to 31 March 2025
and the reallocation of the proceeds:
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The current expected timeframe and detailed breakdown for the un-utilised

proceeds is as follows:

(@)

20

In the past few years, the Group put lots of effort and resources to develop
the settlement platform in international business settlement segment.
However, in view of numerous unfavourable factors, including the change of
world trade environment, changes in financial regulatory trend, continuing
military conflicts between countries, changes in political environment towards
China-based companies, the progress on the development of the settlement
platform was minimal. No revenue was generated from this project and
the project has been suffering losses since 2016. In March 2024, the Group
decided to cease the operations of the international business settlement
segment and re-allocated the un-utilised proceeds of approximately
HK$88,300,000, such that (i) approximately HK$60,000,000 will be re-allocated
to working capital; and (i) approximately HK$28,300,000 will be re-allocated
to investment in the Fintech and other industry when available. The Board
considered that the change of use of the un-utilised proceeds will allow
the Company to deploy its financial resources more effectively and is in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Originally, approximately HK$30,000,000 is to be applied to further expand
the settlement services for commercial and individual customers through
electronic money institution license (“EMI license”) by March 2022; and
approximately HK$20,000,000 is to be applied to set up subsidiaries in
Mid-Asia for the application of EMI license or payment licenses to provide
settlement or payment services for commercial and individual customers by
March 2022;

As the EMI license business had been terminated due to deconsolidation
in February 2022, the aggregate un-utilised proceeds of approximately
HK$50,000,000 previously allocated for the aforesaid EMI business purpose
had been further reallocated for the purpose of general working capital;

Approximately HK$82,100,000 is to be applied to general working capital of
the Group for the coming years; and

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

84 R 80 PR S B O R B TR RS R R B4
BB :

(@

RBEHF KEBBAREBEHRERRF
EZEEEEGENENEETE A &
Rt REFIRIENEE TRES BB E
- ZEENFEEEER - PEQBBA
RIENSCELEARER  EEFEHEE
EREM BIZ—REMUR HEBEHILK
EETAWABRZEEEASEZEE RN
ZTNE=ZR AEERAEF K ERKERE
XEENE WENAEEREBMEMRE
#988,300,00078 7T » E A(i)4960,000,00078 7T
ENNEEEEES ; M(i1)428,300,000%
TTRRABARENSEESHAREA
HMEENRE -ZEFERL BEEREITA
FIERMENARRERARAEEENEER
THER B2 REKRIEET)

N

B4 £930,000,0008 TN S 2F =1
AIEREBETEEKET % (TEMIFFA]
FE—TIHEREREAZRNEER
%5 5 2#920,000,0008 TN — 2 "F=H
A A TE AP 58 A 1L BT B 2 B A FR BB EMIET |I
FHEMER MAEERBEAZFRME
EEIZNR ;

HREMIFFRI R EHFERZR IS AKRT
MRIZZZFE BRI St DaliemiZ
BRERMDENE KRB APTEMIEREEDN
50,000,0008 T EE— T —REEETE
e ;

£982,100,00078 TR M AR EE HIEARER
—REBEES , &



Management’s Statement

EERHE

(d)  Approximately HK$119,100,000 is to be applied to investment opportunities in
the Fintech section (or other industry section) that the Board may identify.

(i) During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has re-
allocated approximately HK$164,700,000 to establishment of
contact lenses business. In addition to abovesaid investment set up,
approximately HK$62,300,000 had been also applied to contact lenses
business segment for working capital and purchase of equipment
purpose. As at 31 March 2025, totally approximately HK$227,000,000
had been utilised for contact lenses business.

(i) During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Board further
diversified its investment and revenue streams and decided to
further re-allocate HK$300,000,000 to new segment which engaged
in the business of leasing and trading of data storage equipment to
customers.

As at 31 March 2025, totally approximately HK$249,800,000 had been
utilised by data storage business segment for purchase of equipment
purpose.

Share capital
As at 31 March 2025, the Company had 20,319,072,320 shares of ordinary shares in
issue and the total equity of the Group was approximately HK$169,395,000.

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2025, certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$65,567,000 (31 March 2024: HK$65,952,000), were pledged to
secure certain borrowings granted to the Group.
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Contingent liabilities

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is any
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon
and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, and the Group is then
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of granting the relevant mortgage loans and ends after
the buyers obtain the individual property ownership certificate. As at 31 March 2025,
the guarantee given to banks for the above-mentioned mortgage facilities amounted
to approximately HK$449,670,000 (31 March 2024: HK$452,342,000).

Foreign exchange exposure

As part of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars, in order to minimise the foreign exchange risk, the Group
aims to utilise the fund for transactions that are denominated in the same currency.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had approximately 103 employees (2024: 73). The
employees’ salaries are reviewed and adjusted annually based on their performance
and experience. The Group’s employee benefits include performance bonus,
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, local municipal government
retirement scheme and education subsidy to encourage continuous professional
development of staff.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks and uncertainties
affecting the Group are set out as below.
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Operation risk

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each business division
of the Group. To manage operational risks, the management of each business
division is responsible for monitoring the operation and assessing operational
risks of their respective business divisions. They are responsible for implementing
the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall report any
irregularities in connection with operation to the Directors and seek for directions.
The Group emphasises on ethical value and prevention of fraud and bribery and
has established a whistleblower program, including communication with other
departments and business divisions and units, to report any irregularities. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s operational risks have been effectively
mitigated.

Investment risk

Investment risk refers to the risk of loss or decrease in the investment income of the
Company resulting from the investment on developing the business of the Company.
Specifically, it refers to the following risks:

1. Investment target risk: It refers to the uncertainties in the growth and
development of the investment target, including but not limited to technical
risk, operation risk and financial risk;

2. Investment analysis risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from incorrect or
incomplete due diligence conducted in an investment project;

3. Investment decision-making risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from an
imperfect decision-making process and bias before any decision-making;

4. Project management risk: It refers to the risk resulting from insufficient
supervision or improper management after investment and failure to discover
and exercise control of the problems in an investment project in a timely
manner; and

5. Project exit risk: It refers to the risk resulting from exit from an investment
project with losses or inability to exit from an investment project.

The Company will formulate comprehensive procedures for approval and
supervision of investment projects through authorities such as the asset
management business investment decision committee, general manager office,
Board, general meetings, in order to minimize investment risk. The Company will
take reasonable steps in carrying out investment and enter into comprehensive
investment agreements to protect the legal rights of the Company.

R E

FERAREAERREFTOEARZKEER
RomEREKEAR SEXEHFOREEERER
BERKERRIATIERESEEFOREZKER
Bo-REFEEERFAERRBEERRKRERF R
BRESRTACEARZAMERTRHLSR
ETR-AEEBEREREER EEFREER
eI —IERRE S BEEEMEPIRER
DEREUZBRE UBREMERTH FLI
Me EXRREERZEERREANEER-

1R E EE
REEBREBEREERANDEBERNAR
BB WA BRI DB R 4552 T HIER

1. REBRAR EREERERKEEENT
BEN SEEFRIEKMER &2 AR
KRR ;

2. REDNER EREBEBDETHNER
A TENERFAETERNEERRR

3. KRERRER  FBREREMRRAIAGRE
FRRBERREENNERRER ;

4. HEHEEERR ERERFTEIBEENLE
EEMNRRERFERTIEFREESN
BREMERNER ; &

5. RERLAR: BREUBEKRBEBRBNEZX
RERBHEESHAER-

FABRRBEEEEEEGRERREZEE B
KERAE - BEFE RERARGE—RIIERME
MgBRIfRE2RERENENEERR R
RERBREERBE ARFIAREREREEGE
BF FJIE2EREHZEUARERATDNGIERE
Mo

23

Annual Report 2024/2025 R



Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Financial Risk

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, other receivables, bank balances and
cash, other payables, lease liabilities, bank and other borrowings and contingent
consideration payable. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. Particulars of financial risk management of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out in Note 35
to the consolidated financial statements. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Financial crime risk

The Group’s failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to
International Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Bribery and Corruption
may result in legal or regulatory penalties, material financial loss or reputational
damage. The Group has implemented certain financial crime risk management
activities, which include adherence to anti-money laundering and sanctions policies
and the application of core controls such as client due-diligence screening and
monitoring.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and complies with environmental
legislation and promote awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees.

Further information on environmental policy and performance of the Group is set
out under the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has been keeping with the changes in enacted laws and regulations
affecting the operations and changes are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operating units when necessary. During the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations which are significant to the operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CONTRACTORS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers
and contractors after years of cooperation. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers and contractors regularly to ensure the product quality.

The Group has committed to provide satisfactory services to each customer in order
to maintain our brand competitiveness. The Group maintains close contact with the
customers and had regular review the requirements of customers and complaint.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our gratitude to the shareholders
of the Company and business associates for their continued support, and extend
our sincere appreciation to all management and staff for their ongoing dedication,
commitments and contributions throughout the year.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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YUEN LEONG

Executive Director

Mr. Yuen Leong, aged 67, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
1 January 2008. Mr. Yuen holds a master degree in mechanical engineering from the
Shanghai Jiao Tong University and was a senior research analyst of 1272 & B 2T &%
JB=.0) (Fujian Provincial Research and Development Center*) from 1985 to 1991.
Mr. Yuen has over ten years of experience in corporate management and operation.

CHAN SIU TAT

Executive Director

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 55, has been re-designated from independent non-executive
Director to executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 September
2020. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive Director of the Company from
September 2016 to August 2020. Mr. Chan graduated from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The
Association Chartered of Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan possesses over 20 years
of experience in corporate restructuring, financial capital planning and corporate
management. He has been an independent non-executive director of Ta Yang Group
Holdings Limited since April 2022 (stock code: 1991, listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™). From 2007 to
2011 Mr. Chan was a partner and chief investment officer in an international private
equity fund. Prior to working in corporations, Mr. Chan had around five years of
audit experience with an international accounting firm.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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LIU YU

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Yu, aged 41, was appointed as non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2022. Mr. Liu graduated from the Jilin University in 2005 with a bachelor’s
degree in optical information science and technology and received a doctoral degree
in aerospace information technology from Zhejiang University in 2016. Mr. Liu has
years of experience in new energy technology, big data analysis and information
system, and has long served as the person in charge and senior management of
companies in Internet industry. He has more than ten years of experience in Internet
of Things, big data and industry information field. Mr. Liu presided over the research
and development of a number of provincial level big data intelligence systems, and
has deep industry knowledge in the application of artificial intelligence and big data
technology in the fields of industrial, finance, securities, investment and financing,
etc. From September 2007 to October 2018, Mr. Liu held key positions in a number
of companies, responsible for projects such as research and development of wind
turbine, smart city technology projects and transportation big data platforms. Since
October 2018, he has been the general manager of a Shenzhen company which
engages in smart city and big data technology related businesses.

YAP YUNG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yap Yung, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 20 August 2009. Mr. Yap graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1995 with a Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering. He has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999. He
has also completed an advanced management course held by the London Business
School and the University of Cambridge in 2003. Mr. Yap has over 10 years of
corporate finance and audit experience gained from his previous employment. Mr.
Yap was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit manager from 1995 to
2002.

2R

JEHITES

AREE 4 N _E__F—FB—HEZE
RERBIFNTES FREN S HFEE
REMAZ BEXEERBHRMEXE T2
i TR ZE—RNERINTRBESHREER
MR 2B T 2 o RIS £ R e R T F1 KB
AIMERERA S EAREEFRELR TEBE
EMBCETERPETEEARSE HIRY
G ARBER T EELEZBEETHRENIR
R NEFIFHELEERABIESEE®L
AR WEATESER ABURRMTE T BB
HEH KMELEEINEREERENITER
R-BIEEtFENBEZT—NE+HE 2%
ERZBRABETER aSRANTEHHE-
BRI REMEERRBABBETESEEE B
2 N\F+EEES BAE—BER—XREE
BEHHMNABERSEAERNRINIRQ BT
4B AR I8 — R o

25

BILFEBITES

EEEE SO RIESAFENAZTHE
EREAERRBZBUFERTES -BERER
—HANAFREENRSBERBZ BEEMIRES L2
e E—NAANFERASEEHAMLEE
B-HTNR _EE=FRRmEAER&REE
REFR EREERE B4R TIFE
RRBREBIOFZ EETBERBZZR - ERAER
—NNEFEE_EE_ERERFNEERKEZ
EMEFEFT BETZCIE

27

Annual Report 2024/2025 R



Biographical Details of Directors

EREEEN

CHEN LANRAN

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Lanran, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 1 August 2019. Ms. Chen graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in finance from Fuzhou University in July 2002, and graduated in marketing from
School of Journalism and Communication, Peking University in July 2011. Ms.
Chen has over 15 years of experience in the marketing industry. Upon graduation,
Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager from 2002 to 2005 in Fujian Mobile
Communications Co., Ltd.. From 2005 to 2017, Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager
in China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. From February 2017 to present,
Ms. Chen has been the principal of Fujian Yuyue Education Training Centre, and in
charge of the overall planning, promotion and development of the campus, and its
expansion.

WONG KIN PING

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kin Ping, aged 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 September 2020. Mr. Wong has substantial experience
in the business of trading and merchandising. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Wong was a founder of a trading company which was principally engaged in general
trading business in Hong Kong. He was also the executive director of Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd (stock code: 2362) listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from 2003 to 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the

Company and to the enhancement of shareholder value. The Company is committed

to building and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board and

the management of the Company have been continually reviewing and enhancing

its corporate governance practices with reference to the principles and the code

provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied with the CG Code
save for the deviation mentioned below:

(@)

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1, the role of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should not be performed by the same individual.
However, the Company did not officially appoint a Chairman or a CEO during
the year. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of
the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors collectively and
supported by a team of senior management, which is in turn supported by
staff with relevant expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity
of the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the
business of the Company, the Board will review the existing structure and
consider the issue of nominating appropriate candidate to fill up the role of
Chairman and CEO.

Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the Chairman should at least annually
hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other directors. Since the Company has not appointed a new
Chairman and no meeting was held between the Chairman and the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without
the executive Directors present during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the Chairman should attend the annual
general meeting. The Company does not at present have any officer with the
title Chairman. However, one of the Directors present at the annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2024 was elected as chairman thereof to ensure an
effective communication with the shareholders thereat.
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(d)  Code provision C.6.3 stipulates that the company secretary should report to
the Chairman and/or the CEO. As the Company did not officially appoint a
Chairman or a CEO, the company secretary reported to the executive Directors
during the year.

Set out below are the details of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding directors’ dealing in the securities of the Company. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and received confirmation from
all Directors that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this annual report comprises
the following executive/non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Leong
Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Yu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Wong Kin Ping

Ms. Chen Lanran

The Company believes that the current Board composition is well-balanced and of
a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company. The biographical details
of the Board members are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are expressly
identified in all corporate communications where Directors have been mentioned
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all the times had at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director with appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related
financial management expertise. The total number of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board maintain a strong independent
element on the Board in order to exercise independent judgment.

The Company received, from each independent non-executive Director of the
Company, an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is satisfied with the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

Board diversity policy

In order to achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
considers the enhancement of diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
facilitating the achievement of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules with a view to enhancing the combination of competencies and
diversity of perspectives in the boardroom. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

- the Company acknowledges the Board should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business;

- the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects of its
business and does not discriminate on the grounds of race, gender, disability,
nationality, religious or philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, family
status or any other factor;

- in deciding the Board composition, board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- in forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time;
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- all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity to the board. The selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- the ultimate decision will be based upon the merits and contribution the
selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

- the Nomination Committee will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and
recommend for any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board currently has one female member and the Board is of the view that
gender diversity has been achieved at the Board level. The Company aims to
maintain at least one female Director in strict compliance with the gender diversity
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size, and diversity of
the Board, to ensure that its composition complies with the Listing Rules and
reflects an appropriate mix of skills, experience, and diversity that are relevant to
the Company’s strategy, governance, and business and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency. The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and
accordingly, the Company has effectively implemented the Diversity Policy.

As at 31 March 2025, according to the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” set out on page 80 in this annual report, among the 103
employees (including senior management) of the Group, the percentages of male
employees and female employees are 68% and 32%, respectively. The Board believes
that the Group’s workforce (including senior management) is diverse in terms of
gender, and will endeavour to further improve gender diversity across the Group’s
workforce (including senior management).

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating the business plans and strategies,
monitoring the business performance and internal control, approving investment
proposals and reviewing the finance performance of the Group. The daily operations
of the Group and execution of the business plans are delegated to the management
of the Group. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, Board approval
should be obtained. In addition, the Board has established Board Committees and
has delegated to these Board Committees various responsibilities set out in their
terms of reference respectively.
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The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the guidelines was
noted.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. In addition, every director should ensure sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors have satisfactory attendance
rates at both Board meetings and Committee meetings.

Board meetings and general meetings

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly with additional meetings if and when required. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, seven Board meetings and one annual general
meeting (‘AGM”) of the Company were held. Details of the Directors’ attendance
records are as follows:
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RERRERIENERATRERRZ M Itt
Sy BERERBARVARDEBETROEE R
i - EFEMNEFEERNEZETERHERY
LNMBE
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Attended/Eligible to attend

HEAERURE
Board AGM held on
Meetings 29 August 2024
MIZEZME
NBZ+hH
BITZRE
BEEXEQgE BERE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Yuen Leong RELE 717 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat FR/DESE 7/7 11
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Mr. Liu Yu ElPabaes 77 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIIIFHTEE
Mr. Yap Yung BEBLE 7/7 11
Mr. Wong Kin Ping SEFEINILEAS 717 11
Ms. Chen Lanran FRE BT 7/7 11
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Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

All Directors have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular
Board meeting. Notices of regular Board meetings are sent to Directors at least 14
days before the meeting date. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
time is generally given.

The Directors have to declare their interests in the subject matters to be considered
in the relevant meeting and the director, who or whose associates have any interest
in any proposed resolution, must abstain from voting and will not be counted in
quorum.

The agenda together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information were
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management when necessary.

Directors can, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the expenses of the Company. The Board shall resolve
to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

Minutes of each Board meeting will be drafted by the company secretary of the
Company (‘Company Secretary”) to record the matters discussed and decision
resolved at the Board meetings and circulated to the Board for comment within
a reasonable time after each meeting. The final Board minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available for inspection by Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles and responsibilities of chairman
and CEO should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not officially have Chairman and CEO up to the date of this annual
report. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of the Group’s
business are handled by the executive Directors collectively and being supported
by a team of senior management which is in turn supported by staff with relevant
expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of
the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the business of the
Company, the Board will review the existing structure and consider the issue of
nominating an appropriate candidate to fill up the role of Chairman and CEO.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board as they
bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies, performance and control, as well
as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are considered. All independent non-
executive Directors possess appropriate academic, professional qualifications or
related financial management experience. None of the independent non-executive
Directors held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is
interested in any shares of the Company.

The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure independent views are
available to the Board. For instance, each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board. Further, the Board shall at all times
comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors that represent at least
one-third of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of independence
on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment. The Board
has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are effective in ensuring that
independent views and input are provided to the Board during the year ended 31
March 2025.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors
are laid down in the Company’s bye-laws.

The Nomination Committee is to be responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of Directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. In selecting
and approving candidate for directorship, the Board will consider various criteria
such as education, qualification, experience, integrity and the potential contribution
to the Group.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Liu Yu, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a term of three years and subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company each year whereupon the terms and conditions of this appointment letter
shall be automatically renewed.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has a service contract with a
term of service for one year and the contract will be renewed automatically for a
successive term of one year, each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current appointment term, unless terminated by either the independent non-
executive Director or the Company.
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In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, one-third of the Directors of the
Company for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
in every three years. If an independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the shareholders of the Company. Any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents and publications
relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the
Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors
familiarise with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the operations
and businesses of the Company.

The Company encourages its Directors to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional institutions
or professional firms and read materials on relevant topics so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

On 28 June 2024, the Company provided an in-house training seminar which was
conducted by an external counsel covering the company’s responsibilities and
compliance issues as regard to the amendments to the Listing Rules. All existing
Directors attended this seminar. In addition to this in-house training seminar and
reading materials, the Directors were provided with other materials in relation to the
regular updates to corporate governance practices, statutory requirements, Listing
Rules and other relevant topics related to listed companies to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills from time to time.
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During the year, the Directors participated in the following trainings:

FR EFHEREINT -

Attending
Reading materials  seminars/briefings
HEWSE
B EM R Bhg
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yuen Leong RESRE v v
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BR/ DS E v/ v
Non-executive Director FERITEE
Mr. Liu Yu Btk E 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
Mr. Yap Yung EBAE v v/
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FREFERE v 4
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBZLT v/ v

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees with defined roles and responsibilities
for each committee. Such committees are the remuneration committee
(the“Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). All committees were
set up with a written terms of reference, which are in line with the relevant CG
Code and available to shareholders on the Company’s website, to deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The committees will report their findings and decisions
and make necessary recommendations to the Board. Minutes of the committee
meetings will be drafted by the Company Secretary and circulated for the comment
to the members of the committee within a reasonable time. The final version of
the committee minutes will be kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection by any Director. All committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

EFRET

EXgmiMEEE (FINEZEE)) RBZEE8
g (RREEg) kBEREZET ((BXEEg)
—EZEEXF FAZESRAHRE WUE
H:ASEZBERE BEXLEITSARE
FEARTR TN AR MR R HERREH U
PAREAEERNIRBE ZFEZEGRAEFT
BEHBEGERIORE WXV BEZ -Z8
CERCHRNARRANEESE TN EGERKBA
ERLZEENEBRUBARR -ZEEE&T
BZREERRBAADWEHFURENESE
H-FMEZESHESREE RUEITERE
RABRGEERNBEBRATSKRBIEXR
R BRBARTZ e

37

Annual Report 2024/2025 R



Corporate Governance Report

EXEERRS

Details of each committee and work performed during the year are as follows:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors
and executive Director and the members are as follows:

Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and
Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director)

Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the size,
structure and composition of the Board, assisting the Board in maintaining a board
skills matrix, and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of Directors with reference to the Company’s corporate
strategy, indentifying individuals suitably qualified to become board members and
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and supporting the Company’s regular evaluation of the
Board’s performance. The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, which describes
the procedure by which the Company will select candidate(s) for possible inclusion
in the Board. The Board considers the Nomination Policy could strengthen the
transparency and accountability of the Board and Nomination Committee and
election of Directors. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate before
recommending to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies, the Nomination Committee will consider: (i) character and
integrity of the proposed candidate; (i) qualifications of the proposed candidate
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; (iii) accomplishment
and experience of the proposed candidate in the business from time to time
conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the Group; (iv) commitment
of the proposed candidate in respect of available time and relevant interest; (v)
requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (vi) Board
diversity policy and any measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board;
and (vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee also ensures the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in line with the
CG Code and are accessible through the Company’s website.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2025, amongst other matters, to review the size, structure and composition of the
Board, review the board diversity policy, review the suitability of the candidates
to be nominated to the Board and to consider the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors. Individual attendance of each member of
Nomination Committee is set out below:

R2EEg é&zi_v EF=ZR=+—HILHF
ERR|T—REH Was EThEE E5e8
B RBERBN B EFEZTOBER R

MESFRLZEEANES L TEBEEE
UFRATEFZBUM -RLEEETIMNEZE
B EE SIS -

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Nomination Committee Members RELEEENE HESERLE
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FiEFRE 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat PR/ E St 11
Mr. Yap Yung BEELY 11
Ms. Chen Lanran FRE BT 11

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors
and executive Director and the members are as follows:

Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and
Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director)

Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board regarding the Group’s policies and structure for remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group and determining the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management of the Group. It also reviews and/or approves
matters relating to share schemes of the Company and provides its views on those
matters as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2025 to review and determine the remuneration packages of the Directors of the
Company and make recommendations to the Board. The individual attendance of
each member of Remuneration Committee is set out below:

FMEEEREE S AF=A=1+—HLHF
EBRT—REH UBSREERRBDESFZ
FMRR THERSFLEERZ -FNEE
EEMEZERHFEEREINWNT

Attended/
Eligible to attend
Remuneration Committee Members HNEZEERE HEAERLFRE
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FEFAE 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BR/DEESAAE 11
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 11
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBLT 11
Audit Committee BiZEEg
The Audit Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors and the  TiZEE G HRBIIIFRITESH > HLEWM T !

members are as follows:

Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Ms. Chen Lanran
Mr. Wong Kin Ping

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to manage the relationship between
the Company and its external auditor and monitor the audit scope and the process,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control system and
risk management and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through on the Company’s website.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 March 2025
for considering re-appointment of auditors, reviewing the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the interim results of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2024 and discussing with the auditors of the
Company on internal control procedures and financial reporting systems, auditors’
independence, auditors’ remuneration and reviewing the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The individual attendance of each member of
Audit Committee is set out below:

BREEENBE_Z_AF=R=+—HLHF
E =REHR U EEBZHE BREAE
EEBE_Z_AF=-A=+—RHLFEZFE
FEUAAERSE"SNFAA=THLER
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PZREM 2 B 2 e A 5 7 £ [ L B ' 3 e PO B4 )
AR -BREZEEGEMEZER LEE R
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Attended/
Eligible to attend
Audit Committee Members BZZEERE HESERLE
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 33
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBL T 33
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FTEFRE 3/3
Corporate Governance Functions EERMAE
As at 31 March 2025, no corporate governance committee has been established. W _ZE_HE=ZH=+—H> KAFWELIL T
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board, with the help of the Audit EBALZEZT - RNEBEE_ZE_RF=B=1+—H
Committee, was responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance It EE EEGHBZEZEGNE FTESET

of the Company and performing the corporate governance duties below:

developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Company;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring any codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and directors of the Group; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

KAABEEEABRKRIAT T EEELARE !

- HERBHAERECEEABRRERIL
B EE ;

- RBREAKERFRDEEKSREEEZ
IIRFEEXEE

~ BEREEFEEEETHRAEREER
BERES A HERER

- HE-RIAERLERRERESTERZ
FETATURERFM; &

— RENAEBEETLEESATIRNEES
BREPIREREZ B

Annual Report 2024/2025 R 41



Corporate Governance Report

EXEERRS

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board is responsible for preparing balanced, clear and understandable financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that (i) appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently, (ii)
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable and (iii) the financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibility of external auditor of the Company is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company.
A statement by the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibility is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to safeguard shareholders” investment
and the Group’s assets. No risk management committee has been established and
the Board, with the help of the Audit Committee, reviews the overall effectiveness
and oversees the management of the Group in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

The Board continuously monitors the Group’s risk management framework, reviews
the Group significant risks and conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the
risk management system. The Board determines the nature and extent of significant
risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include, among others,
the relevant financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
procedures or policies, a well-established organizational structure with a clearly
defined line of responsibilities and authorities. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to implement the policies adopted from
the Board from time to time. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each department.
The management had reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. During the year ended
31 March 2025, Directors, through the Audit Committee with the help of an
external consulting firm, have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Group. The Company has engaged an external
consulting firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the major operating subsidiaries of the Group. Areas for improvement
have been identified and appropriate measures have been taken to provide
assurance that key operational risks are identified and managed.

Whistleblowing policy was established to facilitate employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has an established insider information policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025 the remuneration paid or payable to Rongcheng
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited (formerly known as CL Partners CPA Limited) in respect of
audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

Nature of service

=2 e &=
BE_ZE_AF=-RA=1+—HLFE LR
BRIFZBRBENNEL BTN (F8) G560
BAARAT ALK ESEITARAE) BB
EF

Fee paid/payable

R4 E eft EdER
HK$'000
FET
Audit services in relation to annual results 1,800
B2 FXEENZERE
Review of interim financial statement 546
ERP R K
2,346
COMPANY SECRETARY AEWE

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and familiar with
the day-to-day affairs of the Company. The Company Secretary is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance and other related matters as well as
ensuring good information flow within the Board.

Ms. Wong Lai Kiu (“Ms. Wong”) was appointed as the Company Secretary since
1 January 2024. Ms. Wong had complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the
year and had taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the
year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting by shareholders
and putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)") shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
deposited at the head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition, including making proposals
or moving a resolution at a special general meeting.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene a special general meeting for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at a special general meeting must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene a special
general meeting, the agenda proposed to be included and the details of the
business(es) proposed to be transacted in the special general meeting, signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board has not advised the
Eligible Shareholders of any outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene
a special general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in accordance with bye-laws, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may submit their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing by addressing them to the Board by post or delivery to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The bye-laws of the Company are published on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company. There was no
change to the bye-laws of the Company during the year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy and the
Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, publication
of all disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange on the websites of
the Company and Stock Exchange. The Board considers that the shareholders’
communication policy is effective for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Company
will continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of information disclosure
to Shareholders and the investors. The Board welcomes the views of Shareholders on
matters affecting the Group and encourages them to attend Shareholders’ meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the Board or the management
directly.

Shareholders of the Company and investors can mail any enquiries, comments,
suggestions and recommendations to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, the Board or their delegates will reply and response to you promptly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal. It is the policy of the Board, in declaring or recommending
a payment of dividends, to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee in order to promote greater dividend policy transparency. In
deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to the shareholders, the
Board will take into account of (i) general business conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company; (ii) the financial condition and results of operations
of the Group; (iii) the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans of
the Group; (iv) future prospects of the Group; (v) statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(vi) contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Group to the
shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the Company; (vii) taxation
considerations; (viii) shareholders’ interests; and (ix) other factors the Board may
deem relevant. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to
be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of
the opinion that the profits of the Company justify the payment.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial
and cash-flow position of the Group, the Dividend Policy will continue to be
reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be recommended or declared in any particular amount for any given period.
The declaration of or recommendation of declaration of dividends is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend
and declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.
The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and regulations and the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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PREAMBLE

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which is a corporate focusing
on business operations of property development, and the leasing and
trading of computer equipment, has been promoting its business growth
and strengthening its resilience over the years. Overcoming challenges and
obstacles in the past years, the Group has adjusted its business strategies and
integrated sustainable practices into its daily operations.

The Group understands the importance of its Environmental, Social, and
Governance (“ESG”) performance in fostering a more sustainable future.
Therefore, the Group strives to adopt a comprehensive ESG management
framework while keeping itself informed of the latest climate-related
regulations and disclosure requirements. With the enhanced concerns on
climate-related risk management, the Group has made transitional plans to
adapt to such changes.

In addition to establishing internal policies and procedures to
comprehensively understand, identify, evaluate, and manage ESG-related
risks including climate-related risks, the Group has engaged with external
consultants to get prepared for enhanced management and disclosure against
climate change. To ensure its decisions take the well-being of all stakeholders
and the environment into account, the Group has incorporated sustainability
into every aspect of its operations.

In its commitment to maintaining a sustainable business model, the Group
always adheres to its ESG principles. The Group proactively minimises its
environmental impacts, fosters health and safety of its employees, and
enhance the quality of its products and services. With its environmental
stewardship and corporate social responsibility, the Group is dedicated to
creating a sustainable business and community for all members of society.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THE REPORT

In compliance with the requirements under Appendix 2 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules
published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”), the
Group is pleased to present its ESG Report (“ESG Report”) for the financial
year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (“FY2024/2025”, or “the year under
review”). This ESG Report summarises the Group’s strategies and performance
on its ESG management and corporate sustainable development for
FY2024/2025, under the “Comply or Explain” provision.

Reporting boundaries

The Group determines its reporting boundaries by adopting the operational
control approach, with the approval of the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”). This ESG Report covers the environmental and social performance
within the Group’s operational boundaries, including its main business lines
and reportable operating segments of property development business, leasing
and trading of computer equipment business, and office operations in the
People’s Republic of China (“Mainland China”) and Hong Kong.

Given the Group acquired new business segment of property management
in March 2025, the reporting boundaries of this ESG Report will expand
to include the social performance of the property management business,
with the disclosure of its environmental performance excluded due to
relatively insignificant impacts from new operations. Due to the change in
business status and the handover of operational control, the Group’s contact
lens business and financing business remain excluded from the reporting
boundaries of this ESG Report.

For details of corporate governance related disclosures, please refer to the
chapter headed Corporate Governance Report of the Group’s 2024/2025
Annual Report.

Reporting principles

This ESG Report was prepared in alignment with four primary reporting
principles, which are Materiality, Quantitative, Balance, and Consistency.
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1.

Materiality: Following the principle of Materiality, the Group identified
material ESG issues that may have a significant impact on the Group through
stakeholder engagement and the materiality assessment conducted annually.
This ensures better planning on the allocation of manpower and resources for
the ESG risk management. Details on the identification of material ESG issues
were outlined in the chapter headed Stakeholder Engagement.

Quantitative: This ESG Report adopts the principle of Quantitative to
calculate and numerically present its environmental and social key
performance indicators (‘KPIs”). The Group clearly states the calculation
methods, assumptions, and conversion factors used in footnotes of the
corresponding performance tables.

Balance: To ensure the disclosure of factual ESG information, the Group
adheres to the principle of Balance. Both the Group’s achievements and
rooms for improvement compared with the previous reporting year are
presented transparently, providing an unbiased picture of its sustainability
performance.

Consistency: The Group adopts a consistent reporting framework and data
calculation methodology, allowing meaningful comparison across years.
Whenever there is any significant change, clear explanations will be provided
correspondingly.

BOARD INCLUSIVENESS

The Company’s operations are guided by the Group’s goals of promoting
sustainable growth and generating opportunities. These objectives motivate
the Group to address environmental and social challenges within its
operations, in collaboration with its business partners. A key element in
supporting these initiatives is the Group’s robust ESG Management System,
which is overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) at the Group’s
highest level and integrated across all levels of the management.
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Overview of the ESG Management System
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Governance Structure ERRB
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The Board takes the ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
business activities, and the management and disclosure of ESG issues. The
Board evaluates and keeps track of the Group’s progress in meeting its
clearly outlined ESG strategies and objectives. ESG-related risks, including
those relating to climate change, are overseen by the Board at the full board
level, with additional management from executive levels such as the Audit
Committee.

To implement ESG initiatives, an ESG Work Group has been established, while
the Group’s management team, including the Investor Relations Department
and the Company Secretarial Department at the Hong Kong headquarters,
handles daily coordination of the Board’s directives. Additionally, the ESG
Work Group keeps the Board informed of market developments and updates
regarding the Group’s ESG performance. Meanwhile, the Group’s business
units are tasked with implementing ESG-related policies established by the
top management and providing regular updates on progress, as well as any
operational challenges encountered.

Management Approach and Strategy

The Board maintains regular communications with its internal and external
stakeholders through an annual stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment process. This structured approach enables the Group to identify,
prioritise, and address its material ESG-related issues. In the meantime,
the Audit Committee performs an internal review of the risk management
framework. For details on the Board’s evaluation and prioritisation of material
ESG issues, please refer to the chapter headed Stakeholder Engagement.

To ensure the Board has a thorough understanding of the Group’s
sustainability performance, external consultants are engaged to compile
review materials for the Board. These materials include the outcomes of the
materiality assessment, key environmental and social performances, climate-
related risks and other relevant information. These supports empower
the Board to refine ESG strategies, strengthen governance, and make well-
informed decisions on material ESG matters.
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ESG-related Goals and Targets

As a corporate with business segments of property development and
management, leasing and trading of computer equipment, and office
operations, the Board acknowledges that the Group’s most significant ESG
issues arise from the environmental impacts of its activities. In response, the
Group has set measurable environmental targets, which were built on its
historical environmental performances. Details on specific targets are outlined
in the chapter headed Environmental Sustainability.

To keep track of the progress, external consultants summarise and analyse
the Group’s environmental performance for the Board’s review and approval.
These insights provide the Board with a clear understanding of the Group’s
current performance, informing strategic decision-making for future business
planning. Moving forward, the Board remains committed to evaluating the
Group’s business scope and refining its ESG objectives when necessary.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group considers regular interactions with its stakeholders as part of its
ESG management. During its decision-making and business operations, the
Group always values and respects its stakeholders” opinions while proactively
meeting their demands.

Addressing its ESG-related issues in alignment with its stakeholders’
expectations and concerns, the Group has established a stable and long-term
relationships with its stakeholders. Meanwhile, the Group can keep itself
updated with the risks and opportunities emerging in the markets. Over the
years, the Group has engaged with its stakeholders through the following
communication channels:

Communication with Stakeholders

RIF-HEREBHEBABRKIIER
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EREAFEREHEHHRENRZE-S
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FHESHE
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EREREEN MY ERREXEHZE
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B EBR

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels

FihE HASE R RAE RS BREERE

Government and regulatory authorities . Compliance with laws and . Supervision on complying with local
BRKREEHE regulations laws and regulations

< BTERER

. Sustainable development

- AIREEE

. Occupational health and safety

- BERERRZE

- HETHGARERERNES

. Routine reports and taxes paid

© ERWERBARIEA
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Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
FhE A R A BS BIBERE

Employees . Employees’ remuneration and . Performance reviews
== benefits . BAEREY

© EEFWRER

. Career development

- BEER

. Occupational Health and safety

- HERERERZZE

. Environmental protection
. IRIGRE

. Governance with transparency and
integrity
- BREERZRAE

Customers . High-quality products and services
ER ¢ EmEELRERE
O Customers’ interests

. BPMH

. Customers’ satisfaction

- BERRRE

Shareholders . Return on investments
Y « KE[ER
. Corporate governance
. TESHA
. Compliance with laws and
regulations

- BERER
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Regular meetings and training
E Mg &R EN

Emails, notice boards, hotline and
Group caring activities

B EH G RERBEEE
£l

Questionnaires/Online engagement

BERE R 28

Customer satisfaction survey
ERmMEERE

Face-to-face meetings and on-site
visits

HHESRKRIRSFS

Customer service hotline and email

ERRGHBR KRB

Regular reports and announcements

TR S A

Regular general meetings

EHREREARE

Corporate website
AGIE )

Questionnaires/Online engagement

BERE R L2H
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Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
FinE HASZ KR RRE RS BEERE
Suppliers . Fair and open procurement . Open tender
R . AERBEERE - ARBER
. Win-win upstream and . Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment

downstream cooperation

- BRLRBERTREAE

. Protection of intellectual property
rights
o IREFGER

. Transparent supplier assessment

- BHEHEETE

General public . Involvement in communities
YN - HteBH

. Compliance with laws and
regulations

« BTHERER

. Environmental protection
awareness
- BREREH

« HEFEREEE

. Telephone conferences

- EmEeE

. Face-to-face meetings and on-site
visits

- EEEERRFESED

O Questionnaires/Online engagement

. MEHE 7 260
. Media conferences and responses to
inquiries

- HEERKHEHNOE

. Public welfare activities
. N
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Materiality assessment

Recognising that ESG risks and opportunities differ significantly based on
a company’s background, business operation models, and sector-specific
considerations, the Group adopts a stepwise approach in conducting the
annual materiality assessment to identify material ESG issues that reflect its
stakeholders” concerns and interests.

In FY2024/2025, the Group entrusted external consultants to conduct the
materiality assessment. The Group identified its stakeholders based on
their influence and extent of dependence on the Group. For instance, the
Group’s stakeholder representatives included its employees, suppliers,
and professional organisations. Stakeholder representatives were invited
to participate in online surveys to express their views on a series of the
Group’s ESG management issues, which include topics of environmental
impacts, employment and labour practices, operating practices, community
investment, and leadership and governance.

The preference and concerns of the Group’s stakeholder representatives on
the environmental (E), social (S) and governance (G) pillars were then gathered.
With the ratings on ESG issues, the Group analysed the results by applying
weightings. The weighted results were eventually presented as a materiality
matrix, enabling the Group to prioritise its ESG issues visually and develop
action plans accordingly.
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1  Greenhouse Gas (‘GHG") Emissions 15 Product/Service Quality and Safety
RERAE (CREREE) B En/ REEERER

2 Energy Management 16 Customer Privacy and Data Security
AEIREIE BEELRERENEELS

3 Water and Wastewater Management 17 Marketing and Promotion
KEBRMEEKEE SR

4 Solid Waste Stewardship 18 Intellectual Property Rights
Bl EIE {7 ok R 8k 22 1

5 Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation 19 Labelling Relating to Products/Services
RIZEC 4R ENEIE BAE G BRFSAERERIZ KR RE

6 Renewable and Clean Energy 20 Business Ethics and Anti-corruption
A EENRFER EHEEENRES

7  Labour Practices 21 Internal Grievance Mechanism
BT ER P30 ER R A i

8 Employee Remuneration and Benefits 22 Participation in Philanthropy

BB #r i Ko (2 F) N E RIS H

9  Occupational Health and Safety 23 Cultivation of Local Employment

HERRREZE REE MR
10 Employee Development and Training 24 Support of Local Economic Development
BB % E R S RAMSE R
25 Business Model Adaptation and Resilience to Environmental,
Social, Political and Economic Risks and Opportunities

BEBERKIRE 18 BUAHKE AR BREE
MR E

26 Management of the Legal and Regulatory Environment
(regulation-compliance management)

11 Green Procurement
i B IREE

12 Engagement with Suppliers
HAEmESE

13 Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain

AT 1 TL 3 S [ [ S g (e e s S .
HERIVRR R B AR SR FRREERENEE (CRARES)
14 Supply Chain Resilience 27 (Critical Incident Risk Responsiveness

e i 2] IS N
AP SR 1t RB BT S A RS A
28 Systemic Risk Management (e.g. Financial Crisis)

AMCERER (GIN : FEH
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Stakeholder Engagement Materiality Matrix
FRENSHEEE D HER

A
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®
Importance to the Group
HBAEENSEY
Environmental Impacts O operating Practices O Leadership & Governance
RIERE =EE A BEMER
O Employment and Labour Practices () Community Investment
BERS THR HeRsE
According to the materiality matrix, “Labour Practices”, “Employee RFEEMEMEER FTEHR - [EE
Remuneration and Benefits”, “Employee Development and Training”, HEN R MBEREREIL - TER
“Product/Service Quality and Safety”, “Customer Privacy and Data Security”, RBEERZ2)  TEELBRENEE
and “Business Ethics and Anti-corruption” were identified as the most material Z2 | RImEEENRET HHENABEHEAEK
ESG issues to the Group. Moreover, the results of the materiality assessment EERABRANERE HENREAREFE I
were reviewed by the Board. S BEUTEERCHESTGES
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Progress on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

The Group’s sustainability approach is embedded in its mission to create long-
term values for all stakeholders through responsible and balanced business
practices. Considering sustainability as a fundamental operating principle,
the Group has demonstrated its corporate sustainability by identifying
and prioritising the following key SDGs that align with its stakeholders’
sustainability priorities.

Supporting the United Nations Global Compact, the Group strives to facilitate
the global sustainability targets accomplishment by integrating these
prioritised SDGs into internal policies and practices, as well as promoting these
SDGs locally and nationally.

SDG 1: No Poverty

In alignment with national poverty elimination initiatives, the Group provides
local employment opportunities and enhances job security while upholding
fair labour practices. These practices include the provision of fair wages and
comprehensive social insurance for all eligible employees.

Acknowledging the significance of inclusive economic growth and sustainable
development, the Group remains committed to reviewing and enhancing its
policies and operations, meeting the goal of eradicating poverty at all forms.

SDG 3: Good Health and Well-being

The Group places a great importance on health and safety, which is its
core operational priority. To safeguard its employees’ well-being, the Group
provides comprehensive healthcare benefits. Recognising its broader
responsibility to all stakeholders, the Group actively mitigates potential health
risks by selecting eco-friendly construction materials, optimising resources
consumption during construction, and continuously improving the quality
of management services. Upholding the key objective of zero work-related
fatalities and injuries, the Group is dedicated to strictly implementing its
internal policies on maintaining employees’ health and safety to achieve the
goal.
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SDG 4: Quality Education

The Group upholds inclusive and equal access to professional development
by offering comprehensive vocational trainings and internship programmes
opportunities for all eligible employees. To establish a highly skilled and
engaged workforce, the Group provides continuous learning initiatives,
including upskilling and reskilling opportunities tailored for both new hires
and experienced professionals.

Beyond its in-house training programmes, the Group actively supports its
employees to participate in external courses. The Group also encourages its
employees’ professional growth. With additional job-related qualifications,
discretionary reimbursements will be given by the Group as rewards.
To ensure its employees remain equipped for evolving challenges, the
Group plans to diversify its training curriculum to enhance its employees’
competencies in handling complex tasks.

SDG 6: Clean Water and Sanitation

The Group understands the critical importance of preserving and restoring
aquatic ecosystems to ensure safe drinking water and proper hygiene. Align
with this commitment, the Group actively enhances water quality through
comprehensive measures that reduce water pollution and strictly limit the
discharge of hazardous waste across all operational activities.

SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth

The Group upholds its commitment to ethical employment standards while
strictly adhering to basic labour rights and fostering safe and supportive
workplace for all employees. As stated in its internal policies, the Group
provides equitable and competitive salaries and benefits packages.

In addition, the Group has actively strengthened supply chain sustainability
throughout suppliers’ engagement. With the aim to progressively shift to
local procurement practices, the Group strives to provide more employment
opportunities for local communities, thriving social development.

Stakeholder feedback

As the Group values its stakeholders” opinions and strives for excellence, the
Group welcomes all feedback on its corporate ESG strategies and performance,
in particular those issues considered as the most material in the materiality
assessment. Meanwhile, readers are welcomed to express their opinions with
the Group via mail.
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V. ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Over the years, the Group has demonstrated its commitment to minimising
its environmental impacts. In addition to adopting stringent management
on its emissions and resources consumption, the Group contributes to
environmental protection in alignment with national goals and action plans
relating to green and low-carbon development. To further demonstrate
its environmental responsibility, environmental sustainability has been
incorporated as a critical element across all operations.

This section mainly discloses the Group’s policies and practices on emissions,
use of resources, the environment and natural resources, as well as climate
change during the year under review.

A.1. Emissions
In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with relevant national and local
laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited

to:

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PE ANRHEMBEIRIZRE L) ;

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution {FEE A R H A AR5 H
P

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution (R ZE A R HFBIZK S ZF/EZE) ;

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes {FZE A R
HNEEREEE TS RIRIB[RAE)

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy {7
EANRHENMBEEAERED

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact
Assessment (R EE A R HEMBIRIB R E5VEE)

. Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
. Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong); and

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).
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With the goal of lowering its GHG emissions, the Group strives to
mitigate climate change by meeting the national goal of carbon
neutrality by 2060. The Group’s emissions generated during the year
under review are primarily air and GHG emissions, non-hazardous
wastewater and waste, dust and noise. Details on the environmental
performance of the Group were summarised in Table E1 in the chapter
headed Appendix.

Air and GHG Emissions

The Group’s air emissions including sulphur oxides (“S0y”), nitrogen
oxides (“NOx”) and particulate matter (“PM”) arose from its burning
of fossil fuels for transportation vehicles, while its GHG emissions
mainly arose from its purchased electricity. By implementing reduction
initiatives on energy and fuel consumption, the Group aims to
minimise its air and GHG emissions. The measures implemented were
outlined in the section headed A.2. Use of resources.

Wastewater

Due to its property development business, the Group’s generation of
wastewater is inevitable. To lower its environmental impacts, the Group
has established the following measures in wastewater management,
addressing public concerns on illegal discharge:

. Segregating domestic sewage from construction wastewater while
filtering oil and residue prior to the discharge into the municipal

sewage network;

. Treating wastewater in the internal wastewater treatment plant
before the discharge into the municipal sewage network;

. Applying chemicals such as coagulants to increase the efficiency
of sedimentation during wastewater treatment;

. Conducting internal monitoring on a regular basis to ensure that
the effluent meets prescribed standards; and

. Enhancing the efficiency of water consumption at all stages and
reusing wastewater for cleaning purposes whenever possible.
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Solid waste

Given the Group’s property development business associates with
construction and demolition processes, the generation of solid waste
is unavoidable. Therefore, the Group has disposed of its waste during
construction with categories of land excavation waste, broken bricks,
mortar, concrete and plastic packaging so as to facilitate reuse or
recycling and minimise environmental impacts brought by its waste
generation.

Meanwhile, the Group has implemented its solid waste reduction
measures in alignment with the “3R — Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”
principle, as shown below:

. Reusing land excavation waste for backfilling purposes;

. Storing construction waste at designated locations for
transportation and disposal;

. Recycling residual materials from construction sites, including
residual steel, wood and non-hazardous solid waste;

. Selling plastic packaging to recycling points for further handling;

. Using environment-friendly materials, which are made of
recycled materials, during construction;

. Promoting the “3R” principle among on-site workers; and

. Monitoring on-site practices for continuous improvement on
waste management.

Municipal solid waste generated from the office operations is collected
and disposed by the property management, and municipal wastewater
is directly discharged into the drainage system. Hence, the Group did
not have a precise amount of its waste generation. With its aim to
promote sustainable development across daily office operations, the
Group has implemented the following measures to minimise its waste
generated:

. Recycling waste through waste classification;

. Encouraging employees to bring their own lunchbox to reduce
the use of disposable items; and

. Promoting the reuse of office stationeries.
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Dust

As the Group acknowledges of the environmental and health risks
brought by construction dust, the following measures have been
implemented to reduce the dust generated from construction sites:

. Rinsing the wheels and underbody of vehicles before leaving
construction sites;

. Adopting sealed vehicles to transport dust;

. Regulating speed limits and minimising the transportation
frequency through better planning;

. Cleaning the ground or drizzle water every day to settle the dirt
and prevent sludge accumulation; and

. Installing pressurised dust reduction spray devices along the
main road of construction sites.

Noise
To lower the noise nuisance throughout its operations, the Group has
implemented mitigation measures as shown below:

. Installing noise enclosure, noise barrier and vibration isolation
facilities;

. Adopting equipment and construction methods with lower noise
and lower vibration; and

. Limiting operating periods for the use of certain equipment/
machinery.

During the year under review, the Group strictly complied with
the national standards on noise emissions, including the Emission
Standards for Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008),
and no substantiated complaint regarding noise nuisance was received

from residents in surrounding areas.
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A.2. Use of resources A2. BEREHR

In FY2024/2025, the Group’s major resources consumption was
electricity, gasoline, diesel, water, paper, and packaging materials. For
details on the Group’s resources consumption, please refer to Table E2
in the chapter headed Appendix.

Electricity

The Group consumed electricity during its daily operations. To
enhance the Group’s efficiency of electricity consumption, practices for
monitoring and managing its electricity consumption patterns have
been implemented, as shown below:

. Displaying reminders near switches to remind staff to turn off
idling appliances;

. Applying time-controlled switches to prevent energy waste during
periods such as lunchtime;

. Adjusting the temperature of air conditioners in the office
according to weather conditions;

. Conduct routine cleaning of electrical appliances to optimise
their efficiency; and

. Prioritising equipment with Grade 1 Energy Label during
procurement.

To lower its carbon emissions and increase energy efficiency across
operations, the Group has spared no efforts in enhancing its electricity
consumption management. In particular, the Group has embraced
the “Saving Electricity” concept, which was reflected from its internal
policies. All electrical appliances are mandated to be switched off
before the close of business time 17:30. Meanwhile, an internal team
has been designated to monitor energy consumption, as well as the
effectiveness of policies implementation.
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Gasoline

Gasoline was primarily consumed for transportation during the Group’s
operations. Given its reliance on fossil fuels, including gasoline and
diesel for its vehicles, attributes to the poor air quality and increasing
amount of GHG emissions, the Group is committed to shifting to a
low-carbon and low-consumption business model. To enhance its
management on business travels, the following practices have been
implemented:

. Making use of technologies to have telephone or video
conferences instead of physical meetings to reduce unnecessary
travels;

. Avoiding the idling state of vehicles and machinery at
construction sites; and

. Exploring the possibility of replacing highly polluting vehicles
with electric and energy-efficient alternatives.

Water

Recognising that water is a precious resource on Earth, the Group
prioritises to consume water resources efficiently and minimise water
loss. The Group considers water conservation as a critical element in
long-term business sustainability, thereby taking the following actions
to save water:

. Promoting the water-saving concept among staff;

. Placing “Saving Water Resources” posters in prominent areas to
remind employees on water conservation;

. Adjusting water supply with reference to seasons and rest
periods;
. Conducting routine maintenance and leakage tests on the water

supply system;

. Recycling and reusing wastewater for purposes such as greening
and road cleaning; and

. Collecting rainwater for operational use at construction sites.

In FY2024/2025, the Group did not face any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for its purpose.
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Paper

Embedding the concept of paper conservation into its operations, the
Group promotes paperless offices and the use of digitalised documents.
In FY2024/2025, the Group recycled 1 kg of paper to reduce the disposal
of the paper waste into landfills. In alignment with the “3R” principle in
paper consumption, the Group has initiated the following practices:

. Circulating information through electronic means;

. Advocating the concept of “think before print” to remind staff of
avoiding unnecessary printings;

. Setting double-sided printing as the default mode;

. Placing boxes and trays beside photocopiers to collect single-
sided paper for reuse and recycling; and

. Selecting suppliers with more eco-friendly paper sources during
procurement.

Packaging materials

To minimise the use of packaging materials and enhance consumption
efficiency, the following initiatives have been launched:

. Advocating recycling and the reuse of packaging materials;
. Encouraging minimal packaging; and
. Exploring more eco-friendly packaging materials.
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A.3.

Construction Materials

The Group primarily consumes construction materials of metal,
concrete, and paper materials during the operations of its property
development business. In FY2024/2025, no construction materials were
consumed as the Group has no development projects. Although there
was no consumption of construction materials during the year under
review, the Group has continuously standardised practices regarding
the use of construction materials to prevent significant disturbance on
the environment due to its business operations. The Group has taken
the following measures designed to increase raw material consumption
efficiency:

. Applying new polymer waterproofing membrane to prevent
water infiltration;

. Adopting hollow glass tiles for thermal insulation;

. Developing construction blueprints with the adoption of
innovative construction techniques to enhance the efficiency of
material consumption; and

. Prioritising environmentally responsible and locally sourced
sustainable construction materials to mitigate the adverse
impacts associated with energy, waste, carbon and water.

The environment and natural resources

In FY2024/2025, the Group’s operations did not lead to significant
adverse environmental impacts. However, the consumption of
purchased energy resources and the associated Scope 2 GHG emissions
were identified as the most material environmental impacts of the
Group. The Group hence upholds its responsibility for enhancing energy
efficiency across all operations.
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To mitigate these impacts, the Group has developed and enforced
robust internal policies to optimise energy consumption. These policies
are designed to systematically reduce electricity consumption and the
associated GHG emissions.

In accordance with relevant environmental laws and regulations,
the Group has established comprehensive policies, including the
Environment, Health, and Safety (EHS) measures. For instance, green
building concepts are integrated into all construction projects. Through
eco-friendly designs and landscaping, the Group aims to develop
sustainable housing estates for local communities.

Demonstrating its environmental stewardship, the Group promotes
tree-planting activities and eco-tours among employees to achieve the
goal of carbon offset. Since establishment, the Group has planted 580
trees. In addition to ongoing expansion on green programmes, the
Group proactively fosters a culture of sustainability with employees’
participation in environment-friendly practices.

The Group understands the evolving expectations from regulatory
authorities and stakeholders, thereby striving to set measurable
environmental targets to reduce its environmental impacts. The table
below presents the Group’s specific targets and planned actions in
various areas.
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Areas Targets Actions
s Bz 178
Air and GHG Taking FY2024/2025 as the baseline vyear, the Group The Group will keep monitoring its emissions and
Emissions targets to maintain the intensity of air and GHG reviewing relevant measures. In particular, the Group
BERECRZE emissions in FY2025/2026 within the same scope at the WI.” .fo~cus on rgducmg 1ts electna.ty.consumptlon o
SR level. minimise resulting Scope 2 GHG emissions.
HE= same leve LA s
. X B T REEAEEE AEES AEBEBFERNES N E ARSI ET
Y _ " ER-BRME  AEEREFTNREEEE
ERNZZEC fﬁ/ T AMEERSEEA mER L BE R s
g DEER LV EE _RERBEBHR
mgﬂ&/gﬂ%mm S HERFTEAEEIIK T
Solid Waste Taking FY2024/2025 as the baseline year, the Group The Group will conduct its ongoing advocation of waste
ERSEEY targets to maintain the intensity of non-hazardous solid classification practices in alignment with the “3R”
waste generated in FY2025/2026 within the same scope principle.
at the same level. AEBREBEERS R RENNIIKR DB
MZ2ZW/ ZE_RAHFRAEEF AEEE
BERN_-ZEZ £/ - AMEERSEER
EXNEEEREEYNE EERTAERKT
Electricity Taking FY2024/2025 as the baseline year, the Group The Group will continuously incorporate the “Saving
B targets to maintain the intensity of electricity Electricity” conceptinto its operational strategies.

consumption in FY2025/2026 within the same scope at
the same level.

M=—=zpm, = ﬁﬂa‘fﬁf%% FoAaEEB
SRR T 35/ “ARMERREERN
& 51%%%MF,.\E$1T_7FEH7}<3|:°

In addition, the Group’s office operations in Hong
Kong has continuously set up a voluntary target to
reduce its intensity of electricity consumption by 10% in
FY2025/2026.
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Areas

Ll

Targets
B1R

Actions

17%h

Other Energy
Resources

HAtgERE IR

Water and
Wastewater

KE R EE7K

Taking FY2024/2025 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of gasoline and diesel
in FY2025/2026 within the same scope at the same
IeveI
T B RMFEARES AEEE
hh_ﬁ i/ ZEZIARMEEREER
MmE& SR BT EARRI KT

Taking FY2024/2025 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of water consumption
and wastewater discharged in FY2025/2026 within the
same scope at the same level.
RN/ CECLAUFARES AKEE
RN _ZT_H/ “ZMERARSERN
W%m&%%ﬁﬂ%&ﬁh&ﬁ@m”O

The Group will strictly adhere to its internal policies to
regulate fuel consumption by reducing unnecessary
business travels.
KREBEBEEETENEHER B
AT = RAR IR HFE ©

B m/|\7ﬁ/ =

Meanwhile, the Group will explore the feasibility of
transitioning its fuel-powered vehicles to energy-
efficient ones.
EIRF > REREF
AV AT

The Group will keep promoting its standardised

SRR B WME O AR

practices of using water-saving equipment.

FEBRMEEERER KR EERBVRERR -

Furthermore, the Group will remain committed to
water conservation through wastewater management
such as recycling and reusing.

tESh > AREE G EE R D EIA AKX BiB I
KB AEEmETEKERE
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A.4. Climate change

In accordance with the “14th Five-Year Plan” initiated by the
Mainland China’s government to promote green development and
green economy, the Group has developed comprehensive strategies
to enhance its governance framework and climate-related risk
management. Guided by the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and the anticipated
regulatory enhancements to the ESG Code of the Stock Exchange, the
Group’s ESG management team has implemented multiple initiatives to
address potential climate-related risks.

Considering the growing stakeholder expectations and evolving
regulatory requirements on climate-related disclosures, the Group has
adopted a proactive approach to initiate preparatory measures based
on the foundational principles of the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) S2 Climate-related Disclosures.

Governance

The Group has established a structured approach to manage its
climate-related risks and opportunities, including the development of
handbooks, guidelines, and manuals. Internal climate change policies
have been rigorously implemented to enhance the climate-related risks
and opportunities management, and designated responsible personnel
regularly reviews, monitors, and enforces relevant policies. Similar to
the ESG governance structure mentioned in the chapter headed Board
Inclusiveness, the governance structure for the oversight of identified
climate-related risks and opportunities associated with the Group’s
operations includes the Board, ESG Work Group, senior management
and heads of departments.
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Under the governance framework, the management is responsible for
developing and monitoring the execution of climate-related policies
across all operational levels while identifying ESG issues and reporting
to the Board in order to assess and manage climate-related risks and
opportunities. When serious issues requiring immediate attention
are identified, issues will be reported to the Board and contingency
meetings will be held to determine further actions. To ensure effective
policy and measure implementation, the management communicates
with different departments for better coordination. Meanwhile,
the management maintains a robust data management system
consolidating environmental and financial data for transparent tracking
of the Group’s performance and progress towards targets.

The Board oversees the Group’s operations by monitoring and assessing
the Group’s ESG performance, including the management of climate-
related issues, and the effectiveness of the management approach. This
includes thorough reviews of established metrics, targets, and action
plans. To keep informed of the updates on climate-related issues, the
Board and its committees hold quarterly meetings to receive relevant
information. Additionally, the Board and its committees engage with
external consultants to receive updates on evolving standards and
best practices, while receiving trainings organised by professional
organisation to ensure appropriate skills and competencies are
available to oversee strategies designed to respond to climate-related
risks and opportunities.

Strategy

Over the years, the Group has conducted climate risk assessments to
identify climate-related risks and opportunities that may potentially
influence its long-term business continuity. To align with its strategic
decision-making on business and financial planning, the Group has
defined its climate-related risks and opportunities into short-term (1
year), medium-term (3 years), and long-term (10 years).

The following table summarises the Group’s climate-related risks and
opportunities identified.
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Risk
505

Potential Impact
BERE

Acute

=it
Physical Risk
IR B I

Chronic
{43
Physical Risk
Y3 R I

Policy and Legal
HEREEE
Transition Risk

WA E b

Medium-term

FET

Increase in frequency of extreme weather events
such as typhoons, storms and flood
BeE -~ REMREAKERHRAEGEE

BSERIES

Medium-term

e

Changes in precipitation patterns and extreme
variability in weather patterns

ERELHECARRRBEANIRIREEE

Medium-to Long-term

hRA

Rising mean temperatures and prolonged heat
waves

FHRE AR REEHR

Medium-term

A

Updates of policies and regulations have further
increased the environmental requirements
especially for the construction and the property
development business
HERERNENBE— T RESERE
KoLHBHHERERYEREEBNE
K
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Severe weather events may damage the
structural integrity of the Group’s assets while
threatening the safety of its construction
workers and occupants
BHERREHOESIBEAEEBEENG
BN ARRBEERTIARERSN
Z%

Extreme conditions of weather events may delay
schedules of goods transportation and hence
interrupt the supply chain and destabilise raw
material supply

him KR EH O SER LRSI ERNRR
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BEM

The resulting power outages and suspension
of operations may prolong project completion,
which triggers inflating operating costs

BBz mARNEERGEESENESLERE
BB EMmEAEEN A
Intensive precipitation may cause frequent
flooding, leading to higher maintenance costs
for the Group's properties
BERNAGEBKKIAE  BRAER
M2 BOAE SRR ASIG N

Higher mean temperatures and prolonged heat
waves increase the temperature of the Group’s
workplace, leading to higher operating costs for
cooling to safeguard the health of workers
THRELARRREARREEGEAERT
ESZFRBREF = > B AN R LURE
TARRNEEMAIZM

To meet the tightened regulations, additional
resources, including capital and manpower, are
allocated, which leads to higher operating costs
RARTBRBENER  BEDEEIINER
(BIEERRAN)  EREEMAIEIN



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1ERERES

Risk Potential Impact
A% BERE
Medium-term Increased regulatory requirements on carbon
A7 pricing urges the Group to reduce operating
. Increased carbon pricing costs by minimising its resources consumption
- EEBRES and emissions
BRMEENESEXRIEM RERER
FRFERNVEREERBEBOREEEE
D%
Technology Long-term The electrical appliances and equipment are
i =E7 forced to retire earlier than expected to reduce
Transition Risk Costs to transition to lower emissions emissions with the adoption of lower emissions
ERE S technology ones, leading to higher transitioning cost
« EEIMEHIREMTA A A BRRREBRBIRATRE  URAKE
BURRYE R sz AR B DB BEUBE
AR
Market Medium-term The change of customer behaviours may lead
iz el to unexpected shifting in consumer preferences,
Transition Risk Changing customer behaviour requiring more resource allocation to marketing
R E b . BR{TATER and business strategy development

Medium-term

A

Increased cost of raw materials

[RAA R A TR 0

BERTANMETESEREEERIEN
B AILEENEEZEREEH
REBREEREL

The rising cost of raw materials may induce
higher operating costs to maintain a stable and
reliable value chain
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MR E P e B EHE
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Opportunities
8

Green Building  Medium-to Long-term

GEEE A

In alignment with the national “14th Five-Year Plan” priorities for green buildings, the Group is actively

exploring energy and resource efficient solutions for its new development projects. The incorporation of

sustainable design and operational practices aims to foster long-term reduction of operating costs and unlock

new business opportunities.

HEGEKX +OERE) HEeRENSHRE 2ERERGERAEFTERBEEREHIERK
BERNERG R -RAFFBERNRS NEEN AEERERBEENZS WM

To manage the climate-related risks identified or to be identified, the
Group primarily adopts risk control and mitigation approach, which
implement measures to control exposures to climate-related risks
and minimise the impacts of climate-related risks respectively. The
Group has established and implemented precautionary measures and
emergency response plans against extreme weather event, while setting
contingency plans for engaging with back-up suppliers under the
influence of identified climate-related risks. It is estimated that the risk
mitigation approach covers the Group’s assets and business activities at
risks to a small extent.

As the Group is still at the preliminary stage of reviewing its climate-
related issues, the Group will further explore its climate-related
opportunities and associated long-term impacts. At the current stage,
no climate-related transition plan has been implemented. In the future,
the Group will conduct a more in-depth analysis to have a deeper
understanding of the current and anticipated effects of its climate-
related risks and opportunities on its business model and value chain.
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Financial implications

Although climate change may not bring immediate, direct and
severe impacts to the Group’s operations, the Group is fully aware
of the potential climate impacts on its financial position, financial
performance and cash flow. In terms of financial position, including the
Group’s assets, liabilities, and cash flow, it is anticipated that there will
be medium-term impacts. Therefore, the Group is planning to develop
roadmaps on quantifying the climate-related impacts and assessing the
associated financial implications, including the evaluation of potential
costs in adapting to climate-related impacts.

To strengthen its climate resilience, the Group has explored various
aspects and considered technology development. The Group will
provide trainings to its employees to raise their awareness on climate
change, modify budget allocations and explore green financial
opportunities as means to optimise its business model in terms of
human resources and financial resources respectively.

In the future, the Group will further review its climate resilience with
detailed analysis, including the climate-related scenario analysis,
aiming to identify potential climate impacts under a broader range
of uncertain conditions along its value chain and evaluate the
effectiveness of the financial adaptive solutions. With forward-looking
approach, the Group will be able to make informed decisions and direct
resources effectively to address identified climate-related risks and turn
these risks into opportunities with appropriate mitigation measures.
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Risk Management

The Group starts conducting a risk assessment to identify, assess,
and prioritise climate-related risks relative to other types of risks.
Meanwhile, the Group conducts a materiality analysis to evaluate the
significance and implications of the identified risks and opportunities.
Recognising the broader impacts brought by its business operations,
the Group engages with its internal and external stakeholders to
understand their expectations and concerns on climate-related risks,
ensuring that its climate strategies address the concerns of the broader
communities. With the Board-level oversight and involvement, the
Group ensures the appropriateness of the prioritisation of climate-
related risks.

To monitor and manage climate-related risks, the Group identifies
and evaluates those risks specific to its operations and value chains.
Relevant data and metrics are collected and analysed for progress
tracking, and developing and implementing risk mitigation strategies.
Additionally, the Group monitors and reviews emerging risks and
regulatory changes to formulate proper mitigation measures and
update corresponding policies in a timely manner.

Apart from regular monitoring of new climate-related risks and keeping
itself informed of evolving climate-related regulations, the Group
regularly reviews and refines its approach on climate-related risk
monitoring and management. This ensures that the climate-related risk
management system is supported by appropriate governance structures
and accountability mechanisms, further strengthening its resilience to
climate change.
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At this initial phase, several physical and transition risks have been
identified. These identified risks are classified as material risk categories
of Operational and Financial Risks under the Group’s risk management
framework in order to develop effective risk mitigation approach in
the upcoming years. In the future, the Group will disclose relevant
information once more detailed analysis is completed.

Metrics and Targets

The Group has been accounting for and disclosing its Scope 1 and
Scope 2 GHG emissions in accordance with the GHG Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) and the 2006 IPCC
(Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories in its annual ESG Report across years. The
Group leverages these internationally recognised standards to report
emissions data and information in an organised manner. While the
Group has been disclosing a basic set of Scope 3 GHG emissions these
years, in the coming years, the Group will further improve its Scope
3 disclosures with a more comprehensive approach with regards to
other relevant categories. For more information on the measurement
approach and the corresponding disclosures, please refer to Table E1 in
the chapter headed Appendix.

At the current stage, the Group has not implemented internal carbon
pricing or climate-related considerations in its remuneration policy as
part of its management approach in addressing climate-related issues.
However, the Group strives to conduct a more detailed evaluation
of climate-related issues with cross-industry metrics in the future,
including the amount and percentage of assets or business activities
vulnerable to climate-related risks and the capital deployment for
climate-related opportunities.

Regarding the climate-related targets, the Group currently focuses on
achieving the emissions targets as outlined in the section headed A.3.
The environment and natural resources, and there has been no plan
on applying carbon credits for offsetting emissions.
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VI. SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B.1. Employment
The Group is committed to valuing its employees, thereby striving to
treat every employee fairly. Its commitment not only includes creating
a safe and pleasant working environment for all employees but also
understanding their concerns and addressing their needs. While
fostering its long-term business growth, the Group continues facilitating
its employees’ career growth and development with the provision of
competitive benefits, continuing education opportunities, and personal
and career development opportunities.

As of the end of FY2024/2025, the Group had a total of 103 employees,
and the gender ratio was 68:32 (Male: Female). For details on the
breakdown of the Group’s workforce, please refer to Table S3 in the
chapter headed Appendix.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established its human resources policies in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations in its operational regions.
In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with the relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {FZE A R+EHN
EOZ5EE) 5

. Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARZMBEREREZE)

. Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China {FHZE A
REMBESBEEED ; and

«  Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China {FRZE A
EHEMEHEREEE).

Recruitment and promotion

To align with changing social expectations and market trends, the
Group regularly reviews and updates its employment policies. The
Human Resources Department is tasked with the staff recruitment
and promotion, following the Group’s talent management system
of “Selection, Use, Education, Retention“ (&~ & ¥). The
Group provides competitive and fair compensation packages based
on individual’'s job experience, job performance, and personal
attributes, aiming to attract high-calibre talents. While promotions are
raised based on the employee’s qualifications and performance, all
promotions will be evaluated by the Human Resources Department and
endorsed by their supervisors.
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Compensation and dismissal

The Group maintains strict adherence to local labour regulations,
including the minimum wage requirements and working age ordinance
across all operational regions. The Human Resources Department
conducts regular reviews on compensation policies, ensuring full
compliance with the latest legal standards. The Group also conducts
salary adjustments following structured evaluation processes under
the Salary Management System (GrBNEIEHIE), which includes
probationary assessments, regular performance reviews, internal salary
structure, market benchmarks, and organisational profitability.

Aligning with the government-mandated social security schemes, the
Group provides comprehensive benefits to all employees. The benefit
package includes performance-based bonuses, medical schemes, and
region-specific retirement schemes. In particular, mandatory provident
fund is offered to employees in Hong Kong and social insurance
packages are offered to employees in Mainland China.

Unfair or illegal dismissal is strictly prohibited within the Group. In
accordance with the Group’s internal policies on dismissal procedures,
termination of employment contracts can only be processed based on
reasonable and legitimate ground. In case of severe misconducts that
violate the Group’s regulations or dereliction and malpractices that
cause substantial damage to the Group, employment relationships
will be immediately terminated in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations after thorough investigations and verifications.

In FY2024/2025, the Group’s turnover rate was 16.5%. For details on

the Group’s employees’ turnover, please refer to Table $4 in the chapter
headed Appendix.
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Working hours and rest period

To ensure its employees have sufficient rest from intensive works,
the Group has established internal policies regulating its employees’
working hours and rest periods in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, including:

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {HrEE A & 3£H]
B ENED ;5

. Legal Protection of the Rights and Benefits of the Peasant Workers
(HENIRFEEZZAFA ) 5 and

. Rules of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff

Members (EIF5FERATS B T TERFEIBIRE ).

Apart from statutory holidays, the Group’s employees also enjoy
additional leave benefits such as marriage leave, maternity leave and
bereavement leave.

Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group strives to foster a respectful and inclusive corporate culture
embracing diversity and equal opportunity. With its internal anti-
discrimination policy, the Group ensures fairness across all business
operations, including aspects from recruitment and dismissal to
promotion and career development. Employment-related decisions
are solely based on individuals’ merits and requirements, without
considerations of age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status,
race, national or ethnic origins, nationality, religion or other non-job-
related factors of employees.

Upholding a zero-tolerance attitude against workplace discrimination,
harassment, or vilification, the Group strictly prohibits all forms of such
misconducts and clear reporting channels have been established for
employees to report any concerns through its grievance mechanism.
The Group’s Human Resources Department is responsible for handling
the reported issues.
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B.2.

Other benefits and welfare

Recognising that competitive employee benefits are critical elements for
talent retention and team cohesion, the Group has developed internal
policies for the provision of benefit packages with the aim to secure
its employees with the feeling of being valued and the motivation
to performance better. These corporate benefits include subsidies on
vocational training and medical services. Over the years, there has been
diverse activities, such as lunch and birthday gatherings, for employees
to enhance their welfare and well-being.

In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare that have a significant
impact on the Group.

Health and safety

The Group has established policies and practices on health and safety to
ensure a safe working environment for its employees. In FY2024/2025,
the Group adhered to relevant laws and regulations in its operational
regions, including but not limited to:

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction
Projects (258 T2 Z 2B IRMRHGI) ;

. Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance { TSR 1EH) ;

. Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China {7 ZE A
RENBEZE24EE);

. Occupational Disease Prevention Law in the People’s Republic of

China (P EE AR X MBI ERAE) 5 and

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Rights
and Interests of Women (P ZE A B HMEFE L m REE) .
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The Group prioritises health and safety as the critical operational
principle, thereby embedding a robust health and safety awareness
across all operational business. The Group’s comprehensive
Occupational Health and Safety (‘OHS”) Management System ensures
that staff are trained with the capability to work safely and respond
to emergencies effectively. Aligned with legal requirements, the Group
maintains rigorous risk identification and management procedures
such as the OHS Management System. These procedures are governed
by internal task forces and implemented by relevant departments of
each business unit.

Under its health and safety framework, clear responsibilities are
assigned across departments. The Social Security Management Centre
proactively identifies workplace hazards, investigates and reports
incidents to local authorities, and develops corrective action plans
against identified hazards. The Safety Quality Department monitors the
classification of occupational hazards, identifies their sources, assesses
their impacts, and enforces preventive controls. Meanwhile, the Project
Management Department conducts regular hazardous material testing
and refines corresponding production processes.

With the uncompromising goal of zero fatalities and zero life-
threatening or life-altering injuries and illnesses, the Group has
implemented protective measures against OHS risks and hazards to
ensure its employees’ well-being. All employees receive mandatory
OHS training prior to their work commencement and are equipped
with proper personal protective equipment (‘PPE") in workplace. To
ensure effective contingency actions, working areas maintain fully
stocked first-aid kits and unobstructed emergency exits. Furthermore,
designated employees are responsible for conducting routine checks
and maintaining detailed implementation records of on-site health and
safety-related regulations to ensure policy adherence.
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Through regular communications via digital platforms such as group
chats and physical bulletin boards, the Group reinforces its employees’
safety awareness on workplace hazards. Meanwhile, the Group
maintains its employees’ emergency preparedness and contingency
capability through safety drills. In particular, the Group has developed
the following measures to address workers’ health and safety issues:

. Conducting emergency response drills, fire drills and safety
inspections;

. Prohibiting smoking and liquor drinking in the workplace;

. Providing counselling services for employees to maintain good

psychological health; and

. Providing annual health and safety training.

To further enhance its employees well-being, the Group’s Human
Resources Department organises annual physical examinations for all
employees, while all canteen workers are required to obtain a health
certificate before the start of work.

In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards that have a significant impact on
the Group. In the past three years (including FY2024/2025), the Group
recorded zero work-related fatalities, while there were 2 work-related
injuries involving 2 employees with 240 lost days due to work injury
during the year under review.
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B.3. #RERIE

B.3. Development and training

The Group acknowledges that its employees’ career development fosters
its long-term success, thereby placing high emphasis on this aspect.
The provision of training not only enhances the working capacity and
professional skills of employees but also improving the Group’s overall
competitiveness and reputation. To facilitate its employees’ personal
growth and development, the Group has formulated the Educational
Training Control Measures (A& 3/Il4RIZEHIF2 ) to summarise the
arrangement of training programmes tailored to its employees.

Trainings are provided to both new employees and experienced
employees. The Group provides induction trainings to newly hired
employees, allowing them to familiarise with the Group’s corporate
history and culture, business development and internal policies. For
experienced employees, the Group provides them with relevant training
courses with reference to their roles and responsibilities. For instance,
the Group provides its directors with courses on internal control, risk
control management and regulatory updates for continuous training
to enhance their governance competencies. Leveraging its online video
learning platform, the Group regularly organises sharing conferences for
different departments to promote continuous learning, driving growth
and development of the Group and its employees.

Meanwhile, the Group provides its employees with financial support to
pursue their career goals. To encourage its employees to enhance their
competitiveness and capabilities, eligible staff are allowed to reimburse
the fees for participating in external seminars, programmes, or courses
that equip them with additional knowledge and skills relevant to their
current job duties.

In FY2024/2025, the Group provided a total of 357 hours of training
to 23 employees. For details on the number of trained employees and
average training hours, please refer to Tables S5 and S6 in the chapter
headed Appendix.
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B.4.

Labour standard

In FY2024/2025, the Group adhered to relevant laws and regulations in
its operational regions relating to the prohibition of child and forced
labour for employment, including but not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (Cap. 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {HrEE A LA
EO&5 &%) 5 and

. Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (2= -1 R
BETHRE).

In alignment with the requirements of the SA8000 Standard, the Group
has established internal policies of “The Prohibition of Child Labour
Policy and Remedial Procedures”. The Group maintains a zero-tolerance
stance against illegal employment of child labour, underage worker and
forced labour. Therefore, the Group’s Human Resources Department
conducts thorough background investigations and meticulous
verification of all candidate documentation prior to formal hiring.

In addition to ensuring and promoting full compliance with internal
policies on preventing child and forced labour, the Group’s Human
Resources Department is responsible for monitoring the changes of
relevant laws and regulations and updating the internal policies.
Employment information is reported to relevant government and
regulatory authorities half a year.

In case of substantiated violations of labour standards, the Group will
immediately terminate relevant employment contracts, and responsible
staff involved in the employment procedures may receive disciplinary
actions when deemed necessary by the management.

In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations

relating to preventing child and forced labour that have a significant
impact on the Group.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

B.5.

Supply chain management

Dedicated to eradicating environmental and social risks along
its value chain, the Group sets up a comprehensive supply chain
management system that takes ESG-related issues into accounts. With
the aims to establish and maintain a sustainable, resilient and reliable
supply chain, all subsidiaries of the Group take the responsibility for
monitoring the quality of engaged suppliers and supplied goods on a
regular basis.

Supplier Engagement and Risk Management

To oversee the procurement processes of construction materials, the
Group has established a specific department and team to identify
eligible suppliers and contractors through public tendering and
strategic cooperations. In addition to engagement meetings, the Group
maintains close communications with its suppliers and contractors
through channels such as WeChat and email to strengthen the
partnerships. With these platforms, the Group easily discusses issues
including green building materials, eco-friendly practices, and the latest
government policies with its suppliers.

Through conducting due diligence before the selection and engagement
with any potential suppliers, the Group minimises environmental and
social risks along its value chain. A Supplier Evaluation System has
been implemented to perform the Graded Evaluation on the Group’s
suppliers. Meanwhile, the Group conducts on-site inspections, supplier
audits, and in-field verifications annually to ensure full compliance to
relevant regulations and responsible practices. In case of any identified
risks regarding the violation of labour rights or environmental laws and
regulations, the Group will take actions to prevent future collaborations
with relevant suppliers and their participation in future bidding
processes.

Regarding the selection of suppliers, the Group implements a
rigorous screening process, which requires suppliers to demonstrate
their technical expertise, good track record, and compliance with
environmental and social standards with relevant qualifications
and certificates. Selection criteria include bidding ratings, industry
recommendations, and market reputation, as well as on-site
assessments of potential suppliers’ completed projects to evaluate their
technical competencies. Approved suppliers are added to the Group’s
“List of Qualified Suppliers”, with annual reviews of their qualifications
conducted by its Quality Control Department.
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Following tender selection, the Group’s relevant department closely
collaborates with qualified suppliers to implement development plans
while overseeing the quality and progress of each project’s completion.
The Group continuously applies quality control procedures to its
suppliers, and the quality of supplied materials at multiple stages of the
construction process is assessed. In particular, suppliers and contractors
are required to acquire the acceptance of the Electric Power Supply
Bureau and the Institute of Quality Inspection and Construction Bureau,
with the standards of their power supply and construction projects
evaluated respectively.

The Group maintains stable and reliable relationships with its suppliers
by signing the Quality Agreements (E Z 1#%) and Long-term Strategic
Cooperation (EHIEBESE) with its major suppliers. With these
agreed terms and conditions, the Group ensures stable supply of quality
goods and services. To further ensure the quality of its construction
projects, the Group conducts stringent inspections on all incoming

materials in alignment with its Quality Assurance System (FA{REE 2.

Green Procurement

The Group strives to minimise environmental impacts brought by its
entire supply chain. Therefore, the Group prioritises to engage with
suppliers with eco-friendly goods, services or production processes. To
promote responsible sourcing throughout its value chain, the Group is
currently planning to transit to local procurement of its tools, fixtures,
raw materials, packaging materials and chemicals in a stepwise
manner.

In FY2024/2025, the Group was in partnership with a total of 44
major suppliers, with 40 from Mainland China and 4 from Hong
Kong. Meanwhile, all major suppliers were covered by the Group’s
supplier engagement and management policies, and 88% of the major
suppliers were covered by its green procurement policies. The Group’s
procurement team is responsible for implementing these policies
while the corresponding business unit is responsible for the task of
monitoring.
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B.6.

Product responsibility

In FY2024/2025, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress that have
a significant impact on the Group. Due to its business nature, issues
relating to labelling were neither material nor relevant to the Group
and hence no relevant information was disclosed in this report during
the year under review.

Quality Assurance and Recalling Procedures

To address its customers’ needs and provide high-quality products, the
Group has implemented a set of quality assurance processes, which
aim to ensure the delivery of satisfactory products and services, across
its business segments. Meanwhile, any non-conforming products are
subject to prompt recall in order to protect the rights and interests of
the Group’s customers.

In FY2024/2025, no products of the Group were subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

Property Development and Management Business

During the year under review, the Group strictly adhered to relevant
laws and regulations on property development and management,
including but not limited to:

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Road Traffic Safety =
EANRBHNBEBEBLEEE);

. Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China {FZE AR
HABEEEZL);

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction
Projects (5% T2 Z 2 £ EEIEKA]); and

. Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects

(BRIBEEEEERM).
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Emphasising product quality, the Groups has set up specific targets for
its property development projects. At the initial phase of each project,
the Group develops technical standards and construction plans with
reference to the 1S09001:2015 Quality Management Systems. The Group
assigns the Operation Department to conduct regular inspections for
monitoring construction processes, ensuring full compliance with the
project plan and taking immediate resolutions to adjust the plan if
there is any significant deviation.

Meanwhile, the Group’s Engineering Department is tasked with
handling other quality assurance-related issues. Regular evaluations
on the property quality are conducted throughout the whole projects.
During the construction process, relevant government agencies are
involved, ensuring that final products are fully complied with the
standards.

Safety management of the entire construction process is monitored
with an additional professional team. To secure the safety of the
Group’s and contractors’ staff, a reporting mechanism and contingency
plan have been established to report and handle public emergencies
at construction sites promptly and efficiently. Furthermore, project
managers and professional engineers conduct routine inspections and
evaluations on the quality of contractors’ work while keeping track of
the safety and quality of the Group’s properties at each construction
phase, ensuring strict compliance with relevant requirements and
maintaining high standards.

The Group’s Engineering Department carries out the quality assurance
acceptance for all construction projects prior to the properties” handing
over to customers. The quality of the delivered properties is regularly
examined by qualified property companies, and facilities including
elevators undergo routine maintenance by third-party maintenance
companies.
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Promotion and Advertising

The Group has established internal guidelines for its Marketing
Department to work in accordance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to marketing and advertising, including the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China {(FZEARHEMEIESE). The
Marketing Department takes the responsibility for delivering accurate
information regarding the Group’s products and services to customers.
Any misrepresentation or exaggeration of offerings is strictly prohibited.

To ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the Group’s
legal counsel is responsible for reviewing the sales and marketing
materials before public release while providing legal advice on
safeguarding the Group’s intellectual property rights.

Customer Satisfaction and Complaint Handling

An After-sales Services Department has been established within
the Group’s property development and management business to
maintain its customers’ satisfaction and improve their experiences.
The department is responsible for collecting customers” feedback and
responding to queries raised from satisfaction surveys. With ongoing
constructive communications and mutual understandings with its
customers, the Group is dedicated to further enhancing its business
performance and delivering excellent products and services.

Additionally, the Group prioritises to address any concerns raised by its
customers, thereby regularly conducting customer satisfaction surveys.
The Group has implemented a complaint resolution mechanism to
effectively minimise the risk of causing disruptions on the customers’
business operations. Once any complaints are received, the Group
will immediately identify the causes and address the issues. This
ensures that resolution is delivered within a reasonable timeframe and
recurrence is prevented.

In FY2024/2025, no substantial complaints regarding its products and
services were received.
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Data Security and Customer Privacy

Recognising the importance of privacy protection, the Group places
a great emphasis on privacy protection with the implementation of
relevant policies to safeguard all customers’ interests. Relevant policies
implemented provide guidelines for proper collection, use, and storage
of personal and sensitive information in compliance with the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China {9V ZE A
RHEFMEME NS B RE % )and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

In accordance with relevant legal requirements, the Group ensures that
sensitive customer information is solely used for its collection purpose.
Without prior consent, employees with the access to customer contact
information are strictly prohibited to disclose such data to any third
parties. All collected data are confidentially handled and stored in an
encrypted database to prevent unauthorised access, collection, leakage,
hacking, abuse or misuse of personal information, demonstrating the
Group’s responsibility of safeguarding data security.

In FY2024/2025, the Group’s policies and procedures aforementioned
were effectively implemented and monitored by its designated
departments, and no substantial complaints regarding the violation of
privacy laws and data leakage were received.

Intellectual Property Rights

Placing a great emphasis on protecting its intellectual property rights,
the Group maintains the confidentiality of its trade secrets and other
proprietary intellectual property rights with the joint efforts with its
employees. Additionally, the Group actively applies for trademarks for
any new innovations developed in-house to safeguard its products and
services from infringement.
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B.7. Anti-corruption B.7. RES

The Group is committed to creating and fostering a corporate culture
of compliance during its daily business operations. In FY2024/2025, the
Group complied with relevant laws and regulations, including but not
limited to:

. Anti-Corruption Law of the People’s Republic of China {FRZE A
EHENBEREEE);

. Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARFEMBEIR%EEED 5 and

. Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

Valuing honesty and integrity among employees, the Group’s Human
Resources Department strictly implements the code of conduct. This
standard maintains the Group’s highest ethical standards across
business operations, which were stated in the Anti-Corruption Policy
and the Employee Handbook. The Group consistently takes a zero-
tolerance approach for any forms of corruption, suspected impropriety,
misconduct or malpractice.

The Human Resources Department is tasked with monitoring
behaviours of the Group’s employees. It is expected that all employees
carry out business activities with integrity and self-discipline. No
bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or any behaviours
compromising their independence or conflicting with the Group’s
interests is allowed. Whenever employees are provided with any gifts or
souvenirs during official events, it is required to report the offerings to
the Group and seek guidelines for handling from the Head of Human
Resources Department by filling the “Report on Gifts/Advantages
Received” form.

Beyond its anti-corruption efforts along its supply chain, the responsible
personnel of the Group’s procurement is required to sign and comply
with the Integrity Responsibility Letter (B&ZF1EZE). In addition,
the Group oversees each phase of the procurement process with a
monitoring system, including reports and external audits for review.
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To address any irregularities or misconduct, the Group has established
a Whistleblowing Policy as a confidential reporting mechanism,
and whistleblowers are protected from fears of retaliation or unfair
treatment. With the secure reporting mechanism, employees are free to
directly report their concerns to respective Division/Department Heads,
while external stakeholders participating in the procurement activities
can submit reports to the Chairman of the Audit Committee through
designated mailing or email addresses for whistleblowing purposes.

Upon receiving any reports, the Audit Committee will investigate the
report promptly and confidentially. In case of any suspected criminal
activity, the Group will submit a report to relevant regulators or law
enforcement authorities when deemed necessary by the Group’s
management. Through the Audit Committee’s rigorous enforcement
and oversight of preventive controls and whistleblowing procedures,
there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the year under

review.

During the year under review, the Group complied with relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that have a significant impact on the Group. In addition,
the Group arranged a total of eight hours of anti-corruption related
seminars and workshops for one managerial staff and one general
employees in FY2024/2025.
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COMMUNITY

B.8.

Community investment

The Group acknowledges that thriving local communities are critical
to its long-term success. As part of its commitment to creating values
throughout its operations, the Group prioritises ethical operations that
respect the environment and communities. This approach has been
incorporated into the Group’s transparent and sustainable business
operations, supporting community stability and prosperity.

In FY2024/2025, the Group demonstrated its dedication through
active collaboration with community organisations and subdistrict
offices to promote local development, and 43 employees spent
47 hours volunteering in local events. Meanwhile, regular safety
programmes, including monthly fire drills, have conducted to enhance
community preparedness over years. These efforts reinforce the Group’s
commitment to maintaining flourishing communities and preserving its
social licenses of business operations.

Looking forward, the Group will maintain and strengthen community
relationships through various initiatives. These measures include
expanding local procurement opportunities, increasing community
employment and developing strategic community investment plans.
To foster mutual growth, the Group will further interact with local
communities to bring positive contributions.
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VII. APPENDIX

Table E1. The Group’s Total Emissions by Category in
FY2024/2025 and FY2023/2024°®

Emission Category

235 Gk Kl

Air Emissions

BERHFK

GHG Emissions’

BEREHEC

Non-hazardous Waste

BEEEY

98

Key Performance
Indicator (KP1)

PRI

SOx

=Ko

NOx

aaty

PM

EENEY)

Scope 1 (Direct Emissions)*
HE— (B
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect
Emissions)®

HE— (GEREEHR) °
Scope 3 (Other Indirect
Emissions)®

#[E = (ER s ©
Total (Scope 1,2 & 3)

st (@E— k=)

Domestic and Commercial Solid

Waste

LA EEEREY
Domestic and Commercial
Wastewater ’
ERCYITHESYY
Construction Wastewater
FRERREK

Unit

kg

T

kg

Tz

kg

T

tonnes of COze
WM_ELHES
tonnes of COze

WEtRES
tonnes of C0ze

W_ERES
tonnes of COze
M_ELHES
tonnes
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“ECnkE
R-gZm/ MEE RIZTZ=
ZEZRME (Bfi,/ Z—B-NHE
HEE BEET) HEE
0.2 8.87 x 10* 0.2
9.7 0.05 13
0.8 4.08x10° 0.9
17 0.09 17
3,783 2032 3,785
5 0.02 4
3,804 2043 3,805
0.45 242x10° 0.4
844 4.54 1,044
450 242 500

Intensity?
(Unit/HKS
million) in
FY2023/2024
RZIBZ=
k- o 11):7 3
HEE
(EfL/
BE#T)
9.65x 10
0.06
520 x10°

0.10

21.79

0.02

2191

230x10°

6.01

2.88



Intensity for FY2024/2025 was calculated by dividing the amount of air, GHG
and other emissions respectively by the Group’s revenue of HK$186.20 million in
FY2024/2025;

The amount and intensity in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the data in the
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2023/2024;

The methodology adopted for reporting on GHG emissions set out above was
based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard and the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories;

The Group’s Scope 1 (Direct Emissions) included only the emission arose from the
consumption of gasoline and diesel in motor vehicles, and the GHG removed by
the 580 trees planted,;

The Group’s Scope 2 (Energy Indirect Emissions) included only the emission arose
from the purchased electricity;

The Group’s Scope 3 (Other Indirect Emissions) included other indirect emissions
arose from paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity used for processing fresh
water and sewage by government departments, and business air travels;

The total amount of wastewater generated by the Group was primarily based on
direct measurement, as well as appropriate estimations assuming 100% of the
freshwater consumed by the Group will enter the sewage system in areas where
an accurate recording of the amount of wastewater was hard to obtain; and

No hazardous waste was recorded in FY2024/2025.
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Table E2. Total Resource Consumption in FY2024/2025 and

ﬁu_v_ﬂ/ E_HAMER-E

FY2023/2024
Key Performance Amount in
Use of Resources Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2024/2025
RZE-m/
ZEZnfE
BRER AR AR Efi HEE
Energy Electricity 000’ kWh 5,505
BER B/ FETRE
Gasoline L 11,000
I #
Diesel L 21
£ #
TOTAL® 000’ kWh 5,614
@ FETRE
Water Water m’ 17,544
K K AR
Paper Paper kg 65
R R =
Packaging materials Plastic tonnes 08
[2Ee B it
1. Intensity for FY2024/2025 was calculated by dividing the amount of resources 1.
that the Group consumed in FY2024/2025 by the Group’s revenue of HK$186.20
million in FY2024/2025;
2. The amount and intensity in FY2023/2024 were extracted from the data in the 2.
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2023/2024; and
3. The total energy was calculated based on the conversion factors as stated 3.

100

in the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on

Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Table S3. Number of Employees by Age Group, Gender, RSAEFN TN "1
Employment Type, Position Level, Geographical Locations of The FIRFERAR R B EER S
Group in FY2024/2025' A HIBAUBER SN E T AR
Unit:Number of employees Age Group
Bl : BTAH FH4ER
Aged Aged
Aged 30  between  between  Aged 51
Gender or below 31and 40 41and50 orabove Total
305% 515%
5 FUT 31Z405% 412505% AL “ast
Male 0 13 20 37 70
St
Female 0 8 20 5 33
gegi
Total 0 21 40 42 103
Wt
Employment Type
E{EEEE
Full time 100
i
Part time 3
TR

Position Level

5 4R 5!

General staff 71
—fRBT

Middle-level managers 16
PAREIEE

Senior management and directors 16

SREEERES
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Geographical Location

IR E

Mainland China 89
A [ P 3t

Hong Kong 14
58

Total 103
#mEt

1. The employment data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human BT ASHERREAEENRAEEST ZH

Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. The data covered employees engaged in a
direct employment relationship with the Group according to relevant local laws
and workers whose work and/or workplace was controlled by the Group within
the reporting scope. The methodology adopted for reporting on employment
data set out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

1 02 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

STUREREX  RAERNANE RS
ES EHEBRERSTHERNREREE]
EREREAEREERERARNES
MURETEM,/ st TIEBHZRERES
BT - EXREBIBIEFARANSZE
TEREZPEMN(NARERIRERE g
RERARE W= L EMRBERIER
BEERIESI) -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1ERERES

Table S4. Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group, Gender and
Geographical Locations in FY2024/2025’

RA.TE—T-HEFRES
4HR MR R IBABEIOME T %k

o 4
Unit:Number of employees Age group
B BTA¥ FEER
Aged Aged
Aged 30  between  between  Aged 51
Gender or below 31and 40 41and50 orabove Total
305% 515%
5 FUT 3N1Z405% 412505 AL “ast
Male 0 2 3 1 16
St
Employee turnover rate N/A2 15.4% 15.0% 29.7% 22.9%
BITRKRER B
Female 0 0 1 0 1
gz
Employee turnover rate N/A? 0.0% 5.0% 0.0% 3.0%
BITmAE=R i
Total 0 2 4 11 17
st
Total employee turnover rate N/A? 9.5% 10.0% 26.2% 16.5%
WETMKLER B

Geographical locations

HIBME

Employee Employee
Locations turnover turnover rate
2L BTRRA# BT RKtEE
Mainland China 17 19.1%
[ P dth
Hong Kong 0 0.0%
58
1. The turnover data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human i: MENBBBEEREBEAEREEE T 2

Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. Turnover rate was calculated by dividing
the number of employees who resigned in FY2024/2025 by the number of
employees in FY2024/2025. The methodology adopted for reporting on turnover
data set out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange; and

BEINHNEREGA  RAEBNANER
IMEB - RALXREREERA_ZT N/ —F
IR ESTITBBASGU M —
ETHFHMENET ASTEESH - EX3R
EMEBURFTIRAB B ATy B B R P 8%
RN ARRRE e REARE K
%= (RS NIEEERTES]) ; K
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2. Since there was no male nor female employee aged 30 or below as of the end of
the year under review, the employee turnover rate for the categories cannot be
determined.

Table S5. Number and Percentage of Employees Trained in the
Group by Gender and Position Level in FY2024/2025"

2.

S5,

AR ELBFEERILZA0RIUTHS
M gMET BB TRALERFTER

iNE VI

ZEIN R HMELEE

BB R S AR BB D R AIBE A

BRBESL
Total number of employees trained 23
il 8428
Total number of employees as of the end of FY2024/2025 103
HEZZS-W “EHAMERETHEH
% of employees trained 22.3%
ZilfEEE AL
Unit:Number of employees Position Level
B :BTA# B RA
Senior
General ~ Middle-level ~ management
Gender staff managers  and directors Total
EREERE
151 —HRET FHREEE RES 4Bt
Male 12 3 6 21
B4
Percentage of employees trained 52.2% 13.0% 26.1% 91.3%
RilllEEB DL
Female 0 1 1 2
g3
Percentage of employees trained 0.0% 4.3% 4.3% 8.7%
RillEEBE AL
Total 12 4 7
st
Percentage of employees trained 52.2% 17.4% 30.4%

RilBEBALL

1. The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources
Department. Training refers to the vocational training that the Group’s
employees attended in FY2024/2025. The methodology adopted for reporting on
the number and percentage of employees trained set out above was based on
“How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Table $6. Training Hours Received by the Employees of the Group
by Gender and Position Level in FY2024/2025'

Unit:Training Hours

B« BB

7S6.

RN ZEZRMELRER

12 5 3521 5! Be B 55 4 31 B 73 B9 35 31| By

%(1

Position Level

BB R

Gender

il

Male

Bt

Average training hours
TIgHEEI R 2L
Female

e

Average training hours
TIgIEEIR 2

Total

st

Average training hours

T

General staff

0.0

144

2.0

Senior
Middle-level  management

managers  and directors Total
BREERE

TRERE  RES 3t

14 72 330

19.0 6.0 47

& 5 77

22 13 08

136 77 357

85 48 35

1. The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources
Department. The methodology adopted for reporting training hours set out
above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

BIBBEREERNANERBERS £
SR 5 18 5N B BOPR ER AR B9 5 R T B S B
REFEMH (N ARNIRE -t ERESR
HBE-ME=  HEAREVIERERS
)
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VIIl. REPORT DISCLOSURE INDEX VIIl. SR EWERS
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIE -8R
Em ERIEIR 1BE 2t BR
A. Environmental 115
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: 61
Al BERR) —RRIE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BRBRARERBIR AR THHNEE S - AERBEEEEYNE
+TER:
@ B, &
b) BFHETABEARZENHEBNEZERRANER -
Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under
national laws and regulations.
2 BRIENEEAEY MEtYREMZEZOEERRIRE
:pEESY/K
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
RERBEE_@th - -aftia -amaktbas® 281t
WK 7@ AL o
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
BEEEYIERIRKROIFARES
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 98
BE R $E R AR RAEE I B o
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) 98
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
Hi% @EN) RERERE GER) BRERBEIRE QUNEFTH) & WER)
BE MUSESEN SBEREHE) °
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. 99
per unit of production volume, per facility).
PREEBESEEYEE CUIEtE) k NER) BE IUSESEM-
BIERMEH) ©
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 98

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FRESREEREMESE CUETE) & WER) ZE WMUSESSE-
SIEFMETE) ©
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIg-#HER
[Em ERIER L BR
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 70
HIMFTET LM BENE B IR A IERE L BRI T B
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 63
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HERIEEERBEREEMN G L RIMPIE] IHRE B R R A ES
BB IRENA A R o
A2: Use of Resources  General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw 65
A2 BJR{EA — RN EE materials.
BMEAER (BIEER KR EAMRAKD) BBER -
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
2 BRUAREE-#E B -BF EFxESF-
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in 100
total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RENE DM ERER, REEER BRI @2 UTETR
FE 8 REBE MUSESEN -SERHEAE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 100
facility).
MFEKERERE WUSESEEN SEREE) °
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 70
I PRET L AVBE IR E A M e B AR R A IE B35 L= B AR PRER XA 27 B o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, 66
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
M SKERGE A ACR LI B RIRE » UK PRET LA KM B IR 75
B S L B AR PTEREN RO 2 BR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, 100

with reference to per unit produced.

RpmPTAEEMENEE UEEE) k WER) SEEEUGE-
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIE-#HER
Em| ERIEIR L BR
A3: The Environment  General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and 69
and Natural Resources —f&% 1§ 8 natural resources.
A3 IRIERKARER BEBETAHIRBERRABERISHEATERIBCER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural 68
resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HInEBFHHRREARABERNEAX EREHKNEESHTEN
LR
A4: Climate Change General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which 72
A4 RABREAE —ARIREE have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
HRREHER RO EEHETAELERENEAREERE TN
o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 72
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
HAER RO EEHBETAELERLENEARBHEBASE  REHT
& o
B. Social it g
Employment and Labour Practices {E{E K& % TR
B1: Employment General Disclosure Information on: 80
B1: {B1& —R @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
RN RRE -BRERSH LEFE BB - TEHE -2 R
IS AR A R ELA R 38 R 4B AU AY
@ XK
) BTFHETABAEARZENHBNEERRANER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or parttime), age 101
group and geographical region.
MR BEEE N2 BEiRE) FRARN R E RN EERE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 103

Bith) FlER Rt &8 DR EE MR R -
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIg-#HER
[Em ERIER L BR
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: 84
B2 . REHZS —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BRRELZ2 THRRIERREREREHRBEMCEN !
@ BXR;, &
b) BFHETABEARZENHEBEZERRANER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years 86
including the reporting year.
BE=F (BRERFE) SEFRTITHAIABKREEX.
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 86
RITHEEEITIER#K-
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they 85
are implemented and monitored.
P ERAN AV ZE (2 R B 2 48 I WURABRI I T R EE R A% °
B3: Development and  General Disclosure Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at 87
Training —RRINEE work. Description of training activities.
B3 ! R RIFI BREFEB BT TIEM BRI # Kk 5 AERIEUER o Mg s a8 o
Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external
courses paid by the employer.
5 EBIEREEID e EREE M ERRIMERERIZ
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 104
senior management, middle management).
RUEHNKREESR MNEREERE -HREERE) S 0NRIEETD
tbo
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 105

category.

B4R EEERE D SR EETME I TR -
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIE-#HER
Em| ERIEIR L BR
B4: Labour Standards  General Disclosure Information on: 88
B4 : % T #R —RR @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRI LEE T oiaamss T
@ HE;K
) BTFHETABEARZENHBNEERRANER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced 88
labour.
TR s RER BRI E M LU R E T Kaaflss T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 88
T B IRER BN RHERA BB U P ERERRY 25 BR
Operating Practices 2 15|
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 89
Management — ARk BIRMHEENIRIE R S RMREE
B5 @ AR EIE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 90
it & B DR HEmEm B E o
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 89
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HAl B R EREEENIES mERNITEREANNHEREE » UkiE
RARIT B ZR % o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the 89
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RS B A (R SR S IR RIRIR Rt & MR HVIB 6 UL ABREHAT
R B 7%
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and 90

110

services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
RIg-#HER
[Em ERIER L BR
B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: 91
Responsibility —RRINEE @  the policies; and
B6 : EmEaTE (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress.
BRMEHERNRFNREHEZ S - EE RERLREE UK
FER
@ XK
) BTFHETABEARZENHBNEZERRANER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 91
health reasons.
BERREXEREHMTRLZ2HEREREAMEBERKNE Db
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 93
dealt with.
RN E R ARV SR 8B LU R 75 0% ©
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property 94
rights.
3t R A B T AR PR R 8 AE R RARY 1B B o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 91
MBS TEBREREmEIKRERF -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are 94

implemented and monitored.

HAUHBEEBRRIE R RECR  DURBERIT MRS A -
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page

RIE-#HER

EE E /|:| ?E*}aﬁ %Lﬁ E:ﬂ
B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure Information on: 95
B7 . RES —RR @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BERAM LEBRRE ~ 1R~ RGRE ROt B E2AY ¢
@ BXR;, &
b) BFHETABEARZENHEBNEZERRANER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the 96
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RBEARABETANHEEERETLEEENE SHAZHNHE R
FrERAER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how 95
they are implemented and monitored.

L S8 M R U TR ER A %
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 96
HikmEERETRHENRESE-
Community 1t &
B8: Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities 97
Investment — RN EE where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
BS I tEIKE communities’ interests.
ﬁ%ﬁ%%i@’}ﬁ—i%?ﬁ’ﬁéﬁ}\ EMTHERENRREERZHE
Rt F m R

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 97

needs, health, culture, sport).
EAIEHEE WHE BESE - S IHER - BE-XE-BH) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 97

112
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Directors’ Report
EFHEHRS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025,
including an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
are set out under the section headed “Management’s Statement” in this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations
of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s environmental and social-related key performance indicators
and policies, a discussion on the compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Company and the Company’s relationship
with its employees, suppliers and customers are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statement on pages 129 to 132.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 13 the consolidated financial statements.

FABER (EF) MAREHE"ZT_1F=
A=+-HLEFEZEFERTHARNTZER
AR E M BT

EXE YL R
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EHOE BEERVBRBRRRERONAE
BERAFEZRE) BRAEERETIZRAMKR
THREMZN®REBEERER KK EER
2R BNAFREEBRE — & Lb5tH
BRAESGHREZ D

FEERMBFERNZETEEZBREEMERZ 5
iR & M BRI -

ARBZIRFERA G HEEARRRIRIERREER
BERETHARBDRERTEZEBERERZ
S URERTRAEEE - HEBRER ZH
BEHNAFRNIRF - HERERREI—H

FakDik
FEEBE_SZ_AF=B=1+—HLEEZ#¥
EhAEEHEZARZEFOHMNF129F132
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BMEEEZNE BERRERFEEZEE
HER R AR IS REM 3.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Details of completed properties held for sale of the Group are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particular of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2025 is set out in notes 23 and
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out on
page 133 this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has no distributable reserves. However, if
necessary conditions for share premium reduction are met in accordance with
applicable laws and the bye-laws of the Company, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution will become approximately HK$227,890,000 (2024: HK$544,735,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 232 of this annual report.

14
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual

report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Yuen Leong
Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director:
Liu Yu

Independent non-executive Directors:
Yap Yung

Wong Kin Ping

Chen Lanran

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the directors of the Company for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once in every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Siu Tat and
Mr. Yap Yung will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 26 to 28 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the Director’s
duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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4

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company or
an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

According to the bye-laws of the Company, the Directors and officers of the Company
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the
year.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report, there was no change to any of the information required to be
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the date of the 2024 interim report of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES AND
CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the directors of the Company or any
of their respective associates have engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group or have any other conflict of interests with
the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EFHEHRS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted on 11 September 2023 by the Company.
The share option scheme is designed to award employees for their performances
and details of the share option scheme are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the share option scheme during the reporting period, and there is no
outstanding share option as at 31 March 2025.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.
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Directors’ Report

EREHRS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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Approximate

percentage of the

Capacity in which Number of Shares issued share capital

Name interests are held interested of the Company

BHEE HEATEET

o 2Pt ] FERZEZ SR ZRHBE REZBHOBESL

Long Grand Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 12,887,473,880 (L) 63.43%

RBRARRE (i) BE#EAA

Yam Yu (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 12,887,473,880 (L) 63.43%

EF (fish) N2EGEE 2 #ia

L denotes long position

Note: Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Yam Yu. By
virtue of Mr. Yam Yu’s 100% direct interest in Long Grand Limited, Mr. Yam Yu is deemed
or taken to be interested in the 12,887,473,880 shares held by Long Grand Limited for
the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant
interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2025.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related party transactions” as disclosed in note 25(d) to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 constituted
discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related party transactions” constituted connected

transaction as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during
the year ended 31 March 2025. The Directors are also not aware of any material
litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group has been involved in
numerous ongoing legal proceedings and claims. The management has made full
provision for the accrued charges and has been pursuing favorable settlement
solutions with the plaintiffs.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s largest customer and five largest customers for the year ended 31 March
2025 accounted for approximately 30.55% (2024: 52.44%) and 71.70% (2024: 72.67%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue for the year.

The Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers for the year ended 31 March
2025 accounted for approximately 26.63% (2024: 64.83%) and 61.49% (2024: 87.4%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

According to the understanding of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest customers or suppliers
at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES
The Company has not redeemed any of its securities during the year ended 31 March
2025, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or, sold any of
the Company’s securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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Directors’ Report

EREHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out under the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 6 February
2023 and CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL Partners”) has been appointed as the auditor
of the Company with effect from the same date to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of BDO Limited.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by CL Partners. CL Partners will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of CL Partners as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ERVE £

@CL Partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS SETTLEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(BREEEEZERERAE)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Business
Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together as the
“Group”) set out on pages 129 to 231, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statement” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L GRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of properties held for sale

We identified the impairment assessment of properties held for sale as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant management estimations
involved in determining the net realisable value of properties held for sale.

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
properties held for sale amounted to approximately HK$809,717,000 at 31 March
2025.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are determined based on best available information and
latest market conditions. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price
arising from any changes to the property market conditions in the People’s Republic
of China, there may be write-down on the properties held for sale.

The management of the Group determined the net realisable value by reference to
the independent valuation report prepared by an independent qualified professional
valuer, for which significant management estimations are required in determining
forecast selling price and cost of completion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of properties held for sale (Continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment of
properties held for sale included:

. Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the provision policy
adopted in relation to properties held for sale and assessing whether the
provision policy is properly and consistently implemented,;

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the performance of property markets,
significant assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation and the
management’s critical judgmental areas;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models; and

. Comparing the selling price estimated by the management of the Group to
publicly available information on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment of leasing
and trading of computer equipment business

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment relating
to the cash-generating unit of leasing and trading of computer equipment business
as key audit matter due to the significant judgement involved by the management in
impairment assessment. In view of the financial performance of the cash-generating
unit of leasing and trading of computer equipment business, the Group performed
impairment assessment on the relevant cash-generating unit at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group’s property, plant and equipment of leasing and trading of computer
equipment business stated at net carrying amounts of approximately HK$34,941,000
as at 31 March 2025.

For the impairment assessment, the Group appointed an independent external
valuer to assess the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment relating
to the cash-generating unit of leasing and trading of computer equipment business.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment

included:
. Understanding the key controls over management’s impairment assessment;
. Discussing with management whether any impairment indicator exists and

basis for the impairment assessment;

. Evaluating the competence, capacities and objectivities of the independent
external valuer taking account its experience and qualifications;

. Assessing the methodology used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions adopted in the valuation; and

. Checking the accuracy and relevance of the significant input data used.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH

GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L GRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Chi Kin

Practising Certificate Number P08415

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

tRe R m R HM I mR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE _E " HFE=HB=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
ZETRE = r1s = 5
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET TFHET
Continuing operations: FHEREER .
Revenue A 6 186,195 173,689
Cost of sales and services THE MIRFE R A (217,426) (137,173)
Gross (loss) profit E (38 # (31,231) 36,516
Other income, gains and losses EHMURA -~ W g8 8 13,232 9,383
Administrative and other expenses THREME R (22,338) (19,157)
Share of losses of an associate B —REE AT EE (3,974) (6,513)
Impairment loss of property, MW EREERERE
plant and equipment (70,600) -
Impairment loss of properties held for sale FEYEZ RERE 19 (51,851) (13,198)
Impairment loss of trade and other receivables FEUWL & 57 BRIE K EL fth & Ui BR I8
ZIRERE (148,426) (2,330)
Finance costs B E A 9 (56,223) (56,668)
Loss before taxation FRF AT 1R (371,411) (51,961)
Income tax expenses FriSiRp= 10 (15,940) (9,366)
Loss for the year from continuing operations 134848 & ¥ FE M E N EIE " (387,351) (61,327)
Discontinued operations: BARIEREER
Loss for the year from discontinued BAILEKEEHEDN
operations FREE 38 - (63,813)
Loss for the year FAKE (387,351) (125,140)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ZSAT)HEE AELERNEIS :
the Company:
— from continuing operations —REFEEEET (228,747) (50,580)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIERE = (9,088)
(228,747) (59,668)
Loss for the year attributable to JEEEFI R (L E R
non-controlling interests: K518 :
— from continuing operations — R BRFEREEE (158,604) (10,747)
— from discontinued operations —REBEARIEREER - (54,725)
(158,604) (65,472)
Loss for the year FREE (387,351) (125,140)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ARaRm R H M2 EINER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE _E " HFE=H=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-REF —ETmE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET TFHET
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREMEE D) KA
for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  BIFE* E B EH# 7485
profit or loss: BmEE
Share of other comprehensive expense of an  FE{E—SKEE = A BIHY
associate Hih2mAx (608) -
Exchange differences arising on translation of B BINERMFIREREEZ
financial statements of foreign operations PE R Z=%E 1,798 1,555
1,190 1,555
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 ER L4258 (386,161) (123,585)
Total comprehensive expense for the year XABHEEANEBEERNZE@
attributable to owners of the Company: B 4B%E .
— from continuing operations —REARFEREET (227,875) (46,357)
— from discontinued operations —REBR LSS - (11,902)
(227,875) (58,259)
Total comprehensive expense for the year JEEHIEREMTEANEEMS
attributable to non-controlling interests: 4a%E .
— from continuing operations —REFEREEE (158,286) (8,927)
— from discontinued operations —REBARIEREER - (56,399)
(158,286) (65,326)
(386,161) (123,585)
Loss per share — basic and diluted (HK cents) &858 —E AR i## GE1L)
— from continuing operations —REFEREER 12 (1.13) (0.25)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEKE XS 12 - (0.04)
(1.13) (029)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ERE MR

Asat31March2025 R _E_HE=BA=+—H

2025 2024
—EZRE —ENE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE

Property, plant and equipment M- WEKREE 13 178,737 353,615
Intangible assets mEEE 14 — =
Goodwill e 15 2,228 =
Interest in an associate R—KEEAB) 2w 16 103,751 108,333
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 18 61,599 68,981
Amount due from an associate ER—ZREE A BIRIE 16 31,744 31,089
378,059 562,018

Current assets REEE
Loan receivables B ER 17 — =
Properties held for sale FEYE 19 809,717 926,706
Trade and other receivables FEUR B 5 BRI R EthFEUR AR 18 20 41,933 142,483
Factoring receivables FEWRIB RN IE 21 = =
Restricted bank deposits ZIRFIRITER 22 648 440
Bank balances and cash RITHEERIRE 22 315,413 334,518
1,167,711 1,404,147

Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 BR I8 K Lt FE (T AR 1B 23 751,459 678,402
Borrowings &R 24 531,038 512,586
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE A< JE 422 51| 4 7 TR 1B 25 51,254 51,905
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE R ARG A BIFRIA 25 1,612 1,624
Amount due to an associate B —REE AR IE 16 - 3,580
Tax liabilities GRE=Fi| 31,706 31,891
Contract liabilities HHBEE 26 5,956 84,254
Lease liabilities HESRE 27 2,864 3,526
1,375,889 1,367,768
Net current (liabilities) assets wEN (BR) BESE (208,178) 36,379
Total assets less current liabilities mEERRSEE 169,881 598,397
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ARE MR

Asat 31 March 2025 R—_ZE_HR&E=B=+—H

2025 2024
—E"RE —ZT 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B s FHET TFAT
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 - 21,572
Lease liabilities 27 486 269
486 21,841
Net assets 169,395 576,556
Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 20,319 20,319
Reserves 282,659 510,534
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Zti/&ﬂ T?E_ﬁ ANFE(L s 302,978 530,853
Non-controlling interests (133,583) 45,703
Total equity 169,395 576,556
On behalf of the board of directors REREEE

Yuen Leong
=s=
RUT

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ralEmERR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE _E " HFE=HB=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATEE AES
Capital Non-
Share Statutory Share  Contributed  redemption  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium surplus reserve reserve losses Sub-Total interests Total
BHRE
BE  EEHE ROEE  BHRE ks MEEE  RHER NGt SRR fer ]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000
FEw FER FhR T FEw FER T TR FEw FET
(Note 28) (Note b) (Note 29) (Note a)
(Mi3k28) (Hfzh) (529) (Mi3ta)
At 1 April 2023 RZBEZZZMF—A 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3781 31,258 (8,528,409) 589,648 32,780 622,428
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (59,668) (59,668) (65472) (125,140)
Other comprehensive income for the year EREMEERA - - - - - 1409 = 1409 146 1555
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year ERZ2ENA (%) 1858 - - - - - 1409 (59,668) (58,259) (65,326) (123,585)
Capital contribution from a non-controlling RE-ZHBAT
shareholder of a subsidiary FERRRNTE - - - - - - = = 207,932 207932
Disposal of a subsidiary HEWBAZ - - - - - (536) = (536) (129,683) (130,219)
At 31 March 2024 RIE-ME=A=+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 32,131 (8,588,077) 530,853 45,703 576,556
At 1 April 2024 RZBE_MNENA-A 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 32,131 (8,588,077) 530,853 45703 576,556
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (228,747) (228,747) (158,604) (387,351)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEZERA - - - - - 872 - 872 318 1,190
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year ER2ENA (B%) 1858 - - - - - 872 (228,747) (227,875) (158,286) (386,161)
Payment to non-controlling interest BB IE LB R R
on repurchase of shares of a subsidiary BFEEHREIR - = = = = = = = (21,000) (21,000)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=+-H 20319 1,45 9,009,799 51,655 3781 33,003 (8,816,824) 302978 (133,583) 169,395
Notes: Mk -
@) The capital redemption reserve represents amounts transferred from contributed  (a) EARELHEBIENRBEAABRGEEEH
surplus upon the repurchase of the Company’s shares. BEREERE 2 IB o
(b) According to relevant laws and regulation of the PRC, an entity established under  (b) RIFHEAER AR ROER ) IRIBHEABAR

the PRC Company Law is required to make an appropriation at 10 percent of the
profit for the year as shown in the PRC statutory financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC, to the
statutory reserve until the balance reached 50 percent of the registered capital
of the entity. The reserve appropriated can only be used to make up losses or to
increase the registered capital of the entity and is not distributable.

YHERAZRBIEAR G RARRZH
B 7 € A 35 ¥R A P A B ) B9 109688 18 2 0%
EHE BEEHEFEIZEREMELDN
50%7# L o ATEE RBRE D AN BRI A
EIEMZBEREMES > MAR AR DK
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,ﬁr::iEEEEﬁEEEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE _ =

“hE=ZR=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—EB_RE =Sl )=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & ZEFISZHER=E
Loss before taxation PRIR ARS8
— from continuing operations -REBFEREER (387,351) (61,327)
— from discontinued operations -REBRIEEEER = (63,813)
(387,351) (125,140)
Adjustments for: RELTIER
Income tax expenses Frisfmx 15,940 9,366
Depreciation of property, MZE--BERREZITE
plant and equipment 108,674 111,354
Amortisation of intangible assets W B E - 123
Impairment loss on other receivables, net HtEWERIB R BI85 58 2,363 2,030
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net FEWE ZRIB 2 RERIEFEE 146,063 1,186
Impairment loss on property, MW E KRR ERERE
plant and equipment 70,600 13,589
(Reversal of) impairment loss on amount (&R B —RBEABRIBLZ
due from an associate BEETR (13) 548
Provision of inventories FERERE = 9,245
Share of losses of an associate F’%TE K= ABE1E 3,974 6,513
Impairment loss of properties held for sale FEYEREEE 51,851 13,198
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEW B QB W - 812)
Government grant recognised BEERBATER - (17,526)
Interest income A EWA (13,235) (12,635)
Interest expenses FIEREX 56,223 63,062
Operating cash flows before movements in HEBSEERIZ
working capital KEBPERE 55,089 74,101
Decrease in properties held for sale FEYE R 60,339 32,980
Increase in trade and other FEWE 5 iR 1B R H hE UK AR 1B
receivables &0 (45,188) (137,842)
Increase in inventories FEIEM = (7,831)
Increase in trade and other payables BB ZRBR MBI IRIE
)i 8,185 38,687
Decrease in contract liabilities sHa&ERLD (78,234) (42,197)
Cash generated from (used in) operations FriS (FRE) & 191 (42,102)
Government grants received BT E B = 17,526
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE _E " HFE=HB=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
e R 5 =Sl )= 5
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mok FAET TFHET
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) R EEFRE (FRA) 2
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFEE 191 (24,576)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  REEFEFIEZHERE
Interest received BWF B 13,235 12,635
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEY BB K& H 13 = (63,938)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE - (1,532)
Prepayment for purchases of equipment BERERIETANRIE
and software - (14,037)
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed ~HEM B AT IGHERS 37 = 882
Advance to an associate E—XKEE AT BN (768) (31,637)
(Addition) release of restricted bank deposits ~ (¥f1) 252 PRHERITEIX (212) 215
Payment to non-controlling interest on (OB b B A B B 10 M FEFE
repurchase of shares of a subsidiary MR (21,000) -
(8,745) (97,412)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & E;REIFTRAZIREFE
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ BiEEBIFRSZIRERE
Capital injection from non-controlling interests 28 B JEiZ G T 2+ & - 183,672
Repayment to non-controlling interests BB IE TR mIE (349) =
Interest paid on borrowings B ERHE - (5,503)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEEHE (532) (700)
Repayment of borrowings BEER = (65)
(Repayment to) advance from an associate BT BIKE—REHE AT (3,516) 3,580
Repayment to ultimate holding company EERRIERATNIE (12) (12)
Repayment of principal portion of EREEaBENAEED
the lease liabilities (5,503) (5,612)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING REEE (FTA) RS2 RE 358
ACTIVITIES (9,912) 175,360
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND HERREEEY G B
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (18,466) 53,372
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHNZRERFAETEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 334,518 268,997
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES RERREEEMEREH 2
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B (639) 12,149
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZ|ERFATEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash LRI HFRIREMREE 315,413 334,518
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

1. GENERAL

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The immediate
and ultimate holding company is Long Grand Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Yam Yu. Its registered
office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The principal activity of the Company continues to be
investment holding. Detail of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(@ Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has no material impact on the Group’s performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments’

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature — Dependent
Electricity’

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 17°

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards mentioned below, the Directors
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

2. PRI ERMBRSERGEE
AR EAZ5T 7 (@)

(b) BEEMERRERZMIETEMBR
SR G FEREET A

AEBTEIEFEAUTEEMBEBRERZH

S EBYHREE SR R EBITA
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PEREBGTHED] PEZEZEESED
£5285% (185]7K) S
ERGHENENGE SR

CHES

EBVBRSERBOR 2H T AN IERABZE
REBMBREER T
H75% (EFT )

BRMBREERET: KBEEALERLEEIHE
REBMBREER AP
H75% (EFT )

BRMBREER G SEYBREERSHER

/| (1B5T ) HIEE I —F117P
BBV RS ER IR FIZ 5 R 1% 55
518%%

! REEBRAz BB FERBER -

2 R-Z-hF-—A— Az &M FERBE
Be

e RTETREFE-A-—HRZERBZFEREE
R o
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MBBRRERERTE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material impact on the financial
position of the Group. The directors of the Company are in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of HKFRS 18, but is not yet in a position to state whether
the adoption would have a material impact on the presentation and disclosures of
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation

of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such

information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures

required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

(c) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company and most of the group entities are Hong

Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”), respectively, while the consolidated

financial statements are presented in HK$. As the Company is listed on the Main

Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the

directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt HK$ as the Group’s

and the Company’s presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

(e) Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$208,178,000 while its bank
balances and cash amounted to HK$315,413,000 as at 31 March 2025. The Directors
are of the opinion that taking into account of the good relationship between the
relevant banks, other lenders and the Company, enhancing the Group’s ability
on negotiating extension agreements, or seeking new long-term debts to replace
existing short-term debts, when needed as well as internally generated funds of
the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements
for the next twelve months from 31 March 2025. In addition, up to the date of
the consolidated financial statements authorised for issue, the Group’s borrowings
amounting to HK$377,736,000 currently included in current liabilities at 31 March
2025 have been renewed by a lender to extend the maturity date by twelve months.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(@) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Group. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provide
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee, (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change
in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

() Associates (Continued)

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred, they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are
carried at cost less impairment losses, if any.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
from goods sold or services provided, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The
Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

142

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

4. BEREHEEREHN @

(0 HMEXRR @
BMEABDNEBEDEAR BILBME AT EA
AL WRHREESMAEBBGHE
AEEEFENRBEREH TLEHEE  EBEX
EERBMERTNRENEESE T UES &
FEERMEZFER-

FEFEEBMERT ZENRZEEREF RE
BERTEAREENBELADEARER ST
Bl - RER G EENKREERGBME QAT A
REGERABERATNREERHE -EXREHBIE
IREFMEBEEERENRSE A GRIR N B

0.0

MEE RS ENNERNEAERRBEEWBE R
EE -BRARHAERAAEBNERZEEER
BEXTE ABMEATNREAE MARKEAT
ZREDEBENTEERS BIZEAEMIFER
BEEMARNSAMKENRAEETAERS

RERBDZHHRRER  RBEATDNRER
PRABURER R (N8) 78R

(d) UTAHESR

WAT % B HEE RIIRHRT 2 BB
BZRARESE LRI RHEEERRIE
AEBEDBRANBRS  EWATERENA 5
&, ERKREENmARERDER , REX
EREREEXFHETAEEER P T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the asset.

(i)  sales of properties

For property development and sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time and there is no enforceable right to payment from
the customers for performance completed to date, revenue is recognised when
the customer obtains the physical possession and the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

(i)  Property management services

The Group provides property management services in the PRC. Revenue from
provision of property management services is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance and invoices are issued on a monthly basis.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iiiy Computer equipment leasing and trading service

Under HKFRS 15, computer equipment leasing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered. The Group charge a fixed and variable amount of service provided and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to charge and
corresponds directly with the value of performance completed.

Customers obtain control of the computer equipment when the goods are delivered
to and have been accepted. Revenue from trading of computer equipment is
thus recognised upon when the goods are delivered and customers accepted the
computer equipment. There is generally only one performance obligation. Invoices
are usually payable within 15 days.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of
expected residual value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Machinery 10 years
Server equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements Over the terms of lease or 3 years
Whichever is shorter
Buildings Over the terms of lease or 40 years

Whichever is shorter

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress
is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use
are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of construction in progress
until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised
in profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases) are required
to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)  Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment”, the same
line item within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability should be recognised at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease
term that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability
by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications,
e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a
change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)  Leasing (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The Group accounts
for the measurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(g) Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a prorate basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset

(or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a

CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

(h)  Properties held for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are included in current assets and stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, and
other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties held for sale
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

()  Financial instruments

()  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest
(“SPPI™).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised costs: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised costs. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the
Group could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s
fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables and deposits, restricted bank balance and bank balances and
cash) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant
financing components. Except for debtors related to the leasing of computer
equipment were assessed individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix grouped based on past due status of the trade
receivables.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.

150

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

4. BEREHEEREHN @

i) E=WMIAE®

(i) TREENRESE (8
FEB-—ERNTFEERREENEDIHEWE
ZERARSEHEREER R - REMEEE
HWRENEF NETER G GRTREES
RIEREBEWE Z IRBEN BN IR E R ERE
AR RIS o

MHEMEHERMEEMS > BRRNEEBEDER
RERBHMEEBIEME - AM HEEARES
HIRLURAR ET B HERERERRRER
F5IBME °

ERECHEENGEERRES BVGREERA
tRIg o B FRREEBER  AEEE
BEIEANHBZ M A S HER A ESERR
GENIEEN -EEREREAEENELLR
RABEEFEUREENBREER EmET
EEMTEMER DM -

FEERRR HARBB30H ENEENEE
R & R IEIE N

FEERDHEMEERN TIBERTEEEER
B (NERATKAEETEREFFHINEER
Hifm WA NERETH TorEERTHE
THEESME ; ARE=/MBEEBIBB0R -

HREEAENSREE HSRARSREE
2 S A (BDRRTE A RS 1R R ) 31 B o 7R3k
EERENSREETS HSRAREERE
E-E

(i) EMEE
FEEREEEELEENNEMEBRET IR
BRAnESF A\ BaNEMEa®N I BARES
&> MRBHENAFENEREGV IR ANE
HREEBARERE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables, borrowings,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amount due to ultimate holding company
and amount due to an associate, using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v}  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

(vi)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECLs provision; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the principles
of HKFRS 15.
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31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result
of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(j Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial
position include: (a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and (b) cash equivalents,
which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitment. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)  Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and necessary to make the sale.

() Taxation
Income taxes expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes
and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised
assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

() Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

(m) Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of
the primary economic environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences
are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

154

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

4. BEXGHEEREH @

) 5\ @

EER IS E 2 REE SR REAFRR > L
T BARHERREN T RE 2 HABHE
ER R o

BIEMBEERSERBHEANAESENE
ESRBEZREHE UUNRREHFREHE
HEBE LRIEZMEK (RiE) RE%E-

EIERBREREEZSFERMAERRREN
BEMARNONEEEEERARZREEZS
NEEZHRBRR

BVRA R RAE AR IR D IR 1B m FERD » R E H 2|
WAREEZENERNREZEEBMERI T
BT B RIEEMIBR DR G EHM 2 E
WA BN EDAES AR EBSHET
Ve g st RIBEMAE S Z BNER R IA SR ERR IA M
B MBRENSHAERBOH IS RER-

(m) ShE&
SEERBUARKREMEFERERIEZEE (D)
BEE®)) UINZERET I RGERTZELER
ZHEITEREAR - INEEREERERIZRETH
KRBT ZEZBRE - LUIMNEFERARNEIRZ
FERBEEREECAABEE HBETZEXENHR
BoDUANESHERELRAGFEZIFEEKIBER T
BEMRE

HEEEREERMEEREEEE ZERERR
PREEHEEEaTES - AERTREZEAR
BIRZIFEREEMEE ZERERAT 5T AR
Bz EmA s R B2 Em WA PR W
REBENIIFEEEEMEE Z Z8MRIN RIEE
BT BRERRI N HMEE A PSS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place are
used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the
Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in the translation reserve.

(n) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.
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31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(0) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related cost are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivables.

(p) Employee benefits

()  Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service.
Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render
the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(q) Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probable result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligation, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)  Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is
a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key
management personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(r) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities,
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
()  Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group
makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating unit to which the asset is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit which the assets belongs
to and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision
previously made. The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is an indication that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. Details
of impairment of property, plant and equipment is set out in note 13.

(i)  Impairment of properties held for sale

The Group’s properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$809,717,000 as at 31
March 2025 (2024: HK$926,706,000). The net realisable value is the estimated selling
price less estimated selling expenses, which are determined by the management
of the Company based on best available information and latest market conditions.
Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any changes
to the property market conditions in the PRC, there may be write-down on the
completed properties held for sale. Details of properties held for sale is set out in
note 19.

(iii) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to taxation in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgment
is required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing
of the related payments. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will have impact on the income tax and/or
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(ivy Land appreciation taxes

PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT") is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including land use rights, borrowing costs and all property
development expenditures.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iv)  Land appreciation taxes (Continued)
Those subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in property development
business in the PRC are subject to land appreciation taxes, which have been included
in income tax expenses in profit or loss. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised its LAT returns
with the relevant tax authorities in respect of certain property development projects.
Accordingly, significant judgment is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities based
on management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax expenses and provision for land appreciation taxes in the period in
which such determination is made.

(vy  Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost

Management estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial asset. The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
after taking into consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective
financial asset. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective financial asset
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are different from expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal
of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

The Group collectively assesses ECLs for trade and other receivables, except for
certain credit-impaired debtors which are assessed for ECLs individually. The
measurement of ECL under HKFRS Accounting Standards 9 for the Group’s trade
and other receivables requires judgement on, in particular, the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining impairment losses and
the assessment of any significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven
by a number of factors, where the change of the factors which result in different
levels of allowances, a lower/higher impairment loss may arise. The Group uses
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions to
estimate the probability of default, the loss given default and the impact on the
forward-looking information. At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since
initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life
between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers
reasonable, supportable and available information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and
qualitative information and also forward-looking analysis.

The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and other receivables is set out
in note 35(b)(iii).
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies are as follows:

(b) Critical accounting judgments

Financing arrangements for hotel business

The Group has entered into certain hotel-room sales agreements whereby the Group
has determined that it retained the control of hotel. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised the hotel as property, plant and equipment (Note 13) and the deposits
received as other borrowings (Note 24(a)(i)). If the Group had determined that it
lost control of the hotel following entering into the sales agreements, then the
alternative accounting would have been to exclude the hotel from its consolidated
statement of financial position and recognise the deposits received as contract
liabilities. The determination of whether the Group has retained the control of hotel
depends on an assessment of the relevant arrangements relating to the finance
arrangements and this has involved critical judgments by management.
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6. REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are (1) property development; (2) hotel business;
(3) property management; (4) computer equipment business and (5) financing
business. Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in

note 7.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group decided to abandon the
international business settlement segment and disposed of the contact lens business

segment which were presented as “discontinued operations” in note 38.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group acquired the property
management segment which were presented as “Acquisition of a subsidiary” in note

36.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the both years from continuing operations is

as follows:

6. WA

AEBENTEEH AL QBESELES ()
MR EIR A MR R RO E £ B
AEETEEBNE—FHEBRIERE-

RBEE_Z_NF=A=+—HLEFE K&H
REBEREREEGEE DAL HERTREREES
DR HEF BN 3827 AT E R ILEE X -

RBE_S_AFE=B=+—HLEE F£&H
B X BB DR ZDERM 36255 NI
EBAT -

FEBEREFECEEFIMEFERA DTN
B

2025 2024
“E-RE —ZT 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Revenue from contracts with customers EBEEHRKA
Sales of properties IHEWZ 78,233 42,259
Provision of property management services R EEIRRTS 1,100 =
Revenue from computer equipment business RS ES N
— Leasing and relevant services —stEMREHE
of computer equipment K HERABRTS 75,780 131,430
— Trading of computer equipment —BETEERE 31,082 -
106,862 131,430
186,195 173,689
Timing of revenue recognition SR U A B9 BF S
Goods transferred at a point in time NS R RS 109,315 42,259
Services transferred over time FREEAR TSI BB 76,880 131,430
186,195 173,689
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by different
business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s executive directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified the following reportable segments in its
continuing operations.
Property development  Developing and selling of commercial and residential
properties and car parking spaces, including
undertaking of primary land development activities, in
the PRC.
Hotel business Hotel development and provision of hotel management
services in the PRC.

Property management  Provision of property management services in the PRC.

Computer equipment  Providing encrypted distributed storage space in Hong

business Kong through leasing of servers and rendering ancillary

services and trading of computer equipment.

Financing business Provision of finance through money lending services and

factoring services.

Following the newly acquired property management segment in the current
reporting period and the discontinued operation of international business
settlement segment and contact lens business segment during the year ended 31
March 2024, the CODM considered that the property development segment, hotel
business segment, property management segment, computer equipment business
segment and financing business segment are the main businesses lines and
reportable and operating segments of the Group.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEBE®
(@) Segment revenue and results @) SHEWMAKRELSE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_ZE-_A5=-RA=1+—HILEE
Continuing operations FRERE X
Computer
Property Hotel Property equipment Financing
development business  management business husiness Total
E
MERE BEER MEERE REEE REEH ek
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FTET TAET TAET FAT TAT
Revenue ON
External sales and HIMEE R
segment revenue DHEBA 78,233 - 1,100 106,862 = 186,195
Segment loss A (130,114) = (194) (227,471) 2) (357,781)
Unallocated corporate XNEREER
expense, net PG (25,857)
Bank interest income RITHI B WA 12,227
Loss hefore taxation BREAIESE (371,411)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

Continuing operations

7. DERE®
(a) DEWMAKRER @
WE_S_ME=A=+—BLFE

RIBIEE XS

Computer
Property Hotel equipment Financing
development business business business Total
SHER
YIRS BIE#E REER BT wazE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHE7T FHET FHT
Revenue A
External sales and HIMEE K
segment revenue DEEUWA 42,259 = 131,430 = 173,689
Segment (loss) profit 48 (5B18) & (62,110) = 26,633 151 (35,326)

Unallocated corporate FDELBIER

expense, net FEE (28,598)
Bank interest income RITH BUWRA 11,963
Loss before taxation BRI HI A58 (51,961)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment results represent the results from each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, unallocated other
income, and unallocated other gains and losses. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEBRET®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) SEEEKRARE
2025 2024
—E-REF —ETmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Segment assets DEEE
Continuing operations ISR
Property development MR 835,441 990,274
Hotel business BIE % 180,696 180,696
Property management MEEIR 6,780 =
Computer equipment business TEMREER 50,800 297,975
Financing business B R 8 8
Total segment assets DIEEELEER 1,073,725 1,468,953
Assets relating to discontinued operations EHERIEREER - EE - 4,198
Unallocated assets FOEEE
Bank balances and cash RITEFERIEE 312,610 334,518
Other assets HM&EE 159,435 158,496
Total unallocated assets ROBCEELTR 472,045 493,014
Consolidated total assets LA EERE 1,545,770 1,966,165
Segment liabilities pak =N
Continuing operations FEREER
Property development YRR (1,181,795) (1,201,882)
Hotel business BIEER (124,521) (125,253)
Property management MEEE (6,944) -
Computer equipment business FrEE R TS (4,928) (945)
Financing business i (23) (22)
Total segment liabilities DB EREEE (1,318,211) (1,328,102)
Liabilities relating to discontinued operations ERHERIEREXFTE A6 = (29,011)
Unallocated liabilities Kok a®E
Other liabilities Hth&aEd (58,164) (32,496)
Consolidated total liabilities e BaEiRE (1,376,375) (1,389,609)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources
between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other than bank balances and
cash, assets relating to discontinued operations and those not attributable to
respective segments; and

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than liabilities relating
to discontinued operations and those not attributable to respective segments.

(c) Other segment information

()  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment
assets:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

7.
()

SEES @®
PEEERERE @

MERDBERRERDPEEERSEMES !

()
(i)

FIEEEENPRELE NS RITEEFERIR
T ARERIEEEEF CEEURTBN
BDRZZFEERIN ; &

FIEERENRELENE (ARMERLE
EEBZERURTBREDEZZESR
f&ERIN o

Hith &k
SFESBEMNNGERANEEERTAZ
TREE -

BE_ZT_AF=A=1+—HLEE

Continuing operations FBREER
Computer Reportahle
Property Hotel Property  equipment  Financing  segments’
development husiness  management husiness business total ~ Unallocated Total
HER 2R

NERE  BERE  NEER
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000

REEE  MEEE 0B8R 0 AOR it
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
Additions to non-current assets REEREEE - - - - - = 5,063 5,063
Depreciation of property plantand equipment ~ ¥1% \BERREZINE (96) - (1) (106,260) - (106,357) (2317)  (108,674)

Impairment loss of trade and other receivables  FEWNE BIRIERE tEUIRIE
ZREEBE (446) - (399)  (146,204) - (147,049) (1377)  (148,426)

Reversal of impairment loss of amount due Eh—RBEATFE

from an associate ZAEBEERD - - - - - - 13 13
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment ¥ B Reak B 2 A E R - (39,332) - (31,268) = (70,600) = (70,600)
Impairment loss of properties held for sale HEVEZRERR (51,851) - - - - (51,851) = (51,851)
Finance costs RERA (55,044) - B3) - - (55,047) (1,176) (56,223)
Income tax expenses Frigms (6,636) - - (9,304) - (15,940) = (15,940)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) W/
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c)
()  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment (i)

assets: (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

DERRE @

Hth 8 # (@
SFESEENNGRANEEERTAZ

mEE (@

BE_Z_MFE-A=+—HLEFE

Continuing operations FEREER
Computer Reportable
Property Hotel equipment Financing segments’
development business business business total  Unallocated Total
SHER B
WEEE  BEERE  REEE BERXR  HBLE FAE e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TiAR ThEx TiER TiAx TiEx TR TiEx
Additions to non-current assets (Note) REERYEE (D) = = 80,100 = 80,100 = 80,100
Depreciation of property plant and equipment ME BERREZINE (99) = (88,734) = (88,633) o) (88,839)
Impairment loss of trade and other receivables B R RBREMENRE
HEFE (232) - (344) - (576) (1,754) 2330)
Impairment loss of amount due from an associate WE W—RBEAATBEZRESE - = = S = (548) (548)
Impairment loss of properties held for sale wE %%Zmﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ (13,198) = = = (13,198) S (13,198)
Finance costs HERA (55,821) = = = (55,821) 847) (56,668)
Income tax expenses FisimER (3,528) = (5,838 = (9,366) S 9,366)
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments, deferred tax assets and those relating iz | FERBEENBHEERVIE - EERELEER

to discontinued operations.

(ii)  Information about geographical areas (ii)

ERERILEEEBZREEE-

MIBE G E R
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from continuing R FIAEBR T BINPE L ITELEET I
operations from external customers and non-current assets other than interest in ~ ARIERENEE (R —
an associate, amount due from an associate, prepayment and deferred tax assets ~ ZKEfA= /A S IE A HIE R EERIES = (M5
(“Specified non-current assets”). EIEMENEE ) BRIN Do

Revenue from external
customers
(by customer location)

REENE 2w B —

Specified non-current assets

(by physical location)

RESMNEBE RHIRA IEEIEREEE

BERMUERSD) (BRERMUEESD)
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE-HRE EAFE ZEZTHE ETIOF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
Hong Kong =558 106,862 131,430 37,708 172,469
PRC (domicile) FRE (i) 79,333 42,259 143,257 181,146
186,195 173,689 180,965 353,615
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SR M ERRMIE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

7.  SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DERE @
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (0 EHthoEER @
(iii) Information about major customers (i) FEFFEH
Revenue from one customer (2024: one customer) of the Group’s computer XEﬁ%@ AEESEERSEN—BER
equipment business segment accounted to approximately HK$56,880,000 (2024: THE D —2EER) A A%56,880,00058 7T
HK$117,588,000), which represent 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. (_ = P4 : 117,588,000787T)  hAREE IR A
B910%8% LA o
8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMA W= KkEE
2025 2024
ZEZRE —ZT 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Continuing operations FaREEn
Bank interest income IRITA B WA 12,354 11,963
Loan interest income from an associate RE—KBE AT 2 ERFEWA 881 672
Exchange gain, net BE 2 U 2 2B (16) 9)
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) on amount FEUT—SRE#E A B IBE > B E KB
due from an associate (Note 16) #[0] CRERE) (Mizkie) 13 (548)
Others HAth - (2,695)
13,232 9,383
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31 March2025 —E_HF=H=+—H

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. REBEMZ
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations FEREER
Interest on FE
— other borrowings —HMhEmR 55,691 56,493
— lease liabilities —MHEaR 532 175
56,223 56,668

There is no borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 March 2025 2024: MREE_ZE_AF=A=+—HIFETEEX
Nil). BB A (2224 @ ) o

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FRiSMBS

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Continuing operations FEREER

Current tax in PRC HrEE > BIER#R I8
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") T ERR (TEMIgER) 8,848 4,703
Deferred tax (Note 18) IEIEFRIE (FI5E18) 7,092 4,663
15,940 9,366
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31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made in the consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not derive assessable profits from Hong Kong for both
years.

The PRC EIT is calculated on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if
applicable. The applicable EIT rate for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is 25% (2024: 25%).

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

10. FRiFMAX @
HRAERENWEFERREBY EELEBRR
BN M EPR GRS M BRERAEBFEREL
e

FEGEMERIZEREN N ZEERETHE

(MER) BE_T_AE=A=+—HIL®=E
B AERTHARBAT 2 BREEFRERRE
225% (— B P04 © 25%) ©

FAMR/MNAZRRG IR REMEE KRR
HZIFRATERZ HIRINT ¢

2025 2024
ZEZRE —ZT U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Continuing operations FEREER

Loss before taxation FRIRATES 1B (371,411) (51,961)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate of 25% G A PRS2 0 R25%st H 2 1118 (92,853) (12,990)

Effect of difference tax rates of subsidiaries operating in =1 B A @ £ {9 [ B A B A
other jurisdiction MEEBIEE 20,462 (933)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose MIRBM S BEFRRBWAZRETE (3,081) (12,922)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose AR 2 REEE 74,838 26,608
Tax effect of share of result of an associate R —RBE AR EB I NBEEE 656 =
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised R ERE M E (2,212) 4,663
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERMIEBEZ MEE 9,282 237
LAT TR ETR 8,848 4,703
15,940 9,366

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of certain unused tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The deductible temporary
differences can be carried forward indefinitely except for certain tax losses from PRC
subsidiaries which will be expired in the coming few years. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

The Group is required to prepay LAT and EIT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax
rules in respect of pre-sale of property development projects. As at 31 March 2025,
no prepaid LAT and EIT in respect of contract liabilities (2024: Nil).

FA S AR B0 ) SRR B) TR > (R E I B st S TR
AR BB IEEDIEIERIEE E  p] NRERR £
RRARERHIAE (R RREERZ AP
B RABBETREEERIN - BN A KAIEERRE
SRMIE ) B) A3 LUK 85 T HO AR B By = 8RBl S
ZE PR E R IEERIRE E

AEBERRBTEBRARBERA SBEY X
HEERNIHBERREEMER - KT
“HEFZR=t—H BMEFHAGHNAEREHNER
LB ERREEMSR CEMOE  HF) o
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31 March2025 —E_HF=H=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FREIE

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: FABESNE -
2025 2024
“TTRE =Sl )¢ =2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Continuing operations FHBRE R

Directors' emoluments (Note (a)) EEZME (HE@) 3,178 3,178
Other staff salaries, wages and allowances HMET#HS  TERERL 10,821 8,147
Other staff retirement scheme contributions HME T ZBRAREEIHR 322 263
Total staff costs BT A48%E 14,321 11,588
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses TAEYTINEERAKA 60,340 32,997
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETMEN £ 1,800 1,800
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- -BBEREBEZITE 108,674 88,839
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11.

Notes:

(@)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

11. £AEE @

Mk -
Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ BAREEARETBRAEBMEZEN
Directors and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BEBEALHRARABDKINEZEERES
applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is as follows: THABFAMESHIUWT :
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_S_RAFE=B=1t—HILEE
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BE-IE
e BiERE  RIKSHEIMHEER e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET FAET FAET
Executive directors HITESR
Yuen Leong ) - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat fR/ i - 1,400 18 1,418
Sub-total /hEt - 2,360 18 2,378
Independent non-executive directors BIIERMITES
Yap Yung x5 200 - - 200
Wong Kin Ping TEF 200 - - 200
Chen Lanran R B 200 = — 200
Sub-total /hEt 600 - - 600
Non-executive director JERMITES
Liu Yu 2R 200 - - 200
Sub-total INEF 200 - - 200
Total “a%E 800 2,360 18 3,178
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FREE®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)
(@  Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) @ EREERESTHASMESZBER (@)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE S NME=ZA=+—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
e I8
ok FiZRE RIKETEIERR “E%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FAET
Executive directors HITEER
Yuen Leong =5 - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat Pz - 1,400 18 1,418
Sub-total /Bt - 2,360 18 2,378

Independent non-executive directors BIIERITES

Yap Yung =] 200 = = 200
Wong Kin Ping FEF 200 = = 200
Chen Lanran ek Je 75 200 = = 200
Sub-total /INEt 600 - - 600
Non-executive director JEHITES

Liu Yu 2tk 200 - - 200
Sub-total /NEt 200 - - 200
Total “aEE 800 2,360 18 3,178
The emoluments of executive directors disclosed above were mainly for services in W EZHITESEME L ETESEAEEARAN
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and the Group. B R AN E B ERIR MR o

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for R TREI IR TEEC NS T EATRESEA
their services as directors of the Company. RABIZEFRBZRE

The non-executive director's emolument shown above was mainly for their services as YRR T EEMES I T E S AN EES
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. KRBRENB AT 2 EEHRHT IR
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11.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two directors (2024: two
directors), whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining

. FREE®
MTJ%-E (lnﬁ)
() IRESHESR

FEBRIYLREHALTEEMRES (CTT O
FIMBES)  KEZMEEN ECRE - HER

three (2024: three) highest paid employees are as follows: =HCEINFE =2 REHEEZMNENT
2025 2024
ZEHE ZEITMmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERZER 3,460 3,460
Retirement scheme contributions BRORETEIHRR 18 32
3,478 3,492

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMENFEUTEHER :

2025 2024
“EHE ZEITMEF
Number of Number of
employee employee
BTAH ET A%
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 Z2,000,00078 7T 1 1
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director had waived
any emoluments during both years.

REE_S_IEER_TE_NE=RA=+—HL

FE AEETENEENALR

EEALXZM

ERIME FRREMATRMALEBRR 25
By sfERBEREE R M EFENSEER

EEREEAME-
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12. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company

is based on the following data:

BAEHE

12. BRREHE
FREEBEANEBESREAGEENDRUTEES

2025 2024
“E-RE = 0=
Loss (in HK$’000) 548 (F&7T)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company AR stESKREREGIEY
for the purposes of basic loss per share KRB HEE ANEBIEFRNEIR
— Continuing operations —RERE (228,747) (50,580)
— Discontinued operations —BARIEEEER - (9,088)
(228,747) (59,668)
2025 2024
—E"RE —ENE
Number of shares AnE 4]
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue BETERRINETTH 20,319,072,320 20,319,072,320
2025 2024
—ERE =g ¢ = 5
Basic loss per share (HK cents) SREXEE (BW)
— Continuing operations —FEREER (1.13) (0.25)
— Discontinued operations — BRI EE R - (0.04)
(1.13) (0.29)

Diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. MIE - -BEKRRHE

Furniture
and office Motor Construction  Right-of-use Server
Buildings  equipment vehicle Machinery ~in progress assets  equipment Total
BiR
BF WAERE HE K8  HEIR FRAHEEE  ARERE g
(note (a)
and (b)) (note (d)) (note (b))
(GERRED) (B1E(d) (H5E(0))
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TR FAT TAL TR T FAEL
cosT K&
At 1 April 2023 RZB-=£MA-A 96470 27,739 2,9% 203,404 191476 119,384 238835 880302
Additions hE = n = 58,684 = = 80,100 139,007
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note (c) HERBAE (o) (90,046) (2219 (540) (247,101) S (88,713) = (428,619)
Exchange adjustments ERBER (6.424) (1.485) 214) (14,987) (10,780) (6327) = (40217)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIB-ME=B=+-HR
“ZTMERE-H - 24,258 2,240 - 180,696 24,344 318,935 550,473
Additions hE - - - - - 5,063 - 5,063
Written off i - - - - - (24,344) = (24,344)
Exchange adjustments ERBER - (126) (16) - (1,055) - - (1,197)
Acquisition of a subsidiary EE B AT - 1,133 199 40 = = = 1372
At31 March 2025 RIZZRE=A=+-H - 25,265 2423 40 179,641 5,063 318,935 531,367
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT TERAE
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMA-A 304 26,368 228 21625 = 32593 57,732 143,643
Provided for the year TEERE 1965 326 159 18736 = 1434 88,734 111354
Impairment loss HIEEE = 46 = 13,543 = = = 13589
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note () HERBAE (o) (4,756) (1.214) (343) (51,671) = 9,102) = (67,086)
Exchange adjustments ERBER (252) (1,400 (176) 2.23) - (581) = (4,642)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIB-ME=B=+-HAR
“ZTMERE—H - 24,126 1,922 - - 24,344 146,466 196,858
Provided for the year KEERE = 17 95 = = 2,302 106,260 108,674
Impairment loss HERE - - - - 39,332 - 31,268 70,600
Write-off sy - - - - - (24,344) = (24,344)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (125) (15) - (215) - - (355)
Acquisition of a subsidiary EEk B AR - 992 168 37 - = = 1,197
At31 March 2025 RZB-RE=RA=+-H - 25,010 2,170 37 39,117 2,302 283,994 352,630
CARRYING VALUES REfE
At31 March 2025 RIBZRE=A=1-H - 255 253 3 140,524 2,761 34,941 178,737
At31 March 2024 RIZZME=F=1+—H = 132 318 = 180,696 = 172,469 353,615
Notes: sk :
@  Asat 31 March 2025, construction in progress of HK$65,567,000 (2024: HK$65,952,000) (a) MR_ZE_HE=F=+—H & I7265,567,000

are pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings of approximately HK$124,521,000

(2024: HK$125,253,000).

BT (ZZ ZPU4E : 65,952,00058 70) BIEHIES
N E R E R A9124,521,00058 70 (ZE 04 .
125,253,000 75) FUIE(R ©
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

—E_ARHF=H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

178

For hotel business segment, the directors of the Company considered there were
impairment indicators on the hotel under construction in progress (included in
property, plant and equipment) due to the mitigated construction activities.

For leasing and trading of computer equipment business segment, the directors of
the Company considered there were impairment indicators on the server equipment
(included in property, plant and equipment) due to the segment loss for the year ended
31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the management of the Group conducted impairment
assessment on construction in progress and server equipment, with carrying amount of
HK$140,524,000 and HK$34,941,000, respectively. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the relevant assets based on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use by reference to a valuation report prepared by an independent professional
valuer. The recoverable amounts of the construction in progress and server equipment
have been determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal. The Group uses
direct comparison to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets which
is based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties adjusted for nature,
location and conditions of the property. The fair value measurement is categorised
in Level 3 fair value hierarchy. For the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment of
approximately HK$39,332,000 and HK$31,268,000 have been recognised for the
construction in progress and server equipment respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the management of the Group conducted impairment assessment
on construction in progress, with carrying amount of HK$180,696,000. The Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the relevant assets based on the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use by reference to a valuation report prepared
by an independent professional valuer. The recoverable amounts of the construction
in progress have been determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal. The
Group uses direct comparison to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the
assets which is based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties adjusted
for nature, location and conditions of the property. The fair value measurement is
categorised in Level 3 fair value hierarchy. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount based
on their fair value less costs of disposal and no impairment has been recognised.

As mentioned in note 37, on 6 November 2023, the Group deconsolidated the results,
assets, liabilities of the Fujian Evercon Optical Co., Ltd (formerly known as Fujian Unicon
Optical Co., Ltd) (“Fujian Evercon Optical”). Therefore, the property, plant and equipment
related to the CGU of contact lens business segment was thereafter deconsolidated from
the Group.
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13. MIE - -BERRE @

izt (&)

(b)

MBEEEZDEMS  ARARNEFIR/TELRE
ETRVEE GTAYE -BERzE) HEEEH
B TEERERR

MEEREEAERRBEEBOEMN S AQF
EEDRAMBRIRE Gt ADE - BREKRRRF
BE_Z_hF-R=-+t—HLFERBOEE
BEMEFEREDTR -

RIZE-RAFE=-A=+—H > AEEEEBHIEK
{8 79 Bl 2140,524,00078 75 5234,941,00078 7T Y 7£
BIRKERBREETRES G AEESE
BUSEGEMEENGERS  RIBFEQAFER
HERARERABEME 2R &G EEE
ERNTWOeiE e 2 TR KLARSSREN W
CISENRBEEATFERHERKEE - AEER
FAERERA AL EENATERHERA
(BERRYERNEE ~ (LB MR R BEAFEM
MEFENZZELREE) - BRAATEHER
DEANTERBBNE=R - BEE_T_HF=
B=+—HLEFE ERERIRELRRARSERE
3 B FE SRR B 939,332,000 75 5231,268,00078 7T ©

RIE_NE=ZBA=+—H ~EEEEEH
IREI{E73180,696,00078 TV E 2 T2 E TR ERT
o AEBMB TR L EEHEMRRNGHER
HREBEATFEREEREARFERBEME 2B
SEGEEEENTREEE - EETENA
KWEISBEDREBEEATFTERHEMRABE A&
EFAEEBER A A EENAFEREER
A TLERYIZEEE (LB AR AR LB L
MEFENZZEREL) - BEAATFENEW
DEAANTERBENE=ZHR - BE_ S _NE=
B=+—HIEE HHEENREETEBH
REBEEATERHERASENTKESEE R
b Nt 48 PR SRR 1

M7 R = FE+—8H &
EEERIEGAEANRGEEBERNBERAT
(B& TRREMRENZARAT) (BEEHEE
B NEE BERAG AL BEREESS
IR ELBNMEMYE BERXBER
BREBRRIEES AR
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. VX -BERRE ®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)

(d)  The following table summarised the right-of-use assets capitalised by nature of  (d) TFREMIZIEMEELEESCHNERESE
underlying assets:

Right-of use assets

EREEE
Buildings Land use right Total
EES T fERE e
(Note (i))
(P =E())
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Carrying values, at 1 April 2023 RIZE=FNWA—HZKREE - 86,791 86,791
Depreciation e = (1,434) (1,434)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) HEKEAR FiFF37) - (79,611) (79,611)
Exchange adjustments PE AR - (5,746) (5,746)
Carrying values, at 31 March 2024 R-B-_WE=B=+—HZKREE - - -
Additions wNE 5,063 - 5,063
Depreciation TE (2,302) = (2,302)
Exchange adjustments fE A% = = =
Carrying values, at 31 March 2025 R-EBE_RE=B=1+—HZKEE 2,761 - 2,761
Notes: B 5E

0) Additions to buildings for the year ended 31 March 2025 amount to HK$5,063,000, due (i) HRMHEERABR 8#E_S"_HAF=8

to new leases of office premises. The Group has lease arrangement for buildings. The =+ —HLIEFEENEFRE 45,063,000/ 75 © 48
lease term are generally ranged from 1 to 2 years. ERBAEFHEZH ZEHHP KN F1E2
ﬂz o
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. BER.EE

Computer Settlement
software platform Total
SHERER G “H¥R ELEC]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(MF5%(a)) (Mg 5% (b))
cosT D%
At 1 April 2023 N _E_=FWMBE—H 1,621 42,071 43,692
Additions nE 1,532 - 1,532
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) HERB AR (z37) (3,007) = (3,007)
Written off /67| = (39,702) (39,702)
Exchange adjustments b 7 5 R (146) (2,369) (2,515)
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and RZ2EZOFE=/A=+—H
31 March 2025 R WHEMB—BR
—ETRFE=-A=+—H - - -
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT B RIRE
At 1 April 2023 N _E_=FMBE—H 375 42,071 42,446
Charge for the year FRRAX 123 = 123
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) HERB AR (F37) (470) = (470)
Eliminated on written off T2 8 B ¥ 8 = (39,702) (39,702)
Exchange adjustments b 7 S EE (28) (2,369) (2,397)

At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025

RZE-WE=/F=+—H
TR OOFUA—HEK
_E_RAFE=R=+—H

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2025

IEE
RoBE-EE=A=+—H

At 31 March 2024

A _E_NME=B=+—H
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31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Note (a):

Computer software was acquired to assist factory’s manufacturing production and
management. It’s intellectual property rights which have finite useful life and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

As mentioned in note 37, on 6 November 2023, the Group deconsolidated the results,
assets, liabilities of Fujian Evercon Optical, which was previously an indirectly non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. Therefore, the aforesaid computer software was thereafter
deconsolidated from the Group.

Note (b)(i):

In August 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent software company
to assist the Group in developing network for cross-border settlement, trade and financial
services between Russia or Eurasia and China. The Group paid deposit totaling HK$24,373,000
to the software developers. Further, in March 2021, the Group also engaged another
independent third party to develop a cross-border settlement system in connection to the
Central Bank Digital Currency (“CBDC’) and invested at cost of HK$20,400,000.

Note (b)ii):

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, due to military conflicts between Russia
and Ukraine and economic and political challenges of China that create uncertainties on
international business settlement business segment, the management of the Group concluded
that there was an impairment indicator and conducted an impairment assessment on
recoverable amounts of a CGU of the international business settlement business segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined by the management of the Group based
on value in use calculation. That calculation was determined based on the financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a 5-year period and a pre-tax discount
rate of 15.35%. The recoverable amount is based on certain key assumptions, including
estimation of future revenue growth.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the CGU of international business settlement business segment is nil
and lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been allocated to the
intangible assets (cross-border settlement platform and the settlement system in connection to
(BDQ) such that the carrying amount of asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less cost of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation and the
allocation, a full impairment loss of HK$44,773,000 has been recognised during the year ended
31 March 2022.

As mentioned in note 38, the international business settlement business segment is ceased
operations and is considered as a discontinued operation during the financial year ended 31
March 2024. Up to the date of discontinued operation, there are no revenue generated from
this CGU. The aforesaid intangible assets in this segment were fully written off accordingly.

ln\ﬁ/gé ﬁg
Wﬁ%

BEAERRED A IRNNEFEREE -HA
BEAREAFRIEHMGEHERFERIFERNUNERE
HEERV R ERE

M ER AR R =F+—B A AEED
BRIFEGEAREESBERENESE EEREE Z2
BAAAREENRBIEEEWBAS EIL» Eiltst
B HBEAERRIELAE AR

EE(I0R

m:%:%iﬂﬁ’$$@£—§%ﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂﬁ%

% UinBh AEERE RN E BT R & 5P E
z%%%ﬁ%% B REMIRFENELL - AEBE [
BB P S I 2 48 5124,373,0008 5 o b AN R
T HF-RAERTRES —SBIE = HERA
RBPTHFER (RITHFER) EEANBEEER
45 > ¥ B AR 7K 2320,400,00078 7T

Bt = (b)) -

RBEEZZ__F-_A=+—HUEVERFE HINHE
Hr 82 5 5o il 2 81 A 5B S5 18 28 K P B A A 0% R BUA R B
RERHEEEERZ BB RTHEEL £2EEMEERE
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REEFEMNAREISE HAEREEERENE
BEENSTEMEE ZtENREAEEEEEEM
HERERFHRZ M ETEER1535% 2 AT AEIREEE -
AWEISEENRE TRARERS SEHERERALE
HEETEEE o

ENIGER ~EEEEBRTE EEmEEEE
BRENREELBEUNTKEEEAS W ENRKRE
B REBETEESREEETEE BRITHFTEEIERM
NBIREELEREE RS > BEEENKRAEALER
BOEBREAAEBERKERAS HERABERE=
EZENERESE - EREHRBENSERS ERE
ECE - _HF-RB-+—HIEEERIZEAERSE
44,773,00078 7T ©

AN EE36PAAL BRI R R R B D EEFLEZL
RBE_Z_NF=-A=+—HLPBFERERE
RIEEEXEF BEERIEKEXHAN LRSEL
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ARe TS ER R MIE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

15. GOODWILL 15. HE
HK$'000
FHET
CARRYING VALUES: EREME :
At 1 April 2024 ST TMFMA—H -
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) BN B A B RFESE (MI5E36) 2,228
At 31 March 2025 RE_HF=B=+—H 2,228

For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill set out above has been
allocated to Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) relating to the property management
services.

FUREEMS LB EESEELEYEERE
BRBAERMNIREEEEN ((REEELEB) -

Segment HK$'000
! TFHET
The CGU were identified as follows:
REEEBARENT :
Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management Co., Ltd. Property Management 2,228

BEIEAE BN MEEEFRAF /E=$

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on a value in use
calculation prepared by management. The calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management for the next five years. Cash
flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 0%. A pre-
tax discount rate of 11.8% is used for this CGU.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of this CGU. The following
describes each key assumption on which management had based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
revenue was the revenue achieved in the year immediately before the budget year.

Discount rate — The discount rate used was before tax and reflected specific risks
relating to this CGU.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, any reasonably possible change in
any of the above assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of this CGU to
exceed its recoverable amount.
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SR M ERRMIE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

16. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE FROM AN 16. M—REPERT) 2 EE FEUW—=R
ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE BEATTIE B —REE AT
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cost of interest in an associate R—REE QB 2 w2 A 114,846 114,846
Share of post-acquisition losses and other LB BEEREMEEmRA
comprehensive income (11,095) (6,513)
Interest in an associate R—REE QB Z #m 103,751 108,333
Amount due from an associate — Non current (note (a))  FEUR—SKEh = /A B FIE—JEBNEA
(Mf5E(@) 31,744 31,089
Amount due to an associate — Current (note (b)) R —REE AR IE— BN
(Bt 5 (b)) - 3,580
Notes: B 5%
@  Included in amount due from an associate, consist of gross non-current loan receivables  (a) ~ FEW—REE AT HRIB RS FEIEED ﬁﬁlﬁﬂigﬂ

and interest receivables of approximately HK$29,133,000 (2024: HK$29,259,000) and
HK$3,147,000 (2024: HK$2,378,000) respectively. The loan receivables are unsecured,
carried at fixed interest rate of 3% and are not repayable on demand. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, loss allowance of approximately HK$536,000 (2024: HK$548,000)
was recognised for the amount due from an associate.

(b) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

e FEW A B 482853 1) 4929,133,0008 75 (&

£F 1 29,259,00078 7T) £23,147,00078 7T (:E:EEE 5
2,378,000 70) ° ZEEUNE A EIEITF  123%8
BEFEFERBARERERZ - BE_T_"H
EZRB=+—ILEE BEEFHL536,0008 T (Z
g:méfﬁ 548,000 T) ERR BB —KEE L
EERED

ZREAREIRT RE R RRERERE -
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

16. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE FROM AN 16. R—REEARZ#EE FBIR—X
ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) ENBIRIE B —KEE AR
;_'A-'IE (l\ﬁ
Effective
Issued and equity interest
Place of fully paid up attributable to
incorporation/ share capital the Company
Name of associate operation [registered capital as at Principal activities Legal form
) ML BRTREYME .
i -YNGiET e B/ ARERx  ARAARGERKE 2 FEER EERR
2025 2024
SR “EmE
Fujian Evercon Optical Co., Ltd The PRC/The PRC USD63,915,000 23.8% 23.8%  Contact lens business Investment from Hong Kong, Macau
(“Fujian Evercon Optical’) (2024: USD63,915,000) and Taiwan with limited liability
B Eﬁ@@tﬂﬁmﬂﬁ i,/ 63,915,000 7T B AR 25 BREAREBRAD
(TERERMER) (CEZME:
63,915,000 77)
The summarised financial information in respect of the associate prepared in 2R G 2R B R EmE

accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards is accounted for using equity method

is set out below:

MHBERZEIIWT

2025 2024

“TZRE —ZT U4

_ HK$’000 HK$'000

Fujian Evercon Optical REESEER FHET TFHET
Current assets MBEE 139,565 179,089
Non-current assets ERMEE 426,173 443,068
Current liabilities mEas (44,279) (68,252)
Non-current liabilities EREIERE (217,666) (236,637)
Net assets BEZE 303,793 317,268
Revenue WA 165,583 103,517
Loss for the year FREE (11,686) (79,665)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEMEAS (1,789) (1,792)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEMASZ4ERE (13,475) (81,457)

The reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate is set out below:

LXPR25181
E{EZHR&ESUT

?%éﬂ* ERNBE AT B 2 iR

2025 2024
“EZhHE —E_fF
HK$’0(£) HK$’ 0@
FAET TFAET
Net assets of the associate BENBBEEFE 303,793 317,268
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in FEBRBESBERY
Fujian Evercon Optical BB EERLLA 34% 34%
Goodwill e 462 462
Carrying amount of the Group’s interests in FEBRBESBERZ
Fujian Evercon Optical w2 REE 103,751 108,333
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group disposed of 66% interests in Fujian [ &EZE _Z _MFE=/F=+—H JJ:fEf ) REEE
Evercon Optical. Please refer to note 37 and note 38(a) for details. HERBREEBHE 266%7%5:1 Bk
37X BI5E38(a) ©
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES R E R
2025 2024
ZEZREF —EOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loan receivables ERER 124,633 125,366
Interest receivables FEWH 2 6,515 6,553
131,148 131,919

Less: Loss allowance (Note (b)) JB R EHE (EE(b)

Stage 3 =4 (131,148) (131,919)
Carrying amount of loan receivables FEWEREE - -

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all loan receivables were secured by collaterals.

The customers are obliged to settle the amounts according to the terms set out in
relevant contracts. Interest rates are offered based on the assessment of a number of
factors including the borrowers’ creditworthiness and repayment ability, collaterals
as well as the general economic trends. The Group’s loan principals charged interests
at rate approximately 6% to 15% (2024: 6% to 15%) per annum.

The Group’s management considers that the fair values of loan receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts.

(@) Ageing analysis
Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the loan drawdown date and before loss
allowance, at the end of reporting period is as follows:

RWIE IR _E_NFE=R=+—H A

RWERILURIRmIER

ERARBERSORINIFREEBRERIER
MEDLRBEHZEEIR (BEERANEERE
RMEEN B RRBREEBE) NFGEE &

EENERRESREELNES% (T IO .
6%ZE15%) AYF U ENH] B o
AEBEEEBRA BRETNAABEEIRM

BUEERER

(a) BREGOHR

REHR BN ERIENE MEEEE 2B

WEMZEREDHWT

2025 2024
“E"RHE “EIMF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Over 5 years 5 E 131,148 131,919

Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the due date and before loss allowance,
at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RE|BEHER BN BRRRREEEBR ZEK

ERZEREDITNT

2025 2024
—EREF “ETMF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Over 4 years 4EDL 131,148 131,919
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A TS ERRMTEE
31 March 2025 —E_FE=H=+—H
17. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Movement in impairment losses
Loss allowance for loan receivables during the year was recognised as follows:

17. BEIRER ®
(b) RIEESIEEE
FNEWRERHIEIEEHERERIMT ¢

Stage 3

=%

Lifetime

ECL credit
impaired
BiEE
AERZH
FEHEEEE
HK$'000
TAET

At 1 April 2023 AR =FA—H 139,789

Exchange adjustments ER A

(7,870)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 A ZEMFE=A=+—HEKZZT-MNFNE—H 131,919

Exchange adjustments ER A

(771)

At 31 March 2025 A _E_RE=A=1+—H 131,148

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no increase of loss allowance was
charged to profit or loss as an impairment.

The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit
risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue
accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting
policy stated in note 4.
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 18. BEMIBEEE
Deferred tax assets recognised and movements during the current and prior years MRAFEERBFFECHINELEREESEMUR
are as follows: BRESENINT :
Profit sharing
from land
development
LAT expenditure Tax losses Total
TR
TIEER bk ilbadiA RIERE 1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(F5E(@)) (P5E(0)) (F5E(Q)
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FHF—H 31,627 17,602 27,199 76,428
Credited (charged) to profit or loss A (0FRE) 8@ 1,176 = (5,839) (4,663)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (1,793) (991) = (2,784)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 E@:E:EEZH =+-Hk
“E-NEMA—H 31,010 16,611 21,360 68,981
Credited (charged) to profit or loss A (ORE) Bm 2212 = (9,304) (7,092)
Exchange adjustments fERAE (193) 97) = (290)
At 31 March 2025 ACECFEE=A=+—H 33,029 16,514 12,056 61,599
Notes: Mk -

Balance represents taxable temporary difference arising from provision of LAT.

Starting from 2010, HIMIEFEEEE X EBMBIRAE (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui
Real Estate Group Company Limited*, “Liuzhou Zhenghe”) has been engaged in land
development project and in previous years before Liuzhou Zhenghe was acquired by
the Group, 4 parcels of land developed by Liuzhou Zhenghe were put on public auction
and acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe itself for property development purpose. Liuzhou
Zhenghe shared the related profit with joint developer and paid tax on the shared
profit. The resulted deferred tax assets will be released when the related properties are
sold. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s deferred tax assets arising from profit sharing
of the primary land development project amounting to approximately HK$16,514,000
(2024: HK$16,611,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$208,044,000 (2024: HK$250,915,000) available for offset against future profits. A
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$73,068,000
(2024: HK$129,456,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining balance of approximately HK$134,976,000 (2024:
HK$121,459,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

* The English name is for identification purpose only

SRR T IR EIR BB EL 2 ERREER ER

B S—ZFE INEMEEEXERERA
B (TWNIER)) — BNt E L HEEIEE > T4 5%
E UL FE AN IEFN AT S0 > DN IEAIBE SE AV Ui =
AR ARHE > AN ENES XS IEYERH
B2 R o PN IE A E2 Bt & BR 25 78 0 AR MBI RA R F)
A FE 9 AR A 2T IE - It E £ RIRIERIEE
ERPAAEMEEHRER - RS -AF=A4
=t+—H AERZ—HIMEABREREFN S
RESE ZIRIERIBE EH£16,514,0008 7T (ZF
ZPU4E : 16,611,000357T) ©

RBEREHFR A EBERBHAREBERELY
208,044,000%7_5 (ZZE M4 : 250,915,0005 75)
?E&fﬁaka;ﬁﬁl AT BHLAI73,068,00078 7T
ZE UL : 129,456,0005 70) KA BB 1B R
SURIEFRIEE E o FRFY R AR A AR AN AI TR
] It 37 4% TR B T 49134,976, ooo;%n: (CZEZmE:
121,459,00078 70) B4 ERERIRIEIRIAE & o
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

19. HFEME

2025 2024

—E-REF —ETmE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Completed properties held for sale EBEmEEYE 809,717 926,706

The management of the Group had engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to carry out valuation on the properties held for sale by market
comparison approach. An impairment loss on completed properties held for sale
of HK$51,851,000 has been recognised for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$13,198,000).

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AEEEEEBERER I AEREXGHEMRE
MBLEE AR GEYEETHE-BEZSH
FZB=1+—HLEFE BEEICERTEYE
B E5851,851,00078 7T (ZZ A4 : 13,198,000
ABIT) °

20. FEWE B ARIER H A EULARIAE

2025 2024
“EThREF —EpyE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Trade receivables FE U 8B ZBRTE 146,611 73,955
Less: Loss allowance B IERE (146,383) (320)
228 73,635
Prepayments FAfTRIE 2,589 32,199
Other receivables HthpEURARIE
Other deposits (Note (i)) Hihizs (3E)) 9,232 6,118
Other tax prepayment HihiRIBFA(I IE = 626
Other receivables (Note (ii)) H AU BRIE (BI5E(i) 35,907 33,566
45,139 40,310
Less: Loss allowance B EIRREE (6,023) (3,661)
39,116 36,649
41,933 142,483
Note: MisE
0) Included in other deposits are refundable tender deposits and project deposits. (i) HihiZeBERERERENEBER S

(i) Included in other receivables are consideration receivables related to the disposal of a
subsidiary for the year ended 31 March 2024, advances to staff and recoverable project
costs.
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SR M ERRMIE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit
risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue
accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. The Group and the Company recognised impairment loss based on
the accounting policy stated in note 4.

(@) Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of trade receivables after loss allowance of the Group, presented
based on the date of delivery of services to the customers, at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

. BREZREREMBUIRE @
K%E%Jmﬁﬂfaﬂ%ﬁﬁ BBEREERK
RIET AR B R EURETHRELEENE
ERRHO AEBNAAEER—EERABEN

BERETERFE - BRNM R S5t R &
EREKRKATERBERE-

(a) EREGSOHR

REBESHER BT RERGANZEAEER
SHEERBER BB ZRBEZREDITZS]
LI

2025 2024
—ERE “EO4E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
0-90 days 0ZF90H - 73,519
1-2 years 1824 228 116
228 73,635
(b)) Movement in impairment losses of trade receivables (b) FEWEZRBEZREREES

Movement in loss allowance of trade receivables of the Group during the year are as

FRFERRREZRBZGREFEHNT !

follows:
2025 2024
“EZRE “EIME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
At 1 April NV = 320 308
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss RiERNRZRERE 146,063 320
Disposal of a subsidiary HEWEB AT - (295)
Exchange adjustments bE RS EE - (13)
At 31 March IREE=—FE 146,383 320
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AR ISR R

31 March2025 —E_HF=H=+—H

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. B E ZERERHMEWARE @

() Movement in loss allowance of other receivables of the Group during the year  (¢) FERAEBEMEWERIE Y FHERHEH)
are as follows: wF

2025 2024

“E-RE ZETNE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FHET

At 1 April HHA—H 3,661 1,660

Impairment loss charged to profit or loss RiBmilkk 2 RERE 2,363 2,010

Exchange adjustments FE R (1) (9)

At 31 March R=BA=+—H 6,023 3,661

The balances of other deposits and other receivables are not past due. The Group’s  Efthix & K EMEWIRIE 2 45170 R E HY o A&
management considers that the credit risk associated with these receivables is EEEEBRA  ABILEEREKREZEERAKT
minimal but a general provision for impairment loss is provided for as in the X {BBEW_EXFrihBEEIBsHE—fREE-
aforesaid.

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21. EUWRFRIERRIE
2025 2024
—EHE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Factoring receivables R RIETRIE 62,193 62,559
Interest receivables FEUFI B 2,233 2,247
64,426 64,806

Less: Loss allowance (Note (b)) B SR EE (REED))

Stage 3 =%k (64,426) (64,806)
Current portion included under current assets FTARBIE E ZBIHIE 3 - S
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SR M ERRMIE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all factoring receivables were secured by accounts
receivable of the debtors with interest rate of 6.5% (2024: 6.5%). The Group has
recourse right on the debts in the event of default. However, the collaterals are not
permitted to be sold or re-pledged by the Group.

(@) Ageing analysis
Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the loan drawdown date and
before loss allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows:

FEURIEFRIE (@)

A BT RER_ENME=RB=+—H 'fA
FE U (RIBFRIE I LA FE IR (B 75 A BRRUVEIR 5> ) =K
%6.5% (ZZ U4 © 6.5%) o fi HIREL) » AEH
HEXEEERE R KIFR A ESHAER
HE N E IR o

(a) BRESDHR
RS8R ERNEFIREA MotieE 8 E #H A
ZEWRIBHRIBZ BRE DM :

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Over 5 years SE 64,426 64,806

Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the due date and before loss
allowance, at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

REBSHAR ERBR B IREEEERZ
FEWRIERUEZ BREC DT T ©

2025 2024

ZEZREF —EOE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Over 4 years 4ED 64,426 64,806
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BUWRRIEERIE @
(b) Movement in impairment losses (b) R{EEIEEE)
Loss allowance for factoring receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FREKFRIERIEZ BIEEERDOT !
Stage 3
=R
Lifetime
ECL credit
impaired
BEERE
K2 HATEHA
Bt
HK$'000
TFHET
At 1 April 2023 A—E =/ —H 68,672
Exchange adjustments bE AT (3,866)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 ATETNE=Z/B=+—HK
“ZFEmMAE—H 64,806
Exchange adjustments b O FHEE (380)
At 31 March 2025 R ZEAF=R=+—H 64,426

The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit AEEBEGITEEEABR > BATHHEEEW
risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue — BRIE! Fh A HAER B IRENIR ETH BT AEEMNE
accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over SR - REBEHREER—TEEBHERN
a certain amount. The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting & /2 #1715 A sHE o E R M ET4PF i & 5t R > 7
policy stated in note 4. EEERHEBR
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$648,000 as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$440,000). Amounting to approximately HK$333,000 as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$335,000) represent the bank balance being frozen by the court.
Amounting to approximately HK$315,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$316,000)
represent the proceeds from pre-sale of properties with the restriction of use for
settlement of construction costs for relevant property project, which will be released
upon the completion of the relevant project.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits carry interest at prevailing market rates which
range from 0.1% to 0.2% per annum as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 0.3% to 0.35% per
annum).

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2025, bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits which carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.25% (2024: 0.01% to 4.5%) per annum with an original maturity of three months or
less.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the bank balances and cash are
following amount denominated in currency other than the functional currency of
the respective group entity:

22. ZRHIRITERR IRT
ZIRBIRITER
ATECRAEZA=+—H  ZREBTERLY
648,00078 7T (ZZ ZIULF : 440,000/ 7T) - N ZE
ThAFE=B=+—H>#333,0008c (&0
F 1 335,00078 7T) T AR RAENIRITEF - N2
E-AF=A=+—H"#%315000%E T (ZZ Y
F 1 316,0007870) IETEEMENFTERIE > RIRA
RENBERYEBENEERDS  FRNER
15 Bk T B R

TEFRRE

ATECREZRA=+—R AEBZEFHIET
FFIENF01%E0.2% (—Z _HE | EFENF
03%ZF0.35%) ZIRITHIBEFNZEAB

RITEEFERRE

N _EZRFZA=+—H RTEFEKEEE
BAERFFE R RETCEHAZ=EAR
DUF # 2 B EFI RN F0.01%20.25% (2 W
F 1 0.01%E4.5%) st E 2 F2HRIR1TERR o

R|BERR RTEFRRSAETIUZER
RSB 2 B sHEZ A

il

2025 2024
—ERE —ZT 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

HK$ BT 5,320 22,326
United Stated Dollars (“USD”) =5t (FEm) 307,288 310,919
312,608 333,245
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. BB SREREME[IRE
2025 2024
“TTRE —ZT U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Trade payables (Note) FETE ZERE (5D 5,266 =
Accrued construction costs to contractors R BB 2 Bt RN 154,933 155,843
Interest payables FEGFIE 290,079 236,537
Other payables HihFE(TARIE 83,079 75,545
Other tax payables HihfE(R1E 218,102 210,477
751,459 678,402
Note: M5k -
The following is an ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on the date ¥R &5 HASR » B B UREUM LK AR 75 B HA 2~ 7 5= (& FE 1+
of materials and services received, at the end of the reporting period: BERBEZRRDITEIINT ¢
2025 2024
ZETHE TETE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET AT
0-90 days 0Z290H 5,258 =
Over 365 days 365H A & 8 -
5,266 -

1 94 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIffm¥4EIERER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR M ERRMIE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

24. BORROWINGS 24. fBFR
2025 2024
—ERE “ETpYE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Borrowings, secured (Note (a)) BIEFER (15EQ) 124,521 125,253
Borrowings, unsecured (Note (b)) HILRERR (YEE®D) 406,517 408,905
531,038 534,158

Carrying amount of borrowings repayable: FEZ T HIEREENENRERE !

Within one year —&ERN 531,038 512,586
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BE—E > BERBEmE - 21,572
531,038 534,158
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities B OMBIBEIE TP ZM (531,038) (512,586)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities JERBBEE TR ZRIE - 21,572

All borrowings are fixed-rate borrowings and were denominated in RMB during both

years.

AREBHE-

R MABEEE R Fr A &R 7 Bl EF R AG R L

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings are as AR AEEEEHN XEH T EERHIX 2 SHE Y

follows: T
2025 2024
—E_RE “EOE
Effective interest rates BRI 3% — 18% 3% — 18%
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24. BORROWINGS (Continued) 24. &R @)
Notes: Mk -
@  The followings show the carrying amounts of assets pledged to secure the borrowings  (a) AXREBEZERIEZERZBIRFEENREES
provided to the Group: I
Carrying amounts of
assets pledged
Bk
BEENKREE
HK$’000
FET
At 31 March 2025 RIZE_RF=A=+—H
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) W BB RS (HE13) 65,567
At 31 March 2024 RIZEZWNFE=A=+—H
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) ME-BEREE (T:13) 65,952

As at 31 March 2025, hotel rooms under construction in progress (included in property, plant ATEZRFE=A=+—H" 655670008 (T

and equipment) of HK$65,567,000 (2024: HK$65,952,000) are pledged as security for one of  4F : 65,952,000 7T) ZAE TIRB FHEEERE Gt A

the Group’s borrowings of HK$124,521,000 (2024: HK$125,253,000) at a fixed rate of 6.5% per ~ ¥JZ R K& #H) BRI EAREEE P —51%6.5%

annum. B E EF K5t BB R124,521,00058 7T (ZF U4 -
125,253,0007%8 7T) BIHELR ©

(b)  Asat 31 March 2025, the Group’s unsecured borrowings represent: by RIS HRE=ZB=+—0> xEFEXBEN
5.
(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$7,335,000 (2024: HK$7,378,000) provided by () A5 = F IR A IR (5 707,335,000
independent third parties with interest at a fixed rate of 18% per annum; Bt (ZE T4 @ 7,378,000 7T) @ REE
FERFE18%ET R ;

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$21,446,000 (2024: HK$21,572,000) provided by (i) HARBWELAEIFERES ANREA
Radiant Path Global Limited, a related party of non-controlling owner of the +Radiant Path Global Limitedg it p9£EHE IR

Company’s subsidiary with interest at a fixed rate of 3% per annum; and & 3021,446,00078 77 (— = Z U4 : 21,572,000

BT REEEMZ3%ETE 5 K

(i)~ Unsecured borrowings of HK$377,736,000 (2024: HK$379,955,000) provided (i) HEAENSXEBRABRLXE WNE
by EFREMNESEEEBRAT (Guangx Zhenghe Industrial Co., Ltd*), the MZa BB AL) RENEEFEER
former related party of Liuzhou Zhenghe with interest at a fixed rate of 12% per 377,736,00078 75 (ZZ ZFO4F : 379,955,00078
annum. 70) » FHEIE M Z12%5T 2 0

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 25. FABKALTIRE

(a) Name and relationship of related parties (@) PBABEALTZHIBREAG
Name Relationship with the Company

ey BT ZM%

Long Grand Limited Ultimate holding company

RBERAT RRERAE

Liuzhou Huagui Property Development Co., Ltd Non-controlling owner of Liuzhou Zhenghe

(“Liuzhou Huagui”)

WINERE B ERERRAT (THIMNER)) W IEM Z IFERRTER A

Unicon Optical Co., Limited (“Taiwan Unicon”) Non-controlling owner of Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited

BIREAZRNEBERAT (T8 EBEIME) BERBMEABRERABDZIFEREEA

(b)) Amounts due (from) to non-controlling interests (b)  (FEUR) PE(TIEREHIRESSFRIE
2025 2024
TR —ETpE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE Z AR BRI B ER
and repayable on demand BIZEREE

- Liuzhou Huagui — 1PN EEAE 52,787 53,089
- Taiwan Unicon BIEBIRE (1,533) (1,184)
51,254 51,905
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(c Amount due to ultimate holding company

25. FAEEANLIREE @

(0 MRENREIERATIRIEA

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE ZE ~ FEHE A~
and repayable on demand BEREZEREE
— Long Grand Limited —REBRAE 1,612 1,624

(d) Related parties transactions

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management of the
Company during the year were as follows:

(d) FAEKALRS

FTEEBASZHRM
FABDEERTEEEABZHEMBUEFRZH
BT

2025 2024

—E_RE —ENE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Short-term benefits ZHAE A 6,620 5,820
Retirement benefit scheme contribution BIREFIFTEMHRR 36 50
6,656 5,870

The remuneration of key management is determined having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

= II’J ﬁ1$

Considerations in respect of properties sold are received in accordance with the E’E#@%Zﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ffﬁEﬁ,vjﬁ%Zﬂ RS ER o
terms of the related sales and purchase agreements. Part of the consideration are N EBREF LAY E DA Z AIWEL > A
received on or before the date of delivery of the properties to customers which is  BRFITESAIE (&

recorded as contract liabilities.

2025 2024
“E-RHE =Sy 8= S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Contract liabilities arising from property MEREEBREEZAHNE8E

development business 5,956 84,254
2025 2024
—ERE “E 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
At 1 April 84,254 133,511

Revenue recognised for the balances included in the ‘f'j' FAFEYENERZEEERN
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (78,233) (42,259)
Exchange adjustments (65) (6,998)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 5,956 84,254

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the amount of sales deposits received expected tobe MR ZE_HFKR-_ZTZMWEFE=F=+—H> 88

recognised as revenue after one year is nil.

RN —FREIDBRANBRBHEERERT
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. THE&®E

2025 2024

—ERE B E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 April REE—H 3,795 9,738
Additions ANE 5,063 =
Interest expense BB 532 700
Lease payments GEN-ENEN (6,035) (6,312)
Exchange adjustments bE AR EE (5) (331)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 3,350 3,795
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities B ORBIBEIE T2 RIE (2,864) (3,526)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities IERBEB/E IR ZIE 486 269

Future lease payments are due as follows:

FRBENMRZ BB RMOT :

Minimum

lease
payments Interest  Present value
RERERR e RiE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2025 RZE_AF=A=+—H FHERT FHERT TR
Within one year —FR 3,030 (166) 2,864

Within a period of more than one year but BE—FErBERERERA

not more than two years 497 (11) 486
3,527 (177) 3,350

Minimum

lease
payments Interest Present value
RIEBEN FE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2024 RZE_MNE=A=+—H FATT FAT FHATT
Within one year —FR 3,746 (220) 3,526

Within a period of more than one year but BE—FErBEMFREA

not more than two years 272 3) 269
4,018 (223) 3,795
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. &7
Number
of shares Amount
K8 &%
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each EREE.01B T ZiER
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 é: T —FPA—H-
“ETNE=BA=+—HK
“ERF=R=+—H 498,000,000,000 498,000
Non-voting convertible preference shares of SREE0E T BN TR
HK$0.001 each PRGBS iR
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 AR _FMA—H-
:g_lﬁlﬁ—ﬁ =+t—Hk
CE_RFE=ZRA=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000
500,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SREE0.001E T LB
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 MR- _=ZFMBE—H-
:E_EE—E—+—E&
“ETHRFE=B=+—H 20,319,072,320 20,319
29. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 29. BEHRER

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal AEEZ B RGASRIZER AT 2RO EER
value of the shares and share premium of the then holding company and the MR HEEEAATEANR—HNNA=FEA_+AH
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the group reorganisation on 25 S EEARETRMZEEZ EZ5E  BEEAMNZ
May 1993, together with the amounts transferred from share capital and share == —4 )\ B 4l B A& 25 B8 38 25 Bz BG 1) 125 18 BR 43
premium account as a result of the capital reduction taken place in August 2001, less 2 FUIB » 78 B k< B8 B ~ &[S RS 15 Frr FB 7 I8 B 4
dividends paid, amounts utilised on redemption of shares and amount eliminated ~ $8R5tE58 2 TR IE

against accumulated losses.
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

30. IRERERMERME
MEEBEEZAEHR:

Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Interest  non-controlling holding
Borrowings payables interests company Lease liabilities
IR BARRER
fa FEfHIS REETIE YNGIE(E] HEaf
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
T TET THT TET AT
At 1 April 2024 RZE_MERA—H 534,158 236,537 51,905 1,624 3,795
Changes from cash flows: RenELE !
Interest paid BEHE = = = - (532)
Payment of principal portion of SRRESRLEHD
the lease liabilities - - - - (5,503)
Repayments B = = (349) (12) =
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) HERBAR (E37) = = = = -
Non-cash transactions (Note 42) FRER5 (k) - - S . 5,063
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSMEZEPRE - - (349) (12) 972)
Interest incurred FEEHRIS = 55,691 = = 532
Exchange adjustments ERAE (3,120) (2,149) (302) = (5
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=A=1+—H 531,038 290,079 51,254 1,612 3,350
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued)

30. ZERERERMTE @

MEEPEEZARHR: @

Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Interest ~ non-controlling holding
Borrowings payables interests company  Lease liahilities
SRR BOSLER
EE MRS A YNSIEOE HERE
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FET THET TET FET TET
At 1 April 2023 RI2Z=FNA—H 820,760 193,189 79,028 1,636 9,738
Changes from cash flows: ReEmegs .
Interest paid BAFIE - (5503) - - (700)
Payment of principal portion of YHREaGEAEHD
the lease liabilities - - - - (5,612)
Repayments B (65) = = (12) =
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) HERBAT (H:37) (266,205) (3,020) - - -
Non-cash transactions (Note 42) FRERH (3H42) = (1401) (22,859) = =
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSRBZEHEE (266,270) (9924) (22,859) (12) (6,312)
Interest incurred il = 62,362 = = 700
Exchange adjustments ERHE (20332) 9,090) (4264) = (331)
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=A=+—H 534,158 236,537 51,905 1,624 3,795
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

31. HAER

2025 2024
- S = —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FEx
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted FhiZ FHREBEYES H
to purchasers of the Group’s properties BB RRITIREZER 449,670 452,342

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of
the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of
the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon and any penalty
owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the Group is then entitled to take over
the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period commences from the
dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate.

The Group’s management, with its assessment of the current and outlook of the
market, perceives that the possibility of default in mortgage loans by home buyers
is remote and, in the event of default, the liabilities caused to the Group will be
minimal as the loss will be adequately mitigated by the proceeds recovered from the
sales of the repossessed properties. Accordingly, no provision is made in the accounts
for the guarantees.

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 11 September 2023, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting, the Company announced a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive and/
or rewards to the selected directors and employees of the Group, the Company’s
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies (the “Eligible
Participants”) for their contribution or potential contribution to the development
and long-term growth of the Group, and the Scheme will expire on 11 September
2033.

The maximum number of shares which may be issuable under the Scheme and any
other scheme of the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) cannot exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the adoption date or the relevant date of
approval of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, 11 September 2023 (the
“‘Adoption Date”). The total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme is
2,031,907,232 shares, representing approximately 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of this report.
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FEM o FIt > WERE PRI -

32. HBRRHESTE

RIB-=ZFAB+—R BREAAFBELR
BAG BB EEREE AQADSH—EHE
RRREETE (T518)) > WA AEENERERER
WMEEHEBSET SN AEE  AATER
AR ARNBATDRBEADNETEERIE
8 ((&EKR28E)) RESE R, REE - Mt
BN _E==FAA+—HER-

RiEst 8 A RBERAEMFR A FET RS
RmeE (SrEE#ERRE) MIBARIRMBE
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued to each Eligible Participants
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Scheme), within
12-month period cannot exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the proposed date on which the option is being granted unless prior shareholders
approval obtained. Where an option is to be granted to an independent non-
executive director or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates, and the grant will result in the number of the relevant shares
exceeding 0.1% (or such other percentage as may be specified by the Stock Exchange
from time to time) of the total number of Shares in issue at the relevant time of
grant, such grant shall not be valid unless prior shareholders approval obtained.

Subject to the provisions in the Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time
within the period of ten (10) years after the Adoption Date to make an offer of the
grant of share option(s) to any Eligible Participant as the Board may in its absolute
discretion select to subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board may determine
at the exercise price.

The exercise price of share options depends on the price of the Shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange, which in turn depends on when the Board is to grant Share
Options under the Scheme. The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors
and shall be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date; (b) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date.

No option has been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group
contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,500 per month per person
to the MPF Scheme, which is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the schemes
is to make the required contributions under the schemes. For each of the two
financial years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no contribution was forfeited (by
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) under the retirement benefit schemes which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

32. BBigiEsHE (@
PRIEESAIRER F A E  IM12E R HEA BT
kA ERSRERTZRMBE (BE
BIETZETHERHEKRTERERE  FEBBEE
AENERREBREEACHTREZ1%- 14
BAADBIUFATEFATERRARERE
BERBBEARLBERE MEHEEZEMR
NBEBERHERDEHITRMBEB0.1% (K
B PRAJBER BB E R E M B O tE) - FRIFESE
SeRR Rt DRIBRIR LB ERL -

ESBRXHERT EFERARN KW E B
BT10)FHEABRRAESTG AR ERIEE
ENEMEERSAEROREBRENEL:
DT BB ER G B E B ERRD

BB IR 2 (T EBRURN PR 19 1L Bk 32 PR P ¥R AU (B
%o MBI BEMBURN EF G WRRER
SHEREERE-TEERBEFEERTFE
RUT®RSE (R EHBPEBRIEERE
Bz ROWHE )R EERENH R AAE
EXOAEMRFASAREBEMRZ THARND KT

L
BRI BRIt R A o

33. RREFEHE

AEBAMEEECEREER LB IEAR
5t 8 (REEEE)) BRI ZEERL
EREHESIRER THRFEABEZEZR
B AEBRAMBFTREZ5%NE A FH1,500
ATZBREERBRRT T EFHER MEST
AIFHEF TR HR e

REBZHAHEEEATEBNRIIZEREIER
REFEHEIZ R E - FEIM B A B ARRKET
SEEHEFEE TEDEZHE (FARMRE
MzE REFBFAEBEEREERAARERESIL
BitflvE—EFE - BE_T_HFEK_ZF [T
F=A=+—HIEMAMBREESSE  BAREF
FrEIE T EEZWMER CPHEERREZSE
HARBHEFBAIR HFENESRIENHER) 7]
A B B LN R AR R EE 2 AT Rk o
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34, CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings
as disclosed in Note 24, offset by bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. In managing
the Group’s capital structure, the management will also monitor the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings to ensure compliance with financial covenants.

. EERBEE
K%l BHES DERTEEANZERERE

HUFEEELAEE RANTEBEREHA
REZBEREZ FHMARRFIEEKOR &
EEERRBRREFHERTE-

FEBZEARBOEER TR (HPEEWE
244X T fER WIRTT T RIS UkER
AHEANEBERED (BRERTREKRER) -5
EEAEEZEARE BEEETREERTK
HifEMZ ERBERURRET T2

2025 2024

“TTRE = 11s =5

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Borrowings & 531,038 534,158
Bank balances and cash IRTTEEREE (315,413) (334,518)
Net borrowings fERCF 28 215,625 199,640
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAV B AELER 302,978 530,853
Net debts to equity FEBERIEE 71.17% 37.61%

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the new shares issues and share buy-back as well
as the issuance of new debt.
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

35. ERTH
(a) Z=RtTE%ER

2025 2024
—ERE “E 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Assets measured at amortised cost BBIER At ENEE
(including bank balances and cash) (BIERITEEFELIRS) 387,149 475,705
Financial liabilities EHaE
Liabilities measured at amortised cost BBIER At ENEE 674,930 666,812
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3,350 3,795
678,280 670,607

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash, restricted bank deposits, trade and other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, amount due to ultimate holding company, amount
due from (to) an associate, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group through internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree
and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk (including currency risks and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

() EREMREEEBFERBE
FEEZFTEETMTACREBREZRERAEM
FEWERIE N IRTTHEF RIRE  RIRFIRITER B
B ZREREMAE SRR B IR ERI 0
BB RKIERATRIE B () — R E
AEMEfERRBERE - LEEMTAFE
DRI BN B RN EE o

EXEBBREARN L BEERZERBEDN
Bk ERAEEEAEESEEBZEHEA
BezERREET SRR (BREE%RRRFER
Rk ~EERBREREE T R T X EH AR
ZERABZER - BEFEERERILFRRE U
FEARBE K By e B U IR BB S 18 T ©
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31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

()  Foreign currency risk management

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk in relation to HK$ and
USD arising from foreign currency bank balances and cash and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amount of the Group’s material foreign currency denominated
monetary assets/liabilities and inter-group foreign currency balances at the end of
respective reporting periods are as follow:

35. ERITA ®

b) SREAKREEEERBE @

i) SMEEKREE
AEBETETEIMNECRTEERBES UREKE
SIRIER A MW RIER S BRI TR ETY
SNSRI ©

FERNUTBIMNEHEZEBEE QERER
BISMEEERSREMARZREENT -

2025 2024
“E"RE —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET

Assets BE
HK$ BT 10,845 94,393
usD E7T 307,288 310,919

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative contracts to minimise the
currency risk exposure. However, the Directors will consider hedging significant
currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in HK$ and USD against
RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2024: 5%) increase and
decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2024: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used in directors” assessment of the possible reasonably change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items as well as inter-group foreign
currency halances and adjusts their translation at the year ended for a 5% (2024: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number indicates an increase in loss
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currencies. For a 5%
weakening of the RMB against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on loss for the year.
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
()  Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

35. ERITA ®

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE @®
iy SMEREBRERE (@&
HRED T (B)

2025 2024
—E"RE “ENE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TExT FEx

HK$ against RMB BTRARE (542) 4,720)
USD against RMB ETRARE (15,364) (15,546)

(ii)  Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and
other borrowings (Note 24).

As the bank balances and restricted bank deposit and borrowings at variable
interest rates have limited fluctuation over the year, management of the Group are
of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is minimal.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented on bank balances and restricted bank
deposits.

(iii)  Credit risk management

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECL for factoring receivables, loan receivables, trade receivables, other
receivables and other deposits and amount due from an associate as at 31
March 2025 and 2024. The average expected loss rate is derived from the gross
carrying amount and loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 after taken
into accounting of the collaterals, historical default rate and forward looking
information.

(i) FIEERERE
AEBAZERBBEMNXRIBITREMMER (st
24) ZAREFIZE R o

RER> ARRITEERZREBITERURA
BHXERMNZRBER ZEEEEER AL
SEARZzZEeERANXABEBRE FIL - 1
REVNERRTHEFRZREBITERZERE
DT e

(i) EEERKEERE
TRIEHERAEEN S AER T _N4F
ZA=1+—HBREKRRERIE - BRER B
B 5 RIE - MW ERIE K H iz & U K BN —
REMERBREMAZ 2 EERBAEREE
BIEBZEN K RIEHR ELENEKRARE
MERD FHBAGEEXIRBEN S aF kT
T_ME=B=+—HZAEREEMEIBEES
ﬁo

Annual Report 2024/2025 £ # 209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March2025 —E_HF=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. EMTHA @
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (b) ERAMEBIZFEEEREE @
(iii) Credit risk management (Continued) (iii) EERMEIRE (@&
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARS 1R 3R HERREE EeiaRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RE=RA=+—H FERT FET
Factoring receivables FEWRIZETNIE 100% 64,426 64,426
Loan receivables FEWRE = 100% 131,148 131,148
Trade receivables FEW & 7 BR1E 99.8% 146,611 146,383
Other receivables HhpEWERIE 15.6% 35,907 5,613
Amount due from an associate FEUR — KB A B R IE 1.7% 32,280 536
Other deposits Hhige 4.4% 9,232 410
419,604 348,516
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SELE] SRR MRERmEE B iaRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZE_ME=RA=+—H THT FHET
Factoring receivables FEWRIERR IR 100% 64,806 64,806
Loan receivables FEWER 100% 131,919 131,919
Trade receivables FEU & 7 BR1E 0.4% 73,955 320
Other receivables HMEWIRE 10.2% 33,566 3,408
Amount due from an associate FEUR— KB A B R IE 1.7% 31,637 548
Other deposits Hitig+ 41% 6,118 253
342,001 201254
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

The changes of the ECL rate is mainly taken the following factors into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly subsequently:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the marco-economic
environment;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse changes in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligation.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the factoring receivables, loan
receivables and trade and other receivables. Management has performed indepth
due diligence reviews of the financial background and creditability of the
counterparties who owe debts to the Group.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits, which arises from possible default of the
counterparty, is low. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has placed these
deposits with banks and financial institutions of high credit.

Management has a formal credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk
is monitored through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up enquires on
overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount.

Trade receivables for leasing and relevant services of computer equipment
with gross carrying amounts in aggregate of approximately HK$146,383,000
(2024: HK$73,829,000) as at 31 March 2025 were assessed individually.

The estimated loss rates are based on external credit ratings and/or internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors with similar loss pattern and study of other
corporations’ default and recovery data and forward-looking information (for
example, the current and forecasted economic growth rates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Macau, which reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate) that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment allowance of approximately
HK$146,383,000 (2024: HK$320,000) was provided for the trade receivables which
are assessed individually during the year ended 31 March 2025. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on loss rate approach (2024: provision matrix) within lifetime ECL.

35. EFMITA®

(b) =FEFEEEBFEREE (@

(i) FERRER (@
ETEEERRETBERERER AHEES
BIEXEHTEEBUTER

- ZREEEREZERIFEHRERERL,

- EB MBREEER LRANLEATH
BRBENEBAREEBNENBE
T ;

- EHAKERRZEBERSEREERL K

- EHANEE CEARMREPERNTE
HHE’JE?(T?’F'J“(I: BREBNEERHH
FENRRE T

7~ 5 B B 2R B FE R AR IE RN IR E MUK FE IR

BHREREMBYRENEERR -EEED
HEXRTEREBENHFHTHMTEERREEE
TRABRESE -

FERHMEMEE (BRRTEFRREUR

RRHIBTER WEERRREH FHEQNN
BJREMRE -NREHR  AEBCRZEFFN

ﬁ%ﬁffufﬁ*mﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬂzﬁn%ﬁ?fﬁo

BEEHET EXNEHIE TEBTHEE
FEUAR B R S AR B IR B R R B
50 A5 B FE Bk — B A MEBNE 5T
fERRLE

\—V—EQE ﬁ + EEEEI\U{EA/\/\G
146,383,00078 71 (— & — PO 4 : 73,829,00078 7T) AY5T
HikRERE &*ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂm}%wf"i%ﬁﬁﬁﬂm
BEE(E o

Bt BIREDIRIMNBEETRE IR BIEET
RE D EFELUGEREANNZBEHE AER
8 W HHEMA B EA KWK BRI > MU
REBEEB S M A8/ R EEBYAT R I B K
(B0 > [ BR1E 5 A\ RS E PR BR 1T 3 BB B AR
AYEE ~ B A it B R P A K FREA A IR R )
mER AEEETEREGEHNRTARMER
REEBEHANBEREHEEM-

BE_Z_AF=-HA=+—HLEE - x£EEE
MEE_ T _RAE=ZR=1+—HIEESEBIE
BIFE UK B 57 BRIE 51 12 8t {8 35 15 49146,383,00078 75
(ZZ U4 320,0005870) o FREHYIIGZEHATE
HEEBERAIE NTHEERE (CE T INE &
B SHENEKREZERBEERBMONE
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AR PR ER R M

31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

35. T A @
(b) =RHEAMREEBERBER @)

(iii) Credit risk management (Continued) (iiiy EEERMEIRE (@&
Trade receivables [EWE S RIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARS 1A= BRI B ik
% HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=A=+—H THT T#T
1— 2 year past due BENE2E 99.8% 146,611 (146,383)
146,611 (146,383)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SEEE S ES MERREE it
% HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_MNE=RA=+—H FHETT FHTT
Not past due R 0.4% 73,829 (309)
1 — 2 year past due B =25 8.7% 126 (11)
73,955 (320)
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of  SR#EEATRKRIBERIFEURIRIBE T A E B0 M

customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
independent customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no loss allowance was necessary for the year
ended 31 March 2025 in respect of these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Loan receivables

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to obtain loans from the Group
are subject to management review. In the event of default or failure to repay any
outstanding loan amounts by the customers, the Group will proceed with the sale of
collaterals in order to maintain the credit risk at desirable level.
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)
Factoring receivables

The Group has a high concentration of credit risk as all receivables were due from
six parties as at 31 March 2025. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
obtained guarantees from related companies of the third parties, who agreed to
provide guarantees of the factoring receivables to the Group in case of default.
The directors consider that both the third parties and its related companies have
sufficient financial capacity to repay the factoring receivables when the factoring
arrangements were entered into.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the collaterals under unexpired factoring contracts
are not permitted to be sold or/and will be matured in November 2031 by the Group
in the event of default by the debtors.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan receivables, factoring
receivables, trade and other receivables and amount due from an associate during
the years is as follows:

35. EMITA®

(b) =HEAMREEBERBER @)
(i) EEEKRERE (@)
FEWIRIEZIE

N ZEZRFZA=+—H ' A&EBERFMBEEIW
IRIEFZRBARGINAMAESEETNEER
HommeEREEERR ~AEBERE=F2MH
BABEBER EZFRREEANNER T
FEBRIBRIBEAAERIRHEER ESDAE=
FREMB AT S BRI AE Eﬁ%”ﬂ%ﬁ
B (GBI RERZ) ©
RIBEZHRFERZZEINFE=R=+—8 R
R EHRIESA Fﬁwf\L LB R FF IR R
MERERHESR MR ZE=—F+—H%
AR o

REREER BRFRERE -BWEZRER
HAEUWARIE LR B — R E AT RIE » A F
EREEEREZHUT

Credit-impaired ~ Non credit-impaired Total
BEEERE BESRE “mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 AR -FNBE—H 208,461 1,968 210,429
Impairment losses recognised during the year RERNERIREEE 2,878 2,878 2,878
Disposal of subsidiary HERBAR (295) (295) (295)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (11,736) 22) (11,758)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 \_g_mfﬁ A=+—HBk
—E-mEmE—H 196,725 4,529 201,254
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 71X —Z & — 8 —HERH
asat 1 January 2024: SRHTEEENES
Transfer to credit impaired HEZEERHEREE 320 (320)
Impairment losses recognised during the year RENERAREEE 146,063 2,349 148,412
Exchange adjustments ERAE (1,151) 1 (1,150)
At 31 March 2025 A ZBTRF=A=+—H 341,957 6,559 348,516

As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables with an amount of approximately
HK$146,383,000 is credit impaired as the management consider the amount is
uncollectible.

RIE_RHF=B=+—H£%8%9146,383,0008
THEKEZRBESEENE NEEBEBRAAZ
FIEAEAIRE]
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 —E_HE=A=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

For properties held for sale which are subject to pre-sales agreements, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up
to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and
any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain
the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of bank balances and cash deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, by raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands.

The Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2025, the Group has borrowings of approximately HK$531,038,000 (Note 24) (2024:
HK$534,158,000).
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31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. ERT A @

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (b) TAMEAMBEEEERBR @
(iv) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (ivy WEESRKRER @
Liquidity table B EZ X

TRFINAEEFTESHMBRZH TAOE
HeZRNDIREBEAEBENAREREESHMER
ZRFPEPZEMBERAMBRTRERER

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which

the Group can be required to pay.

Weighted Total
average undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Ondemand  Within 1 year 110 2 years 2-5 year Over 5 year cash flow amount
KRERRE
TR HEX R—FR 1525 1E5E SELE mEE IREE
RIZZ1fE
As at 31 March 2025 =B=+-H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
Non-derivative financial liabilities: it eRad:
Trade, other payables and amounts due ISREGEIER
to third parties HAERIREBR
EfE=HB 91,026 - - - - 91,026 91,026
Amount due to ultimate holding company ~ FE} RASERATIFIE 1,612 = = - - 1,612 1,612
Amount due to non-controlling interests e IEREIRETE 51,254 - - - - 51,254 51,254
Borrowings, fixed rate EER=ER 10.43% 145,608 440,816 - - = 586,424 531,038
Lease liabilities HEBR 10.10% - 3,030 497 - - 3,527 3,350
289,500 443,846 497 - - 733,843 678,280
Financial guarantee contracts HBERED
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) REERSE (H:32) 449,700 - - - - 449,700 -
The above liquidity table includes both interest and principal cash flows. U ERBESREFFNEREATRERE
Weighted On demand Total
average or within 1t02 25 Over  undiscounted (arrying
Interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
BREXE FERRE
TSR = R—%R 1R VE5E SENE MERE REE
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=+-H HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAR TAT Thx TiEn
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Fitsmas:
Trade and other payables ENEFRERAMEMIRE 75,545 = = = 75,545 75,545
Amount due to ultimate holding company I REERARRE 1624 S = = 1624 1624
Amounts due to non-controlling interests IR ETE 51905 - = = 51,905 51905
Amount due to an associate Ef—RBEATE 3,580 < = = 3,580 3,580
Borrowings B 10.43% 568,297 2250 23822 - 594,369 534,158
Lease liabilties REEE 898% 6,538 - - - 6,538 3795
707,489 2250 23822 - 733,561 670,607
Financial guarantee contracts: HBEREN.
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) REEFREE (E32) 45234 = = - 452342 =

The above liquidity table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 14 March 2025, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of
Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management Co., Ltd. from an
independent third party for consideration of HK$5,332,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,000,000. This acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was
approximately HK$2,228,000. Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property
Management Co., Ltd. is engaged in property management in the PRC.

The acquisition has been completed on 14 March 2025.

36. WEEKMIEB AR

R CE_RF=RA+MHBE AEEBEIE =S
WEEEITEAR BN MESEFREATN
100%E 1T IR 4 » 1B 45,332,0008 T (FEER
AE%5,000,0007T) © 3% X =18 E B K E A
ReAWBEEEMEENEESEEL 52,228,000
B BEFENE BN MESEERATE
THEPEREYESE

WEEEENR _Z_AF =B +WMHTM-

HK$'000
FET
Consideration KE
Consideration payable FES B 5,332
HK$'000
FET
Fair value of assets and liabilities recognized RN EEREENARE !
at the date of acquisition:
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y 175
Trade and other receivables FEU E S ERIB R M FE IR AR 1B 2,813
Bank balances and cash RITEGFERIRE 1,433
Trade and other payables FE B ZRIBREME[TIRIE (1,317)
Total fair value of identifiable net assets acquired BURET A FEEN AN ERRE 3,104
Goodwill arising on acquisition WESEEEENHE
HK$'000
FEx
Consideration payable FELGRE 5,332
Less: net assets acquired B EBEWEREE (3,104)
Goodwill arising on acquisition W EBEEENEE 2,228

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property
Management Co., Ltd. because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of
Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management Co., Ltd. as at acquisition
date. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do
not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
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AR TS ERERMIGE

31 March2025 —E_HE=F=+—H

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

During the year ended 31 March 2025, included in the loss for the year of the Group
is an approximate net profit of HK$218,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management Co., Ltd.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2024, total revenue of the Group
for the year would have been approximately HK$197,712,000 and loss for the
year would have been approximately HK$394,933. The pro-forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2024, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the Group had Residential
Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property Management Co., Ltd. been acquired at the beginning
of the current year, the Directors calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment based on the recognised amounts of property, plant and equipment
since 1 April 2024.

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2024, (i) loans with total amount of approximately
HK$80,867,000 (equivalent to approximately USD10,368,000) borrowed from the
Group together with non-controlling shareholder by Fujian Evercon Optical, which
was non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, has been capitalised as shares and
resulted in an increase of share capital of Fujian Evercon Optical to approximately
HK$314,867,000 (equivalent to approximately USD40,368,000); (i) Eyebright
Medical Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd (“Eyebright”) has injected approximately
HK$183,667,000 (equivalent to approximately USD23,547,000) to subscribe for
additional registered capital of Fujian Evercon Optical, which represented 36.84%
interests in Fujian Evercon Optical (the “Capital Injection”); and (iii) the Group
disposed of 14.16% and 15% equity interest in Fujian Evercon Optical to Eyebright
and Blissful Year Management Company Limited (“Blissful Year”) with cash
consideration of approximately HK$75,564,000 and HK$16,608,000 respectively.

With the decrease of effective shareholdings held by the Group from 70% to 23.8%,
the Group classified its interest in Fujian Evercon Optical as interest in an associate as
at 31 March 2024.

36. WEEKMIB AR @
”QE§$IE¥1¢$.¥,E
FABBREEREZELER @) MESESR
NEEEITIEEFEGIETFEE47218,00078

TEO

‘?/E

R ZEZNFNA —HERREEE A&
FERHEU A £49197,712,00058 70 » T ER 8
P #49394,933 B Lo B EBRMEMRB A I
FRRFXTHEBEEER S ZOFMNAE—HE
B AEEERGERNBRARKEEE  IIE
BRIERAYRREENTEA

FEEMNENERBEETIELE @M Y%
EEFRARNBER TREEN MEE ) WA KRG
ME EEEREBYE -BEARBE TN
FHA—HURNEEDEEAETYE -MEK
RIFBEVITE -

37. HEMWBATR
RBEE_T_NEZA=+—HLEE  ()BE
EBfEERE CEEFZENBLR) ORERKIE
PR RR BR 1B A AR £ BB 497380,867,00078 7T (FEE T
#910,368,000%7T) WERM BB RKM ERNEEE
B4 R B9 IR A 18 10 2 49314,867,00078 7T (FEE AT
40,368, 000%%‘3) J(IEEEE (bR BERERD
BRAE (ME185E1E)) FE49183,667,000% 7T (1B
B 4923,547,0003E 7T) * LUET %&L&Tﬁ;ﬂﬁﬁeﬁ
REIMEMRAS (LR B E M E36.84% ) (T
Bl ; Ki)AERDBIUIRE A EL75,564,00078
TC/5216,608,00078 TR EEHRERIFFEEERARA
B (M) HERBEEIEERN14.16%515%%
o

BEEAREBNERHERT0% T FEE23. 8%:ZIK$
BN CEEERBMEI R EARE_S
FEZRA=+—BR—REE AT 2 e
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 37. HEMBAR @

The disposal was completed on 6 November 2023, on which date, in the opinion HESZSBER _ZE_=F+—H/\H=H’'&~AF
of the directors of the Company, control of Fujian Evercon Optical was passed to EEBRA > REEEERNITHEREHIERE
Eyebright. The net assets of Fujian Evercon Optical at the date of disposal are as BB E - BESBEENHELBENBEESE

follows: W
HK$'000
Consideration: KE: TFAT
Consideration received and receivable B R ERARE 92,172
HK$'000

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which REEHNENEERBEDIT
control was lost: FET
Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y 361,533
Intangible assets B EE 2,537
Prepayment FEfTFRIE 69,325
Inventories T8 24,478
Trade and other receivables FE IR B 5 BR T8 K H fth FE UR BR 18 129,555
Bank balances and cash RTEEFENRIREE 74,682
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 BR T8 K H fth FE (< BR 1B (59,480)
Borrowings — current RG] (31,993)
Borrowing — non-current B —3IERNHR (234,212)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 336,425
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31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

37. HEMBAE @

HK$'000
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMBARZ RS - FAET
Consideration received and receivable B R FEUAE 92,172
Less: Net assets disposed of B BHEBEEFE (336,425)
Add: Non-controlling interests o0 JEESIRe 129,683
Add: Cumulative translation reserve of the subsidiary 77 - SLAAEM B AR T EEERENDEN
reclassified from profit or loss on loss on control of MEAB R B RE
the subsidiary 536
Add: Fair value of interest in an associate M R—REGERBD 2 R ARE 114,846
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEKB ARz Wm 812

An analysis of net cash inflow of bank balances and cash in respect of disposal of a
subsidiary is as follows:

BERLENBARNRITEFRREENREESRA
PRI ¢

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration received BYIRERE 75,564
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BHERITEERRE (74,682)
Net cash inflow of bank balances and cash RITHEFEAIRENIRERAFEE 882

The impact of Fujian Evercon Optical on the Group’s results and cash flows in the
current and prior periods is disclosed in note 38.

38. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(@) Contact Lens Business Segment

As referred to note 16 and note 37, the Group discontinued its contact lens business
operation at the time of disposal of its subsidiary, Fujian Evercon Optical. The
disposal was completed on 6 November 2023, on which date control of Fujian
Evercon Optical was passed to Eyebright. Fujian Evercon Optical represented a
separated major line of business and, therefore, was classified as a discontinued
operation.

BEEBERNAERNANERBERRENE
BRI MEN R B 36K E -

38. BARIERREEE

(a) PEHIRERXEFETE

UM 6 R M EE3 7R It AR E MR HE B A
FERE RGBS CE SRS e
EER_E=—F+—AHER REEEE
BENESIRN PSR EE SRS - R A
EABINTEEXES AN EABRLRE
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

38. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
(@) Contact Lens Business Segment (Continued)

38. BAXIEREEFE @
(a) PBEWERFEEFILE @)

ﬂ

The loss for the year from the discontinued operation was analysed as below. BRI SRR FREIRS $ﬁ§ZD—F °

The results of the contact lens business operation for the period from 1 April 2023 to B REXFN _ S _=FNF—HE_ZT_=
31 October 2023, which were included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss E£+HA=+—BILHIBMNESE (Bt AGaER

and other comprehensive income, were as follows:

REMEEWZR WNT :

Period ended
31 October 2023

BE_ZT-=F
+BA=+—H
LEHARS
HK$’000
THET
Revenue WA 50,525
Cost of sales THEM K (49,552)
Other income, gains and losses HM A~ W K E5 18 (7,412)
Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation HEBKRIEKEER W 812
Selling expenses HEER (2,081)
Administrative and other expenses TR EAME R (18,612)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ME-BEREEZRERBE (13,589)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivable, net FE B ZRIBRHEMEWIRIE Y
ERIEFEE (886)
Provision of inventories FEERG (9,245)
Finance costs BE RS (5,868)
Loss before taxation from the discontinued operation BRI £ IE R A8 (55,908)
Income tax expenses T8> -
Loss for the period/year from the discontinued operation BRI E N, EREE (55,908)
Exchange differences arising on translation of financial REBIINEBYBRREEZ
statements of foreign operations E R ERE (5,580)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the period/year BRIECEEFFNE, EFRABER
from the discontinued operation SHEMAXAEEE (61,488)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Fujian Evercon Optical used approximately MREZE_ZE_NF=A=+—HLFE EEE
HK$7,386,000 and HK$19,396,000 respectively in respect of the Group’s operating  1B4EBE T AEERKE FENRIREEFH D RIER
activities and investing activities and generated cash inflow of approximately — %37,386,0005% 75 519,396,000 7 » B Rh & & Eh &
HK$85,657,000 from financing activities. The carrying amounts of the assets and 53R % 7 A 4985,657,00058 77 c B 2 = B4 B
liabilities of Fujian Evercon Optical at the date of disposal are disclosed in note 37. EHNEERAENIREBENRM37HE -
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38. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(b) International Business Settlement Segment

On 15 March 2024, the Company announced that the Group would abandon the
international business settlement segment since there are numerous unfavorable
changes in the external environment and no revenue was generated from this
segment and it continued to operate at a loss since 2016. The management decided
to reallocate the Group’s resources and cease the operations of this segment in
March 2024.

The loss for the year from the discontinued operation is analysed as below.

The results of the international business settlement operation for the period from
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, which have been included in the consolidated

38. BRARLERKREEE @®

(b) ERBEEEEDE
l%%mﬁ&ﬁkgTﬂ%E.ﬁiﬁﬁ%m%
NEELEEEWA N LEZHEE S AEfE
—EEEES AATN-E-ME=/A+AH
B AEBBHEDRSEEESH-SEE
REBHAEALEEANGSRBIN S _WE=7
B Do

ERIEEEFZEFNBERONNT -

BEREEEEFN _ S _=FN—HE_Z
TE=ZA=+—HLEHENEE Bt ALRS

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were as follows: BakEMEERER) T -
Year ended
31 March 2024
BHE-_ZT/MF
—BE=+—H
ILFE
HK$'000
FHET
Other income, gains and losses HT’@H&)\ W K B518 -
Administrative and other expenses TEREMER (7,379)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment %% BB R ERERE =
Finance costs E=®N (526)
Loss before taxation from the discontinued operation B IEREEBHRRAIEE (7,905)
Exchange differences arising on translation of HMEBINEFUBERREEZ
financial statements of foreign operations PE =% 1,092
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year from the B4 55 KEEBFNFENEEER
discontinued operation [l L (6,813)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the international business settlement segment
used cash outflows of approximately HK$7,222,000 in the Group’s operating
activities, and generated cash of approximately HK$6,395,000 from financing
activities. No cash flow are generated from or used in respect of investing activities
for the year.

HEZZ_NE=—B=+—HLEE EEmZE
EEHYEEBAEENKE EHTERRSREN
7,222,00078 7T > M B Bl B B E 4 3R £ 496,395,000
B o ENITEMKREZSESIERTMANRE

ik
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

39. AT ZMFERRR R HE

COMPANY

2025 2024
—ERE —EE
HK’000 HK'000
FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RtB AR Zz’RE 124 124
Property, plant and equipment M- MEKREE - 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B AR FIE - 388,126
124 388,251

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEURE 5 RRIB R Eth R IR AR 1B 2,155 2,154
Bank balances and cash IRITHEERERS 305,818 235,595
307,973 237,749
Current liabilities REAaE

Trade and other payables FE B 5 R1IB R M E(TRIE 323 1,369
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEI B AR FIA 54,172 54,172
Amount due to ultimate holding company I RAER A B IE 1,612 1,624
56,107 57,165
Net current assets REBEEFE 251,866 180,584
Net assets BERE 251,990 568,835

Capital and reserves B s B (et
Share capital (Note 28) B&7R (PI5%28) 20,319 20,319
Reserves 4] 231,671 548,516
Total equity R 251,990 568,835

On behalf of the board of directors

Yuen Leong
R
Director

EF
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31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

39. AATZMHBRARRKFEE @

Reserves B
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
KRiaE BERBOHFE REtEE L
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FRIT TR FAT FRIT
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-=&#mMB—H 9,009,799 3,781 (8,316,793) 696,787
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRBEREERZ A5
for the year - - (148,271) (148,271)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R_E_ME=A=+—H
R-ZE-MEMAE—A 9,009,799 3,781 (8,465,064) 548,516
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREEMSTEE
for the year - - (316,845) (316,845)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RAFE=B=+—H 9,009,799 3,781 (8,781,909) 231,671
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 40. FEBFFERBATIZEFE
(@) Subsidiaries of the Company @ ZAATRZHEBRE

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: KRB ZWBABEBNOT -

Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
ML, B817/
kL Edpub EMRARRE FARGREERE TEER EERR
2025 2024
“ZCEE ZECAFE
Directly held
BEEFE
Surplus Rich Investments Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Management service to group  Private limited liability
EBRUHE /B S companies company
HEERBRUEERE MABRAF
Chaoyue Investment Holdings Limited The BVI/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BHRERRERAS EBEUHE/BE BT REEK company
MABRRA
Successtime Limited The BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BEBRAR BREYHE /BB 1%E7T REZR company
HABRAT
Longday International Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
FHERERAR EBRUEE /B8 (ES REER company
MABRAT
IBS Investment Limited The BVI/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EREEETREERAT EBEUHE/BE 100787t REER company
MABRRA
LENSE£ERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB225,063,500 100% 100%  Finance leasing PRC wholly-foreign-owned
(Shanghai Jiajin Industrial Co. Ltd*) HE,/HE AR #225,063,5007% REME enterprise with limited
liability
FESMEREBRAR
Rising Vast Limited The BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EHBRAT EBEUHE/BE 1E7T REEK Company
MABRRA

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

FEEFEMBATZHE @

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ ZTRBZHBAE
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
ML BT/
kg E-iip Hf kSRR EAREREERE TEEH EERR
2025 2024
“22RE  “EIOEE
Indirectly held
BERE
Pride Delight Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HMRERAR EBRUBE/FE (ES REZR company
MWABR2E
WA (B) CEEEERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB12,500,000 60% 60%  Consultancy service and Domestic company with
(United (Fujian) Enterprise Management e,/ AE112,500,0007T trading of goods limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERENERE BRERRAE
INEMEEEELEEERAR The PRC/The PRC USD200,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group 1],/ 200,000,005 75 MELE limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
BESEKERRAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guangxi Changhua Investment Co. Ltd*) e,/ A #10,000,00075 MEERE limited liability
BAERAT
BERREERERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guang Yizheng Trading Co. Ltd*) e,/ A E#10,000,00075 MELE limited liability
BRABRATE
MNEMEEEXEBERADREN The PRC/The PRC N/A 70% 70%  Hotel service Branch of domestic
TEEBER AT FE,/ ENE)E IS AR company with limited
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye Group Co, Ltd liability
Wyndham Hotel branch) BRERARZDAR
Jiahe Investment Management Co. Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
MR EEERRAR &8/ BB 1007875 REZR company
MABRAE
Besting Capital Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
REELBRAT ERRUHE /T ES REER company
BWABRLR
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$234,000,010 70% 70%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EABIMRNZERAR B/ B8 234,000,010787T BREER company
MWABRRE
Chongging Globebill Company Limited The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
LERREERE BB BRAT FE AR #10,000,0007T Bl company
MABRAE
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% 51%  Leasing and trading of Private limited liability
(“Day Technology’) &8/ B8 10,000E7T computer equipment company
AEE (FH) BRAT (AhER) HERBEFEREE  AABRAR

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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31 March 2025 _E_FE=A=+—H

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 40. XEBFFEMRBATIZEFE @
(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ ZFAFZMBAT @)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributable equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
AR BT/
kg E-iip Hf kSRR EAREREERE TEEH EERR
2025 2024

“E2Rg  TOQNE

Indirectly held (Continued)

ERHE @)
Kwok Tin Enterprises Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EXEEBRAT B/ B8 T REZER company
BWABRRF
BNEACEEEFRAT The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guotian Enterprises Management HE,/H A E#1,000,0007% REZR limited liability
Company Limited*) BAERAS
BINE—EERBRAR The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guoyi Enterprises Management e,/ A E1,000,0007T REERR limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
IBST Technology Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
UEBRRMERAR B/ B8 10,0007 7T REZER company
BWABRRF
BEME Ot REARAR The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000/Nil 100% 100%  IBS service Domestic company with
(Yibosiging (Beijing) Technology HE,/HE A E#10,000,00075 BB EEERY limited liability
Company Limited*) S BAERAS
BINMEHEEERERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB1,230,000 100% N/A Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Xinzhi New Enterprise tE,/ AE1,230,0007T (Note (i) TER REZER limited liability
Management Co., Ltd.*) (Hizt)) BRERAT
Matrix Peak Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% N/A~ Investment holding Private limited liability
HERLHE /B8 1E7T (Note (i) TER REER company
(Ha2(ii)) BWABRRF
Chaoyue Property Management Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% N/A~ Investment holding Private limited liability
BHYEEERRAR BB/ BR 1007875 (Note (i) TEH KETR company
(&) MABRAT
BEFELE BN MEEEBRAT The PRC/The PRC RMBS5,000,000 100% N/A Property Management Domestic company with
(Residential Theme Park (Fuzhou) Property HE/HE AR 15,000,00075 (Note (iv)) TEH YEER limited liability
Management Co., Ltd.*) (Hiztfiv) BRERAT
* The English name is for identification purpose only
Note: MIEE -
0] The subsidiary was incorporated on 9 April 2024. (i) ZHBATR S ZNEMAB A HEMARRIL -
(i) The subsidiary was incorporated on 8 January 2025. iy ZMBABRRIZZEZHFE—A/\Ha=EMRKIL-
(i) The subsidiary was incorporated on 17 February 2025. iy ZMBARNR_Z_HRE_BA+tHEMAL-
(iv)  The subsidiary was acquired on 14 March 2025. (ivy EZWBREIN-Z_AF=A+HBEKE-
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

40.

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-  (h)

controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at

31 March 2025 and 2024 that have material non-controlling interests.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of Liuzhou Zhenghe
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited, Day
Technology and Chaoyue Property Management Limited and its wholly owned
subsidiary, which have material non-controlling interests are set out below. The
summarised consolidated financial information below represented amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

Ownership interests and
rights held by

CIEES

TEEFTEMBARZFE @
BEEXFEFIEDZIFEEMNBA

TR AEEBRE_ T _AERTTNF=

B=+—HE#BEAREZEFHEZZIE2ENB R
BlFEIH e

Share repurchased and
cancelled by a non-

Total comprehensive
income (expense)

= A
A

MMENKEZENBAS - EBEBMENER
RAT S KRR U RBEYEEERR AT R
HE2EMBAREREARIFERES
BERSIAM T T
WA B HRTNEER

Hiz G Rt

MBEREIEEE

Place of non-controlling controlling shareholder allocated to Accumulated
Name incorporation/operation interests of a subsidiary non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
JEEHGEREZ —XMBARIFER REEIFEHEEZ
L& SR AR I AR BEERZRERN RRIBE RTHERN 2EWA (%) 8% EHElzRs
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRFE BN “ECRFE BN “ECRF “BONF “E2RF _BOMF
Liuzhou Zhenghe and The PRC/The PRC
its subsidiaries 30% 30% - - (40,381) (17.433) (86,709) (46,328)
N ER R E I A B FE,/ FE
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Hong Kong/Hong Kong
(o., Limited 30% 30% (21,000 - (1,517) (58,173) 37,259 59,776
BHETRAZERAT BB/ BB
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/Hong Kong
Limited 49% 49% = - (116,177) 10,261 (84,621) 31,556
AR (BH) BRAF BB/ BB
Chaoyue Property Management Hong Kong/The PRC
Limited and its subsidiary 49% N/A - - (87) - (87) -
Et#@%*iﬂﬁﬁﬁ RER &5/ HE TERA
HItEA
Individually immaterial BRBTERMESR
subsidiaries with EiZgill-dnd
non-controlling interests HEBAR - = (124) 19 575 699
(21,000) - (158,286) (65326)  (133,583) 45703
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31 March2025 _E_FF=A=+—H

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)

Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiaries:

40. ZEEFEMBATZHE @

(b) HEAEAFEFEDZIFZENBL

Bls¥1E (@)

HINEMREZEREBAT :

2025 2024
—EBCHE —=—mE
HK’000 HK'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue WA 78,233 42,259
Loss for the year FERNEE (136,251) (64,232)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mUWA 1,648 6,122
Total comprehensive expense 2HEMZAELE (134,603) (58,110)
Total comprehensive expense allocated to PEEIFEGELR 2 2EMAZEEE
non-controlling interests (40,381) (17,433)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests EIEERIER KRS - -
Cash generated (used in) from operating activities K& EEPRE (PR R (1,201) 85
Cash generated from investing activities KRERHMERE - 339
Cash generated from (used in) financing activities REEEITE (FTA) RE 1,202 (65)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMEEXEE) 2 & (5) 72
Net cash (outflows) inflows RWE ORd) MAERE (4) 431
As at 31 March W=A=+—H
Current assets MENEE 826,980 944,054
Non-current assets ERBEE 190,305 228,653
Current liabilities pIEIR=NE (1,306,317) (1,327,135)
Non-current liabilities JERBAE - =
Net liabilities ==L (289,032) (154,428)
Accumulated non-controlling interests RETIEIEHIER (86,709) (46,328)
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 40. XEBFFERBATIZEFE @

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)) HEEEKRIEIZFIESZZIEREHREL

controlling interests (Continued) asEE (@
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited: ERBMRENABERAAF .
2025 2024
“ETRE —ETpYE
HK’000 HK'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue A = 50,525
Loss for the year FERNEE (4,450) (196,855)
Total comprehensive expense 2HEMAZAELE (5,058) (193,910)
Total comprehensive expense allocated to DEEIEEFER 2T
non-controlling interests (1,517) (58,173)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BENIEERIER KRS - -
Cash (used in) generated from operating activities SEH) (FTE) FrisES (3,407) 49
Cash used in investing activities KEEHMARE (69,831) (19)
Cash generated from financing activities MEEIAERE - 86
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXREE 2 & - 10
Net cash (outflows) inflows RE Ot WA FRE (73,238) 126
As at 31 March W=B=+—8
Current assets RENE E 43,405 87,733
Non-current assets ERBEE 103,752 139,422
Current liabilities V=N (22,961) (6,329)
Non-current liabilities EREERE = (21,572)
Net assets BEFE 124,196 199,254
Accumulated non-controlling interests R IR T 37,259 59,776
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ARE TS ERRMIEE

31 March2025 —E_HF=H=+—H

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 40. XEBFFEMRBATIZEFE @

(Continued)
(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- () HEAEEKEIZFHIESZZIERZEHREL
controlling interests (Continued) asEE (@
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited: AtEE (FB) BRAF -
2025 2024
ZEZRE —ZT U4
HK’000 HK'000
FHET FET
For the year ended 31 March BE-A=+—HLEE
Revenue WA 106,862 131,430
(Loss) profit for the year FR (B518) w7 (237,095) 20,940
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2/ X)) WAL (237,095) 20,940
Total comprehensive (loss) income allocated to PDEEIEEFERZ2E
non-controlling interests (#518) W A 4858 (116,177) 10,261
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BEIEERIER KRS - -
Cash (used in) generated from operating activities &EEE) (FrA) Fri8iR$ (15,541) 71,967
Cash generated from (used in) investing activities KWEEESNE P RE 29,602 (60,246)
Cash (used in) generated from financing activities MBI FTE) FrfIRE (31,281) 6
Net cash (outflows) inflows W& () mAFEE (17,220) 11,727
As at 31 March W=B=+—8
Current assets RENEE 15,859 121,365
Non-current assets ERMEE 34,941 193,830
Current liabilities VIEIR=N (223,486) (250,786)
Non-current liabilities EREEE = =
Net assets BEEFE (172,686) 64,409
Accumulated non-controlling interests RETIEEFIRR (84,621) 31,556
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS ERERMIGE

31March2025 —E_HFE=H=+—H

41. MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts, no contracts of significance to which

the Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company or

an entity connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.

42. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of approximately HK$5,063,000 (2024: Nil).

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

44, APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board on 27
June 2025.

1. EFNRZ ZHAGHPFZEKX
fEx

BREFZRBEQN RYBFEERIFR B

BEANGDNB AR ERUBERITNINERS

K TIEAANRESNAEETAREZERER

HEENETEEEARTNERGH

2. FEFRERS
REE_S_AE=R=+—RHILEE &&
EEEEREESERBEEBNIERSFEY
5,063,000/ 7T (ZZ U4 : ) o

43. JREHHAEREIE
BFEHEREEAFRAP wEEAIAES
IHo

44, HEMFEIRRE
ZUBRERON _E_AFB_+tHEES
SHLE R IR
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Five Years Financial Summary

R FRIBHIE

RESULTS E$ 7
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-HRE ERINFE ITI=fF IBZIF ITT-F
(Re-presented) (Re-presented) (Re-presented)
Geg=zel)) (fRE5) Geg==pl))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA
- Continuing operations —FEREER 186,195 173,689 825,538 292,379 75,850
- Discontinued operations —ERILEEET = 50,525 40,165 12,037 9,671
186,195 224,214 865,703 304,416 85,521
Loss for the year attributable to FEME AR 1E
Owners of the Company RABEB A (228,747 (59,668) (72,716) (119,137) (132,284)
Non-controlling interests FEEH S (158,604) (65,472) (9,372) (26,034) (7,766)
(387,351) (125,140) (82,088) (145,171) (140,050)
= ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EoRE ZZ2INg 2= T ZEZT-fH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET FHERT
Total assets BEE 1,545,770 1,966,165 2,378,267 3,159,851 3,363,492
Total liabilities BEEHE 1,376,375 1,389,609 (1,755,839) (2,439,782) (2,521,991)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 169,395 576,556 622,428 720,069 841,501
Equity attributable to owners KNAB)HEB AFELL
of the Company i 302,978 530,853 589,648 673,461 774,334
Non-controlling interests JEPESIE RS (133,583) 45,703 32,780 46,608 67,167
TOTAL EQUITY MBrEm 169,395 576,556 622,428 720,069 841,501
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